Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 1 of 183

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT

WILLIAM MCGREEVY, ASHWIN GOWDA,
TRANSLUNAR CRYPTO, LP, CHRISTOPHER
BUTTENHAM, REMO MARIA MORONE,
DOMINIC MACRI, LARRY WIENER, DEREK
WILSON, DANIEL AMELI, and LEE
JACOBSON, Individually and on Behalf of All
Others Similarly Situated,

Plaintiffs,
V.
DIGITAL CURRENCY GROUP, INC.,
BARRY SILBERT, MICHAEL KRAINES,

MARK MURPHY, SOICHIRO “MICHAEL”
MORO, and DERAR ISLIM,

Defendants.

Case No.: 3:23-cv-00082-SRU

CLASS ACTION

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

THIRD AMENDED COMPLAINT

SILVER GOLUB & TEITELL LLP
Ian W. Sloss ct31244

Steven L. Bloch ct31246
Johnathan Seredynski ct30412
Krystyna Gancoss ct31660

One Landmark Square, Floor 15
Stamford, Connecticut 06901
Telephone: (203) 325-4491
isloss@sgtlaw.com
sbloch@sgtlaw.com
jseredynski@sgtlaw.com
kgancoss@sgtlaw.com

Lead Counsel for Lead Plaintiffs Christopher
Buttenham, Ashwin Gowda, William McGreevy,
Translunar Crypto LP, the Additional Named
Plaintiffs and the Proposed Class

KAPLAN FOX & KILSHEIMER LLP
Donald R. Hall (CT Bar No. 416065)
Jeffrey P. Campisi (admitted pro hac vice)
Jason A. Uris (pro hac vice forthcoming)
800 Third Avenue, 38th Floor

New York, New York 10022

Telephone: (212) 687-1980
dhall@kaplanfox.com
jcampisi@kaplanfox.com
juris@kaplanfox.com

Lead Counsel for Lead Plaintiff Remo Maria
Morone, the Additional Named Plaintiffs and
the Proposed Class

Dated: August 12, 2024



IIL.

I1I.

IV.

VL

VIIL

VIIIL.

IX.

Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 2 of 183

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Page(s)
NATURE OF THE CLAIMS. ...ttt sttt 1
OVERVIEW OF THE SECURITIES ACT CLAIMS.....cccooiiiieiiieeeeeeeee e 9
OVERVIEW OF THE EXCHANGE ACT CLAIMS. ....oooiieeeieeeeeeeeeee e 10
OVERVIEW OF THE COMMON LAW FRAUD AND CONSUMER
PROTECTION CLAIMS ..ottt ettt te ettt s sse e ssaesseenseeneensaensesnnens 20
PARTIES. ..ottt ettt et sttt et et e bt e e s st e bt et e eneenbeensesneens 20
A. PLAINTIFFES. ..ottt ettt ettt e esaesaeeseenaens 20
B. DEFENDANTS. ..ottt sttt sttt et s seeneens 24
JURISDICTION AND VENUE. .....oooiiiiiieiteieetee ettt 26
THE DCG CONGLOMERATE. .....ooiiiiiiiiieeeeee ettt 27
A. DIGITAL CURRENCY GROURP. ......ooiieiieieiieiectetee et 27
B. GRAYSCALE INVESTMENTS. ...ttt 29
C. GENESIS GLOBAL TRADING, INC. & GENESIS GLOBAL
CAPITAL, LLC. .ottt ettt et 30
GEMINI TRUST COMPANY, LLC....ooiiieiieeeeeeeeee et 34
GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL’S YIELD SECURITIES.......cccoootiiiiieiniereeeeieeeene 35
THE GENESIS YIELD SECURITIES ARE A “SECURITY” UNDER THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS ...ttt st 41
A. THE GENESIS YIELD SECURITIES ARE NOTES UNDER REVES. ............. 47
1. Motivations of Genesis Yield Securities Investors. ..........cccceveeveereennennee. 48
il. Distribution Plan of Genesis Yield Securities. .........cccceeeeveeecieeecreeennneen. 53
11l. Expectations of the Investing Public...........cccoovveviiiiiiiinciiiiiiieeeeeee, 57
v. No Risk Reducing Factors EXist. .......ccccvveviieiiiiiiiiieciee e 58
B. THE GENESIS YIELD INVESTMENT AGREEMENTS ARE
INVESTMENT CONTRACTS UNDER HOWEY .......ccooiiiiiieieieieeeeeeane 59



XI.

XI1I.

Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 3 of 183

C. STATE AND FEDERAL REGULATORS HAVE CONCLUDED
IDENTICAL INVESTMENT PRODUCTS ARE “SECURITIES” AS
DEFINED BY STATE AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS........cccoooveiinnn. 64
SECURITIES ACT CLAIMS. ...ttt sttt 67
EXCHANGE ACT CLAIMS. ..ottt et ae e saaeseenne s 71
A. DEFENDANTS DISREGARD GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT PRACTICES. ..ottt 71
1. Genesis Global Capital Misrepresented its Risk Management
Practices to Counterparties and Gemini Earn Investors’ Agent. .............. 74
a. Genesis Was Overly Concentrated in Risky
Counterparty 3AC.....c.c.ooiiriiieeeeeee e 74
b. Genesis Was Overly Concentrated in Related Parties................... 75
il. 3AC and Babel Finance Default on Genesis Loans...........cccccceeeveeiiiennnnnns 77
B. DEFENDANTS’ FRAUDULENT SCHEME TO COVER-UP THE
EQUITY HOLE AT GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL. .....cceiieieeieeeieeeeeeene 78
1. 3AC Declares BankruptCy. ....cecuveevierieriieniieeiienieereesiee e esreesneeseeseneens 91
ii. Defendant Silbert Saves DCG and Himself by Draining
Liquidity from GeNeSis. .......ccueeruiieriieiiieiieeieeieeeie et eeeesveeaeesneeeees 92
C. DEFENDANTS FILLED THE EQUITY HOLE WITH A
DECEITFUL AND TRANSACTION AND CONTINUED
MISREPRESENTING GENESIS’S FINANCIAL CONDITION. ...........cco..... 94
1. The Promissory Note Did Not Change Genesis’s Financial
Condition: Genesis Remained Insolvent............ccccoooiviieniiieiinniiiniens 97
a. Defendants DCG Fails to Repay Hundreds of Millions
of Dollars Owed to Genesis Global Capital, Worsening
Genesis Global Capital’s Financial Condition.............c..cceeueu..n. 109
b. Defendants Misrepresented Genesis Global Capital’s
Financial POSItION.......c.ccoiiiiiiiiiiiieienecceccee e 111
D. DEFENDANTS AND GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL CONCEALED
INFORMATION THAT WOULD HAVE REVEALED THEIR
DECEIT . .ottt ettt et a e et esae et e enaeeneeaeeneeeneenee 115
E. DEFENDANT SILBERT PERSONALLY INTERVENED TO KEEP

INVESTORS FROM WITHDRAWING INVESTMENTS. ..o, 118

1



Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 4 of 183

F. THE TRUTH BEGINS TO BE REVEALED: GENESIS GLOBAL
CAPITAL SUSPENDS REDEMPTIONS CAUSING INVESTOR
LOSSES AND MISREPRESENTS THE REASON. ......cccccoviiniiiiiniiiicneee 122
G. RELIANCE FOR EXCHANGE ACT CLAIMS. ......cooiiiiiiinieiieieeieeeieee 123
XIII. CONSUMER PROTECTION AND COMMON LAW FRAUD CLAIMS................... 126
A. CONSUMER PROTECTION CLAIMS. .....oooiiiiiiiiiiiiieteieeeeieeieeeeee 127
B. COMMON LAW FRAUD. ..ottt 130
CLASS ALLEGATIONS ...ttt sttt sttt st 131
CLAIMS FOR RELIEF ..ottt sttt sttt st et 136
FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF .....cccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiciteeee ettt 136

CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE SECURITIES
ACT SECTION 5, SECTION 12(a)(1) AND SECTION 15 OF THE SECURITIES

ACT (Against All Defendants) ..........oceeiiieiieiiieie et 136
1. Defendant DCG Controlled Genesis. .......cc.eeveruierierierienieeienienieeie st 139
2. Defendant Silbert Controlled Genesis ..........cocoueereeriieiiieniieenienieeieeie e 141
3. Defendant Moro Controlled Genesis ..........cccueveeruerienieneeiienienieeieseeeeeee e 144
4, Defendant Islim Controlled GEnesis..........cceerieriiieniieiiieiieeiee e 145
5. Defendant Murphy Controlled GEnesis .........cccueeeveeriiieniieniieniieeieeieeie e 147
6. Defendant Kraines Controlled Genesis............ceevueeriieniieniieenienieeiesieeiee e 148
SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF ......ooiiiiiiiiiiiieiee ettt 150
FOR VIOLATION OF SECTION 10(B) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT AND RULE
10B-5 (Against All Defendants) ...........ccccoecuieriieiiiiiiieieecie ettt ens 150
L. Violations of Rule 10b-5(b) of the Exchange Act by Genesis Global

O o) 1 : | H USSR 151

Violations of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) of the Exchange Act by Genesis
Global Capital and Defendants .............ccceocveeviieiieniiiniieiecieeee e 152

111



Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 5 of 183

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF ......oiiiiiiiiiiieece ettt

CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY UNDER SECTION 20(a) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT FOR VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 10(b) OF THE
EXCHANGE ACT (Against All Defendants) ..........cccovveeeieenieeiiieniienieeeecie e

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF ....cociiiiiiiiiiiiiteeetee ettt

VIOLATION OF THE CALIFORNIA UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW Cal. Bus.
& Prof. Code §§ 17200, et seq., (On behalf of Plaintiff Larry Wiener and the
California Subclass Against All Defendants) ..........cccoceeviieciieniieiiinieeieeeeee e

FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF .....cciiiiiiiiiiiee ettt

FLORIDA DECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT Fla. Stat. §§
501.201, et seq., (On behalf of Plaintiff Daniel Ameli and the Florida Subclass
Against All Defendants) ..........cccveeuieiiiiiiieieeie ettt ettt e sae b aeetaeenaeens

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF ..ottt

ILLINOIS UNIFORM DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT 815 I1l. Comp.
Stat. §§ 510/2, et seq., (On behalf of Plaintiffs Derek Wilson and Lee Jacobson,
and the Illinois Subclass Against All Defendants) ...........ccoecveviieiiienieeciieniecceeeee e

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF .....cccoiiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeeeeee et

FOR DECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF THE NEW
YORK UNIFORM DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT, N.Y. GEN. BUS.

LAW. § 349, et seq., (On behalf of Plaintiff Macri and the New York Subclass

Against All Defendants) .........cooiiiiiiiiiiiiee e

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF .....cccoooiiiiiiiiiiiiieitctene ittt

FOR TEXAS DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES—CONSUMER

PROTECTION ACT Texas Bus. & Com. Code §§ 17.41, et seq., (On behalf of
Plaintiffs Ashwin Gowda and Translunar and the Texas Subclass Against All

DS 3T 1 1) PSSP

NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF ..ottt

VIOLATIONS OF THE KANSAS CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT, KAN.
STAT. ANN. § 50-623, et seq., (On behalf of McGreevy and the Kansas Subclass
Against All Defendants) ............ooeeiiiiiniiiiiieeee e

v



Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 6 of 183

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF .....ocoiiiiiiiiiiieccteeeee ettt 170

VIOLATION OF THE NEVADA DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT,
NEV. REV. STAT. § 598.0903, et seq., (On Behalf of Plaintiff Buttenham and

Nevada Subclass Against All Defendants) ...........occeeeveeeiienieeiiieniecieee e 170
ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF .......oooiiiiiiiiiee ettt 172
COMMON LAW FRAUD (Against All Defendants) ..........cccccceevveenieeciienieeieeieeie e 172
PRAYER FOR RELIEF ..ottt ettt e ettt e e tva e e et a e e e nae e e e ensaaeaeeennnes 173



Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 7 of 183

Lead Plaintiffs William McGreevy, Ashwin Gowda, Translunar Crypto LP, Christopher
Buttenham, and Remo Maria Morone (“Lead Plaintiffs), and additional plaintiffs Daniel Ameli,
Lee Jacobson, Dominic Macri, Larry Wiener and Derek Wilson (collectively with Lead Plaintiffs,
“Plaintiffs”), individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated, allege the following against
Defendants (defined below) based upon the investigation of Plaintiffs’ counsel and information
and belief, except as to allegations specifically pertaining to Plaintiffs, which are based on personal
knowledge. The investigation of counsel included, among other things, a review of publicly
available information concerning Defendants, including information based on the pleading and
filings in In re: Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, et al., Case No. 23-10063 (SHL) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.),
SEC v. Genesis Global Capital, LLC., et al., No. 23-cv-00287 (S.D.N.Y.); Picha et al. v. Gemini
Trust Company, LLC, et al., No. 22-cv-10922-NRB (S.D.N.Y.); Gemini Trust Company, LLC v.
Digital Currency Group, Inc. and Barry Silbert, 23-CV-6864-LJL (S.D.N.Y.); The People of the
State of New York v. Genesis Global Capital, LLC, et al., Index No. 452784/2023 (Sup. Ct. N.Y.)
(filed Oct. 19, 2023) (“NYAG Action”); and U.S. v. Samuel Bankman-Fried, 22cr673 (LAK)
(S.D.N.Y.). Plaintiffs believe substantial evidentiary support will exist for the allegations set forth
herein after a reasonable opportunity for discovery.

I. NATURE OF THE CLAIMS.

1. This class action (the “Action”) is brought under Sections 12 and 15 of the
Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 771 and 770, Sections 10(b) and 20(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§78j(b), and 78t(a), the
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission
(“SEC”), including Rule 10b-5, 17 C.F.R. §240.10b-5, and, alternatively, the New York Uniform
Deceptive Trade Practices Act, GEN. Bus. LAW § 349, et seq., Illinois, Uniform Deceptive Trade

Practices Act, 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. §§ 510/2, et seq., Florida, Deceptive and Unfair Practices Act,
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FLA. STAT. §§ 501.201, ef seq., Kansas, KAN. STAT. ANN. § 50-634, Nevada, NEV. REV. STAT. §
598.0903, et seq., TEX. BuS. & CoM. CODE §§ 17.41, et seq., CAL. BUS. & PROF. CODE §§ 17200,
et seq., and common law.

2. Plaintiffs bring claims on behalf of all persons who purchased Genesis Yield
securities (as defined in herein) offered and sold by non-party Genesis Global Capital, LLC
(“Genesis Global Capital,” “GGC” or the “Company’’) during the period February 2, 2021 through
November 16, 2022 (the “Class Period”) who were damaged thereby (the “Class”).

3 Before and during the Class Period, Genesis Global Capital purported to be a part
of a “full-service digital currency prime brokerage providing a single point of access for select
qualified individuals and global institutional investors” and provided “a full suite of services global
investors require to manage their digital asset portfolios.”

-+ Genesis Global Capital’s role in the “full-service digital currency prime brokerage”
was raising capital for the greater conglomerate of companies operated by Defendants Digital
Currency Group, Inc. (“DCG”) and Barry Silbert (“Silbert”), by offering and selling Genesis
Global Capital’s Genesis Yield securities (as defined herein) to individuals and entities to be
pooled and invested by Genesis Global Capital and DCG. Members of the Class invested in
Genesis Yield securities offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital by entering into standard form
agreements and then tendering digital assets or cash to Genesis Global Capital pursuant to either
executed term sheets (for direct investors) or the terms presented to them via the Gemini Earn
platform (for Gemini Earn investors). In exchange for their purchase of the Genesis Yield
securities, members of the Class received interest payments and the promise of the eventual return
of their digital assets on demand (the “Genesis Yield Investment Agreements” or “Genesis Yield

securities™).
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& Genesis Global Capital pooled investors’ digital assets it received pursuant to the
Genesis Yield Investment Agreements and invested the digital assets pursuant to certain strategies
designed to generate revenue for Genesis Global Capital and its affiliates, and to pay Genesis
Global Capital’s investors interest.

6. Defendant DCG is the parent entity of a conglomerate of subsidiaries that operate
and invest in the digital currency, or crypto, market, including the Genesis-affiliated companies.
At all times alleged herein DCG was the 100% owner of a holding company, Genesis Global
Holdco, LLC (“GGH”), which was the 100% owner of Genesis Global Capital and the Company’s
sole managing member. GGH does not operate any business separate from Genesis Global Capital
and its other operating subsidiaries. GGH and Genesis Global Capital do not have separate boards
and the board members of GGH through GGH’s board controlled and managed the day-to-day
affairs of the Company. GGH is a sister company of Genesis Global Trading, Inc. (“GGT”), which
is 100% owned by DCG and engaged in crypto trading, derivatives, and custody services. GGH
and Genesis Global Capital had no independent board of directors until after June 30, 2022.
Instead, non-party GGT’s board of directors heard matters pertaining to Genesis Holdco and
Genesis Global Capital through at least June 30, 2022."

7. Defendant Silbert is the founder of DCG, Genesis Global Capital, and several other
DCG subsidiary companies. During the Class Period, Silbert was the controlling shareholder of
DCG (owning approximately 40%), chairman of DCG’s three-person board of directors, and

DCG’s Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”).

INYAG Compl. (filed Oct. 19, 2023), 26.
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£ Defendants DCG and Silbert closely managed and controlled the Company and its
affiliates through interlocking directors and officers. Defendant Mark Murphy (“Murphy”) was
the Chief Operating Officer (“COQO”) of DCG during the period January 2020 through November
2022, and has been President of DCG since October 2022, and is a member of the board of directors
of GGH which managed and controlled the Company. Defendant Michael Kraines (“Kraines”)
was the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of DCG from in or around September 2021 through April
2023, and is a member of the board of directors of GGH which managed and controlled the
Company.

9. Defendant Soichiro “Michael” Moro (“Moro”) was the CEO of Genesis Global
Capital and GGT since the start of the Class Period through August 17, 2022 when he “stepped
down” as CEO, and was a member of the board of GGT. Defendant Derar Islim (“Islim”) has
served as the COO of Genesis Global Capital and GGT since the start of the Class Period. On or
around August 17, 2022, Defendants DCG and Murphy hand-picked Defendant Islim to serve as
interim CEO of Genesis Global Capital and GGT, and during the Class Period he was a member
of the board of directors of GGH, which was the sole managing member of Genesis. Matthew
Ballensweig (“Ballensweig’) was the managing director and co-head of sales and trading of GGT
before the Class Period through September 28, 2022.

1§ Defendants DCG, Silbert, Murphy, Kraines, Moro and Islim are referred to
collectively as the “Defendants.”

1L The complaint in the NYAG Action alleges that “Genesis Capital and Genesis Asia
Pacific shared a single loan book managed by the Genesis Entities’ Co-Head of Trading and
Lending (“Managing Director No. 1) from New York.” On information and belief, Managing

Director No. 1 alleged in the NYAG complaint is Ballensweig. According to a sworn declaration
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filed by Defendant Islim in the Genesis Bankruptcy Action (defined below), dated August 31,
2023, Ballensweig was “Managing Director, Co-Head Trading & Lending and the primary
manager of Genesis’s lending relationship with 3AC [Three Arrows Capital].”

12, The Genesis Entities operated as a single entity during the Relevant Period. They
shared officers, capital, offices, IT infrastructure, and back-office functions.? Genesis Capital and
GGT, the broker-dealer entity, each had their own balance sheet, however, corporate formalities
and separateness were regularly disregarded or ignored. For example, investors who purchased
Genesis Yield securities from Genesis Global Capital logged on to their accounts through GGT’s
platform, employees of GGT whose Internal Revenue Service W-2 forms reported GGT as their
employer performed services for Genesis Global Capital, and information concerning Genesis
Global Capital was disseminated through the twitter account of GGT.

13.  During the Relevant Period, Defendants controlled the Genesis Entities’ key hiring
decisions, business strategy, and budget. DCG and the Genesis Entities also shared IT
infrastructure and DCG had direct access to the Genesis Entities’ books and records. Members of
DCG’s management team served as directors of Genesis Trading and Genesis Holdco, and sat on
the Genesis Entities’ Organizational Risk Committee, which managed risks arising from the
Genesis Entities’ lending business.>

14, On November 16, 2022, Genesis Global Capital experienced a slew of withdrawal
requests from investors, and because Genesis Global Capital did not have the assets to honor
redemption requests from investors, the Company unilaterally stopped honoring redemption

requests from investors, meaning no investor could obtain their digital assets from Genesis Global

21d., 925.
3 1d., 37
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Capital and interest payments were suspended. At the time the Company stopped honoring
redemption requests from investors, the Company had offered or sold billions of dollars in
securities to investors.

1% On January 19, 2023, the Company and certain of its affiliates filed voluntary
petitions for relief under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. §§ 101—1532
in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York and the chapter 11
overview of cases are being jointly administered under the lead case In re: Genesis Global Holdco,
LLC, et al., Case No. 23-10063 (SHL) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.) (the “Genesis Bankruptcy Action”).
Under Section 362(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, the Company’s filing of its voluntary petition gave
rise to a stay of claims alleged against it in the Action. But for their bankruptcy, Genesis Global
Capital and GGH would have been named as defendants in the Action for their wrongful conduct
alleged herein.* The results of bankruptcy for Class Members are now largely known.

14 First, in or around May and June 2024, through the Genesis Bankruptcy Action,
Genesis Global Capital returned assets to investors who invested with Genesis Global Capital
through the Gemini Earn platform through in-kind distributions; however, none of the at least tens
of millions of dollars in interest due to Gemini Earn investors has been paid on the assets for the
period from the end of the Class Period through the dates on which Genesis Global Capital returned
the assets to Gemini Earn investors.

17, Next, on August 2, 2024, Genesis Global Capital announced the completion of its
restructuring:

NEW YORK--(BUSINESS WIRE)--Genesis Global Holdco, LLC (“GGH”),

Genesis Global Capital, LLC (“GGC”) and Genesis Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd. (“GAP”,
together with GGH and GGC, “Genesis” or the “Company”) today announced the

4 See https:/restructuring.ra.kroll.com/genesis/ (last visited July 19, 2024).
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completion of its restructuring on August 2, 2024 (the “Effective Date™).

Genesis has commenced making approximately $4 billion in distributions of digital
assets and US dollars to creditors pursuant to the chapter 11 plan (the “Plan”).
Unlike many bankruptcy cases, the Plan does not seek to cap recoveries at petition
date value. As part of the initial distribution, creditors will receive on average 64%
recoveries on an in-kind, coin by coin, basis as described below:

. On the Effective Date, BTC creditors will receive 51.28% recoveries as
valued on an in-kind basis in the form of BTC, and ETH creditors will receive
65.87% recoveries as valued on an in-kind basis in the form of ETH.

. As soon as practicable after the Effective Date, altcoin creditors (other than
Solana) will receive on average 87.65% recoveries as valued on an in-kind basis,

and Solana creditors will receive 29.58% recoveries as valued on an in-kind basis.

. On the Effective Date, US dollar and stablecoin creditors will receive 100%
recoveries on an in-kind basis in the form of US dollars.

. Creditors will be entitled to additional recoveries following the initial
distribution, depending on the results of ongoing claims reconciliation, contractual
rights against third parties, and litigation.

18, As the fractional percentages make clear, these distributions did not come close to
fully compensating Plaintiffs and class members who invested directly with Genesis. For example:
a) Plaintiff Translunar executed transactions investing 180 BTC and 1,400
ETH directly with Genesis, but on Aug 2, 2022, received distributions from
the Genesis bankruptcy estate of only 92.30 BTC and 922.18 ETH. Plaintiff
Translunar is thus still owed digital assets (made up of both investment
principal and interest due) worth approximately $7,109,736.56.

b) Plaintiff Ameli executed a transaction investing 50 BTC directly with
Genesis, but on Aug. 2, 2024 received distributions from the Genesis
bankruptcy estate of only 25.64 BTC. Plaintiff Ameli is thus still owed
digital assets (made up of both investment principal and interest due) worth

approximately $1,561,039.56; and
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c) Plaintiff Morone invested 999.92422541ETH, 99.20280623 BTC, and
144.50378282 BTC directly with Genesis, but on Aug. 2, 2024 received
distributions from the Genesis bankruptcy estate of only 124 BTC and 658
ETH, leaving Plaintiff Morone owed digital assets (made up of both
investment principal and interest due) worth approximately $9,123,202.01.

12 The Genesis bankruptcy estate has now distributed substantially all its assets and
investors who loaned assets directly to Genesis such as Plaintiffs Translunar, Morone, and Ameli
and have received nothing close to the full value of the digital assets they are owed. In fact,
preliminary calculations show that post-distribution, Plaintiffs and class members who invested
directly with Genesis Global Capital such as Translunar, Morone, and Ameli are still collectively
owed digital assets worth over one billion dollars.

2B, DCG’s past representations suggesting that harm Plaintiffs and class members’
have suffered is “temporary” and that their alleged damages were “speculative” because Plaintiffs
“may recover the entire value of [their] assets” (ECF No. 149 at 11) thus ring hollow.

21, As aresult of the violations of the federal securities laws, and state law and common
law alleged herein, Plaintiffs and members of the Class have been damaged by Defendants’
wrongful conduct.

ZZ. Class members who invested assets with Genesis Global Capital through the
Gemini Earn platform seek damages for unpaid interest for the period from the end of the Class
Period through the dates on which Genesis Global Capital returned assets to Gemini Earn
investors.

23. Genesis Global Capital returned some but not all assets invested directly to it by

members of the Class and no interest has been paid since the end of the Class Period. Class
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members who directly invested with Genesis Global Capital have been damaged and seek the
recovery of any assets invested with Genesis Global Capital that have not been returned with
interest thereon.

II. OVERVIEW OF THE SECURITIES ACT CLAIMS.

24, The Securities Act claims are contained in Section XI of this complaint. The
Securities Act claims expressly do not make any allegations of fraud or scienter and do not
incorporate any of the allegations of scienter and fraud.

2%, During the Class Period, Genesis Global Capital offered and sold securities
(Genesis Yield) to Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class whereby they
tendered consideration (the investment principal) to Genesis Global Capital in exchange for
Genesis Global Capital’s promise to pay back the investment principal in-kind, together with
accrued interest, on demand.

2% Genesis Global Capital did not register the offer or sale of the Genesis Yield
securities with the SEC and there was no registration statement in effect as to the Genesis Yield
securities as required under Section 5 of the Securities Act. Because no applicable exemption from
registration applied, Genesis Global Capital’s failure to register the Genesis Yield securities
violated Section 5 of the Securities Act.

27,

Because Genesis Global Capital offered or sold securities to members of the Class
in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act, Genesis Global Capital violated Section 12(a)(1) of
the Securities Act and Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class are entitled to
recover the consideration paid (digital assets or cash) for Genesis Yield securities with interest

thereon, less the amount of any income received thereon, upon the tender of such security, or for

damages if the securities are no longer owned.
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28.  As a result of Genesis Global Capital’s violations of the Securities Act, Lead
Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class have suffered damages and seek the recovery
of digital assets that have not been returned with interest thereon.

22, Under the Securities Act, the Company is strictly liable for its violations of Section
12(a)(1). But for Genesis Global Capital’s bankruptcy, it would have been named as a defendant
for violating Sections 5 and 12(a)(1) of the Securities Act.

20, Under Section 15 of the Securities Act, the following Defendants were controlling
persons of Genesis Global Capital during the Class Period through stock ownership, agency, or
otherwise, or who, pursuant to or in connection with an agreement or understanding with one or
more other persons by or through stock ownership, agency, or otherwise, controlled Genesis
Global Capital: a) Defendant DCG as 100% owner of Genesis Global Capital through GGH; b)
Defendant Silbert, founder of DCG and controlling shareholder of DCG (40% share ownership)
and chair of the DCG board of directors and its CEO; c¢) Defendant Kraines, the former CFO of
DCG and a member of the board of GGH, which was the sole managing member of the Company;
d) Defendant Murphy, the COO and President of DCG and a member of the board of GGH, which
was the sole managing member of the Company; ) Defendant Moro, the former CEO of Genesis
Global Capital, and f) Defendant Islim, the COO and interim CEO of Genesis Global Capital and
member of the board of GGH, which was the sole managing member of the Company.

Z4l.  Because Defendants were controlling persons of the Company, each of them is
liable jointly and severally with and to the same extent as the Company to members of the Class
under Section 15 of the Securities Act.

III. OVERVIEW OF THE EXCHANGE ACT CLAIMS.

32. The Exchange Act claims are brought under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act,

and SEC Rule 10b-5, codified at 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5, and under Section 20(a) of the Exchange
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Act against Defendants. But for Genesis Global Capital’s and GGH’s bankruptcy, they would
have been named as defendants for violating Section 10(b) or Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.

2%, Under Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 “it shall be unlawful for
any person . . . (a) [tJo employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud, (b) [t]o make any untrue
statement of a material fact or to omit to state a material fact . . . or (c) to engage in any act,
practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any
person, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security.”

34.  During the Class Period, as alleged below, in violation of Section 10(b) and Rule
10b-5(b), Defendants caused Genesis Global Capital to conceal and fail to disclose that the
Company was insolvent in connection with each purchase of Genesis Yield securities during the
period starting on June 17, 2022, and Defendants employed a device, scheme or artifice to defraud,
and engaged in practices, or a course of business which operated or would operate as a fraud or
deceit upon members of the Class in violation of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c).

%% Defendants defrauded investors in at least two ways: 1) in response to a liquidity
crisis at Genesis Global Capital in June 2022 as a result of a counterparty’s bankruptcy which, in
effect, rendered Genesis Global Capital insolvent, Defendants engaged in a fraudulent scheme and
accounting fraud to hide Genesis Global Capital’s insolvency from investors (Rule 10b-5(a) and
(c) scheme liability); and 2) in connection with each investment in Genesis Yield securities,
Genesis Global Capital failed to disclose that the Company was insolvent (10b-5(b) material
omissions).

3&  During the Class Period, Defendants invested the digital assets Genesis Global
Capital received from investors in ways designed to line DCG’s and Silbert’s own pockets even

though pursuit of these strategies contravened Genesis Global Capital’s stated risk-management
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protocols, including, as discussed infra Section XII that Genesis Global Capital, was “well
protected” using “collateral, calculated exposure limits based on quantitative and qualitative due-
diligence, margin management, ongoing transparency and financial updates, and macro hedging
tools,” and responsible risk management procedures such as lending on “an ‘over-collateralized’
basis.”

7 For example, Defendants caused Genesis Global Capital to use Genesis Yield
investors’ digital assets to engage in transactions designed to benefit the DCG conglomerate.
Defendants caused Genesis Global Capital to loan digital assets to DCG itself without requiring
DCG to post sufficient collateral, knowing the loan would be used for the purchase of shares of
the Grayscale Bitcoin Trust (“GBTC”), a publicly traded security managed by DCG and Silbert’s
Grayscale Investments, LLC (“Grayscale”) subsidiary, to maximize the management fees
collectable by the DCG conglomerate. GBTC traded over the counter (“OTC”) under the symbol
“GBTC.”

%8 Defendants also caused Genesis Global Capital to contravene their own stated risk-
management practices and take on an unreasonable amount of counterparty concentration risk by
lending almost 30% of Genesis Global Capital’s total loan book to a single party, digital asset
hedge fund Three Arrows Capital (“3AC”) in undercollateralized loans. This too was designed to
benefit the DCG conglomerate by maximizing the management fees earned for managing GBTC.

2%, These self-interested acts and undercollateralized loans had disastrous results. On
June 13, 2022, 3AC defaulted on its loans from Genesis Global Capital, and on June 27, 2022,
3AC declared bankruptcy. As a result, Genesis Global Capital was left with an uncollectable $1.1
billion debt, an impairment in value which Defendants should have caused Genesis Global Capital

to recognize on its balance sheet regularly distributed to investors or their agents.
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40.  Recognition of the impairment, however, would have meant Genesis Global Capital
recognizing its own insolvency, which would have terminated all Genesis Yield Investment
Agreements and entitled investors such as members of the Class to the return of their digital assets.
It also would have meant the end of Genesis Global Capital’s business and DCG’s source of
capital.

41.  Furthermore, Defendants DCG and Silbert had motive and opportunity to commit
the fraud alleged herein. Because Defendants DCG and Silbert personally borrowed heavily from
Genesis Global Capital, the viability of DCG as an ongoing concern and Silbert’s personal fortune
were inextricably intertwined with the fate of Genesis Global Capital.

42.  As Defendant Silbert explained to DCG executives (Matt Beck, DCG Director of
Investments, and Bill Kruger, DCG Chief Operating Officer for Investments) on June 21, 2022,
days after the 3AC default:

we are all focused on making sure that the trust and confidence in Genesis remains

high because we can’t risk money leaving Genesis and depleting our liquidity[.]

[O]nce we get through this, Genesis access to low priced capital via the institutional

investor and retail channel like Gemini is going to give us a major competitive

advantage in a market where there is limited liquidity and will help power the next

stage of investing . . .

what I didn’t say, which we need to keep between us, is that even though our

liquidity is super super strong right now, the hole in Genesis equity due to the Three

Arrows exposure is something they we need to fill by 6/30 . . . this is super
confidential/sensitive stuff, so please don’t share with anybody . . . .

(Emphasis added).

43.  Instead of recognizing the impairment, Defendants DCG, Silbert, Murphy and
Kraines directed and caused Genesis Global Capital and its executives, specifically Defendant
Moro, to engage in a misleading sham transaction designed to conceal its insolvency. Defendants
DCG and Silbert caused Genesis Global Capital and Defendant Moro to “sell” the uncollectable

$1.1 billion 3AC debt to DCG in exchange for a 10-year promissory note (the “DCG Promissory
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Note”) with an interest rate of 1% per year due in 2032. The DCG Promissory Note was executed
by Defendant Silbert on behalf of DCG and by Defendant Moro on behalf of the Company.
Importantly, no cash, cash equivalents, or any assets meeting the definition of a current asset
changed hands in this transaction, which meant that Genesis Global Capital received zero
capitalization from DCG. Instead, Genesis Global Capital magically erased the bad debt from its
books and replaced it with a “good” debt.

44.  Defendants Moro and Islim caused Genesis Global Capital to misleadingly include
the $1.1 billion amount of the DCG Promissory Note on its balance sheet as a “current asset and/or
receivable,” which falsely portrayed Genesis Global Capital as solvent when, in fact, it was
insolvent.

45.  Defendants Moro and Islim did so despite the fact that the DCG Promissory Note
was objectively worth nowhere near $1.1 billion (its face value) at the time DCG, Silbert, Moro,
and Genesis Global Capital executed the DCG Promissory Note. Gemini, the appointed agent for
hundreds of thousands of Class Members, believes the DCG Promissory Note should have
immediately been discounted by approximately 70%, and on July 11, 2023, the Notice of Filing of
Exhibit to Disclosure Statement filed by Genesis Global Capital in the Genesis Bankruptcy Action
estimated the value of the DCG Promissory Note as being somewhere between only $90 million
(a 92% discount) to $323 million (a 70% discount).” Defendant Silbert has reportedly valued the
DCG Promissory Note at $200 million.

46.  As discussed in further detail below Defendants Moro, Kraines, Murphy and Islim

caused Genesis Global Capital and Ballensweig to disseminate misleading balance sheets and

5 In re: Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, et al., Case No.: 23-10063, ECF No. 488 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.).
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other documents containing misrepresentations to Genesis Yield investors and their appointed
agent intended to induce additional parties to invest in Genesis Yield securities, convince existing
Genesis Global Capital investors to reinvest in Genesis Yield securities and/or to prevent them
from requesting redemptions of their securities and return of investors digital assets.

47.  Genesis Global Capital and Defendants Moro and Islim, as the most senior officers
of Genesis Global Capital and who had control over its lending business, had a duty to disclose to
each investor that purchased Genesis Yield securities during the period July 1, 2022 through the
end of the Class Period that the Company was insolvent due to the 3AC bankruptcy in June 2022.

48.  These material omissions concerning Genesis Global Capital’s insolvency violated
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and SEC Rule 10b-5, codified at 17 CFR
240.10b-5, which prohibit defrauding or deceiving, including through failure to disclose material
facts necessary in order to make the statements, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading.

49, The omissions were material, as no reasonable investor would have invested in
Genesis Yield securities had they known of Genesis Global Capital’s undisclosed concentration of
risk and under collateralization, true financial condition, or the undisclosed details of the $1.1
billion DCG Promissory Note, i.e., that Genesis Global Capital was in effect insolvent.

%0, The facts that Genesis Global Capital withheld and concealed in connection with
each purchase of Genesis Yield securities were material and a reasonable investor would have
considered them important in making an investment decision.

51. Thus, as a result of the material omissions, Genesis Global Capital received assets
with a value of billions of dollars from Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class

that Genesis Global Capital otherwise would not have.
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52.  The truth began to be revealed on November 16, 2022 when Genesis Global Capital

experienced a slew of withdrawal requests in the wake of the collapse of digital asset trading
platform FTX with whom GGT and Genesis Global Capital engaged in substantial business. The
collapse of FTX began to reveal Genesis Global Capital’s true financial condition and that Genesis
Global Capital neither had the assets to honor redemption requests from investors nor make interest
payments. The risk that had materialized in June 2022 and that Defendants concealed through
their fraudulent scheme—that Genesis Global Capital was insolvent—began to be revealed to
investors.
33.  OnNovember 16, 2022, Genesis Global Capital unilaterally stopped paying interest
on Genesis Yield securities and stopped honoring redemption requests, meaning no investor could
obtain their digital assets from Genesis Global Capital. Even then, Genesis Global Capital
continued to conceal its true financial condition, calling the cause of its inability to honor
redemptions a result of a “liquidity and duration mismatch” when in reality it was because of
insolvency that was fraudulently concealed through the DCG Promissory Note.

4. On January 19, 2022, Genesis Global Capital, GGH and Genesis Asia Pacific filed
the Genesis Bankruptcy Action. As alleged below, under the operating agreements of Genesis
Global Capital and GGH, Defendants DCG and Silbert had the power and authority to put them
into bankruptcy.

3% DCG’s transactions involving Genesis Global Capital and GGT are reportedly
being investigated by the U.S. Department of Justice and the SEC.

S8, On August 4, 2023, Bloomberg published a story titled “Silbert’s Crypto Empire
DCG Faces NY Attorney General Probe Over Genesis Ties” that stated:

Barry Silbert’s crypto empire, Digital Currency Group, is facing another probe into
its financial dealings with subsidiary Genesis Global Capital — this time by New
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York state’s top law enforcement officer, according to two people familiar with the
investigation.

In recent months, New York Attorney General Letitia James’s office has requested
information from former executives of Genesis, a cryptocurrency lender that filed
for bankruptcy in January, said the people, who asked not to be identified because
the inquiry had not been made public. Former Genesis chief risk officer, Michael
Patchen, was questioned recently, one of the people said.

Federal prosecutors in Brooklyn and the Securities and Exchange Commission are
already conducting investigations and seeking interviews with potential witnesses
at Genesis and its parent company, DCG. Genesis suffered heavy losses last year
during the crypto market downturn, primarily after the collapse of digital-assets
hedge fund Three Arrows Capital and crypto exchange FTX. . . .

Patchen was an executive at Genesis for only three months before stepping down
in October 2022. His lawyer, Doug Jensen, declined to comment when asked on
Thursday about the testimony.

The state probe, which has not been previously reported, comes as James has sought
to position herself as a leading crypto enforcer in the US, having raised the alarm
about the industry several years ago and proposing a new state law in May to tighten
rules over cryptocurrency companies. Lawmakers haven’t taken up the proposal,
but could do so at any time.

DCG, which was once valued at $10 billion, disclosed last year that the company
received about $575 million in loans from Genesis Global Capital. In a letter to
shareholders last November, Silbert, DCG’s founder and chief executive officer,
referred to a $1.1 billion promissory note, which he said came about as the parent
company stepped in to assume liabilities from Genesis related to the implosion of
Three Arrows. . . .

One focus for regulators and prosecutors has been on the promissory note and how
it was characterized to investors, one person familiar with the investigations said. .

7. On October 19, 2023, the Attorney General for the State of New York filed claims

against Defendants DCG, Silbert, Moro, the Company and others alleging:®

6 See NYAG Action, NYSCEF Doc. No. 2.
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e Martin Act Securities Fraud (“DCG Defendants employed, or employs, or are
about to employ a device, scheme or artifice to defraud or for obtaining money or
property by means of any false pretense, representation or promise in the issuance,
exchange, purchase, sale, promotion, negotiation, advertisement, investment
advice or distribution within or from this state of securities or commodities, and
constituted fraudulent practices . . ..”),

e Martin Act Failure to Register (“Genesis Capital’s acts and practices constituted
the sale or offer for sale to or purchase or offer to purchase from the public within
or from New York, any securities issued or to be issued without filing a registration
statement.”),

e Repeated and Persistent Fraud (“DCG Defendants engaged in repeated fraudulent
acts or otherwise demonstrated persistent fraud in the carrying on, conducting or
transaction of business.”);

e Repeated and Persistent Illegality (“DCG Defendants engaged in repeated
fraudulent or illegal acts in violation of GBL §§ 352, 352-c, and 353.”);

e Repeated and Persistent Illegality and Scheme to Defraud under New York Penal
Law (“DCG Defendants engaged in repeated fraudulent or illegal acts by violating
New York Penal Law § 190.65(1)(b), Scheme to Defraud in the First Degree.”);

e Repeated and Persistent Illegality and Conspiracy in the Fifth Degree under New
York Penal Law (“DCG Defendants engaged in repeated fraudulent or illegal acts
by violating New York Penal Law § 105.05(1), Conspiracy in the Fifth Degree.”);
and

e Repeated and Persistent Illegality, Failure to Register (“Genesis Capital’s acts and
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practices constituted the sale or offer for sale to or purchase or offer to purchase
from the public within or from New York, any securities issued or to be issued
without filing a registration statement.”).

38 On February 8, 2024, the NYAG settled claims against the Company. That
settlement was later approved by the court in the Genesis Bankruptcy Action. See
https://ag.ny.gov/press-release/2024/attorney-general-james-secures-settlement-worth-2-billion-
crypto-firm-genesis (last visited July 19, 2024); Genesis Bankr. Action, ECF No. 1275. Under the
Order and Judgment on Consent, the Company is permanently restrained from conducting business
in New York, and Genesis is barred from creating the impression that the complaint is without
factual basis and denying any allegations in the complaint, which include allegations that the
“cryptocurrencies bought, sold, and stored on Gemini’s exchange and used as part of Earn,
including Gemini dollar, bitcoin, and ether, among other cryptocurrencies, constituted securities
or commodities under the Martin Act, and the pooled investment program that Gemini and Genesis
Capital referred to as ‘Gemini Earn’ constituted securities under the Martin Act.” NYAG Compl.,
9 204. The NYAG Action against Defendants DCG, Silbert and Moro continues.

S8, On February 9, 2024, the NYAG filed an amended complaint that, among other
amendments, added allegations to bring claims on behalf of investors who directly invested assets
with Genesis Global Capital. NYAG Action, NYSCEF Doc. No. 17.

&4, On March 19, 2024, the SEC settled claims against Genesis Global Capital in the
SEC Enforcement Action for $21 million.  See https://www.sec.gov/newsroom/press-
releases/2024-37 (last visited July 19, 2024). Under the final judgment, Genesis Global Capital is
“precluded from arguing that it did not violate the federal securities laws as alleged in the

Complaint . . .”. SEC Enforcement Action, ECF No. 56.
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&1, As a result of the conduct described herein, Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and
members of the Class defined below have suffered significant harm and are owed digital assets

and interest.

IV. OVERVIEW OF THE COMMON LAW FRAUD AND CONSUMER
PROTECTION CLAIMS.

2 The common law fraud and consumer protection claims are alleged by Plaintiffs in
the alternative to the Securities Act claims and Exchange Act claims in the event a determination
is made that the Genesis Yield securities do not qualify as “securities” under federal law.

&% The common law fraud and consumer protection claims are premised on the same
conduct that forms the basis of the Exchange Act claims outlined above, and elsewhere in this
Complaint.

#4.  Assuming, arguendo, Defendants’ conduct did not violate the Exchange Act
because the Genesis Yield securities are not “securities,” Defendants’ conduct nevertheless
constitutes common law fraud and additionally violates of the consumer protection laws of New
York, General Business Law § 349 et seq., (the state Plaintiff Macri has at all relevant times resided
and the state in which Defendants DCG and Silbert were domiciled and transacted business from
during the Class Period), and Illinois, Uniform Deceptive Practices Act, 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. §§
510/2, et seq., Florida, Deceptive and Unfair Practices Act, Fla. Stat. §§ 501.201, et seq., Kansas,
KAN. STAT. ANN. § 50-634, Nevada, NEV. REV. STAT. § 598.0903, et seq., Texas, Bus. &
Com. Code §§ 17.41, et seq., and Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, et seq..

V. PARTIES.
A. PLAINTIFFS.

&% William McGreevy (“McGreevy”) is a resident of Kansas. McGreevy purchased

securities offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital (Genesis Yield securities), and was damaged,
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as reflected in his certification previously filed with the Court. ECF No. 38-2. As stated in the
Genesis Yield Investment Agreement reviewed and signed by Plaintiff McGreevy, Plaintiff
McGreevy reviewed and relied upon the representations and warranties by Genesis in the Genesis
Yield Investment Agreements in determining whether to loan digital assets to Genesis, the amount
to loan, and whether to recall loans of digital assets from Genesis.

&5 Ashwin Gowda (“Gowda”) is a resident of Texas. Gowda purchased securities
offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital during the Class Period (Genesis Yield securities), and
was damaged, as reflected in his certification previously filed with the Court. ECF No. 38-3. As
stated in the Genesis Yield Investment Agreement reviewed and signed by Plaintiff Gowda,
Plaintiff Gowda reviewed and relied upon the representations and warranties by Genesis in the
Genesis Yield Investment Agreements in determining whether to loan digital assets to Genesis,
the amount to loan, and whether to recall loans of digital assets from Genesis.

&7 Translunar Crypto LP (“Translunar”) is a limited partnership organized and
existing under the laws of the State of Delaware and domiciled in the State of Texas. On September
2,2022, Translunar purchased securities offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital during the Class
Period (Genesis Yield securities) and was damaged, as reflected in its certification previously filed
with the Court. ECF No. 38-4. Plaintiff Translunar reviewed and relied upon the representations
and warranties by Genesis in the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements in determining whether to
loan digital assets to Genesis, the amount to loan, and whether to recall loans of digital assets from
Genesis.

68. Christopher Buttenham (“Buttenham”) is a resident of Nevada. Buttenham
purchased securities offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital during the Class Period (Genesis

Yield securities), and was damaged, as reflected in his certification previously filed with the Court.
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ECF No. 38-5. As stated in the Genesis Yield Investment Agreement reviewed and signed by
Plaintiff Buttenham, Plaintiff Buttenham reviewed and relied upon the representations and
warranties by Genesis in the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements in determining whether to loan
digital assets to Genesis, the amount to loan, and whether to recall loans of digital assets from
Genesis.

4, Remo Maria Morone (“Morone”) is a resident of Turin, Italy. On August 4, 2021,
June 15, 2022, and October 24, 2022, Morone purchased securities offered or sold by Genesis
Global Capital (Genesis Yield securities), and was damaged, as reflected in his certification
previously filed with the Court. ECF. No. 34-2. Morone purchased Genesis Yield securities
directly from Genesis. On August 4, 2021, Morone invested 100 BTC is an open term loan at an
annual interest rate of 1.5%. On June 15, 2022, Morone invested 44.50378282 BTC in an open
term loan at an annual interest rate of 1.5%. On October 24, 2022, Morone invested 999.92422541
ETH in an open term loan at an annual interest rate of 1.5%, and invested 99.20280623 BTC in a
fixed term loan at an annual interest rate of 6% with a maturity date of October 24, 2023. On
August 2, 2024 he received in-kind distributions through the Genesis Bankruptcy Action of
approximately 124 BTC and 658 ETH and has been damaged in the amount of approximately 120
BTC and 341 ETH plus interest.

T Daniel Ameli (“Ameli”) is a resident of Florida. He purchased securities offered
or sold by Genesis Global Capital (Genesis Yield securities), and was damaged, as reflected in his
attached certification. On August 2, 2024, he received in-kind distributions through the Genesis
Bankruptcy Action of approximately 25 BTC and has been damaged in the amount of
approximately 25 BTC. Plaintiff Ameli reviewed and relied upon the representations and

warranties by Genesis in the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements in determining whether to loan
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digital assets to Genesis, the amount to loan, and whether to recall loans of digital assets from
Genesis.

71 Derek Wilson is a resident of Indiana. During the Class Period, including when
Plaintiff Wilson first invested in the Gemini Earn program in February 2021 through at least June
2022, Plaintiff Wilson was a resident of Illinois. Plaintiff Wilson purchased securities offered or
sold by Genesis Global Capital during the Class Period (Genesis Yield securities) beginning in
February 2021 via the Gemini Earn platform and continuing throughout the Class Period, and was
damaged. Plaintiff Wilson reviewed and relied upon the representations and warranties by Genesis
in the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements in determining whether to loan digital assets to
Genesis, the amount to loan, and whether to recall loans of digital assets from Genesis.

72 Plaintiff Larry Wiener is a resident of California. He purchased securities offered
or sold by Genesis Global Capital (Genesis Yield securities) beginning prior to June 2022 via the
Gemini Earn platform and continuing throughout the Class Period. Plaintiff Wiener reviewed and
relied upon the representations and warranties by Genesis in the Genesis Yield Investment
Agreements in determining whether to loan digital assets to Genesis, the amount to loan, and
whether to recall loans of digital assets from Genesis.

73, Plaintiff Dominic Macri is a resident of New York. He purchased securities offered
or sold by Genesis Global Capital (Genesis Yield securities) beginning in February 2021 via the
Gemini Earn platform and continuing throughout the Class Period, and was damaged. Plaintiff
Macri reviewed and relied upon the representations and warranties by Genesis in the Genesis Yield
Investment Agreements in determining whether to loan digital assets to Genesis, the amount to

loan, and whether to recall loans of digital assets from Genesis.
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74,  Plaintiff Lee Jacobson is a resident of Illinois. He purchased securities offered or
sold by Genesis Global Capital (Genesis Yield securities) via the Gemini Earn platform and
continuing throughout the Class Period, and was damaged. Plaintiff Jacobson reviewed and relied
upon the representations and warranties by Genesis in the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements
in determining whether to loan digital assets to Genesis, the amount to loan, and whether to recall
loans of digital assets from Genesis.

B. DEFENDANTS.

75.  Defendant DCG is a corporation formed and existing under and pursuant to the
laws of Delaware. DCG maintains its principal place of business in Stamford, Connecticut. Prior
to moving to Stamford, Connecticut, DCG maintained its principal place of business in New York,
New York.

T Defendant Silbert is the founder and the CEO of DCG, and chair of DCG’s board
of directors. Upon information and belief, during part of the Class Period Silbert was a resident of
Connecticut and is currently a resident of Rye, New York. Silbert reportedly owns 40% of the
equity of DCG. Silbert has consistent and daily management responsibilities for DCG’s and
DCG’s subsidiaries’ operations, including the Company, GGT, and Grayscale Investments. For
example, Silbert reportedly prefers focusing on the capital allocation activities of DCG and its
subsidiaries. Silbert’s activities and responsibilities include making the decision not to register
Genesis Global Capital’s securities (notes or investment contracts) with the SEC, and engaging in
the transaction which led to the issuance of the DCG Promissory Note and execution of the DCG
Promissory Note. Silbert has repeatedly and publicly discussed his role in DCG and oversight of
its wholly-owned subsidiaries.

FZ  Defendant Moro was the CEO of Genesis Global Capital and GGT since the start

of the Class Period through August 17, 2022, with August 26, 2022 as his last day at the Company.
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78, Defendant Islim was the COO since the start of the Class Period and on August 17,
2022, he was appointed interim CEO by DCG and Murphy, and during the Class Period he was a
member of the board of directors of GGH.

7%,  Defendant Kraines was CFO of DCG from on or around September 2021 through
April 2023, and during the Class Period was a member of the board of directors of GGH, which
was the sole managing member of the Company and through which Kraines controlled and
managed the Company.

#%.  Defendant Murphy was the COO of DCG during the period January 2020 through
November 2022, and has been President of DCG since October 2022, and is a member of the board
of directors of GGH, which was the sole managing member of the Company and through which
Murphy controlled and managed the Company. As COO of DCG Murphy worked closely with
DCG’s subsidiaries, including Genesis Global Capital, on strategy, execution, marketing and all
management matters. Murphy led DCG’s legal, communications, marketing, brand and public
policy efforts and supported Defendant Silbert on day-to-day management of DCG. On August
17, 2022, Defendant Murphy, as COO of DCG and on DCG’s behalf, stated “we’re pleased to
elevate [Defendant Islim] to the interim CEO role—he has our full trust and confidence and has
been instrumental in developing key areas of the Genesis business,” indicating that DCG and
Murphy hand-picked the Company’s interim CEO.

&1, Defendants because of their positions with the DCG, GGH, Genesis Global Capital
and/or GGT, possessed the power and authority to control the sale or offering of securities by
Genesis Global Capital, and/or acted within the scope of their authority or employment. Because
of their positions and access to material non-public information available to them, but not to

investors, each of them knew, or at least recklessly disregarded, that the adverse facts specified
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herein had not been disclosed to and were being concealed from investors in Genesis Yield
Investment Agreements and that the positive representations which were being made were then
materially false and misleading.

VI. JURISDICTION AND VENUE.

#%Z.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the Action under 28 U.S.C. § 1331
because the complaint asserts claims under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act.

&% Jurisdiction of this Court is also founded upon Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15
U.S.C. § 78aa(a), which provides that federal courts have exclusive jurisdiction over violations of
the Exchange Act, including Sections 10(b) and 20(a).

%4 Venue is proper in this judicial District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) and (c)
because Defendants DCG and Silbert transact business in, are found in, and/or have agents in this
District, and because some of the actions giving rise to the Action took place in this District.

8%  The Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants. Defendants transacted
business, maintained substantial contacts throughout the United States, including in this District.
The wrongful conduct alleged in this complaint have been directed at, and have had the intended
effect of, causing injury to persons residing in, located in, or doing business throughout the United
States, including in this District.

#6  The Court also has personal jurisdiction over Defendants under the nationwide
service of process provisions of Section 22 of the Securities Act, 15 U.S.C. § 77v.

87.  This Court has supplemental jurisdiction under 28 U.S. Code § 1367 over all other
claims because they are so related to claims in the Action within such original jurisdiction that
they form part of the same case or controversy under Article III of the U.S. Constitution.

8.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the Action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

§1332(d)(2)(A), because this case is a class action where the aggregate claims of all members of
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the proposed Class exceed $5,000,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs, and the Plaintiffs and
most members of the proposed Class are citizens of a state different from Defendant.

£%.  This Court has jurisdiction over the Defendants who are domiciled in the State of
Connecticut and because the Defendants have transacted business within the State of Connecticut.

VII. THE DCG CONGLOMERATE.

A. DIGITAL CURRENCY GROUP.

9% Defendant DCG was founded by Defendant Silbert in 2015. In addition to founding
DCG, Silbert has at all times served as CEO and Chairman of the board of directors of DCG. Until
2021, Defendant Silbert was also CEO of DCG’s wholly-owned subsidiary business, Grayscale,
and served as Chairman of Grayscale’s board of directors.

1.  Defendant Silbert’s aim has been to run DCG as a private conglomerate with
divisions in every aspect of the digital asset market: “the model I use as an inspiration is Standard
Oil,” Silbert has stated, referring to the 19th-century oil conglomerate founded by John D.
Rockefeller.

&2 DCG describes itself as follows:

Founded in 2015 by CEO Barry Silbert, DCG is the most active investor in the

blockchain sector, with a mission to accelerate the development of a better financial

system through the proliferation of digital assets and blockchain technology.

Today, DCG sits at the epicenter of the industry, backing more than 175

blockchain-related companies in over 35 countries. DCG also invests directly in

digital currencies and other digital assets. In addition to its investment portfolio,

DCQG is the parent company of Genesis (a global digital asset prime brokerage),

Grayscale Investments (the largest digital currency asset manager), CoinDesk (a

leading financial media, data, and information company), Foundry (a leader in

bitcoin mining and staking) and Luno (a leading cryptocurrency platform with a

large international footprint).

3. To maintain control over Defendant DCG and its wholly-owned subsidiaries,

Defendant Silbert has eschewed conducting an initial public offering to raise capital for Defendant
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DCQG, stating “[DCG] doesn’t need to dilute its ownership to raise capital . . . [i]t is not only not in
the works, it’s not even being discussed.”’

@4,  For example, while Defendant DCG engaged in a 2021 financing round which
valued Defendant DCG at more than $10 billion, according to Defendant Silbert, this transaction
was less about raising capital and was more “an opportunity for some early investors to exit and
take profits . . . all the money raised went to the selling shareholders, and none sold their entire
stake.”

#%.  Importantly, Defendant Silbert, who then owned approximately 40% of DCG,
didn’t sell any stock in the offering.

@8 As just one example of his control of Defendant DCG and its subsidiaries
Defendant Silbert decided to move DCG and many of its subsidiary businesses, including
Grayscale, from New York, New York to Stamford, Connecticut, where Defendant Silbert then
lived.® Defendant DCG and Grayscale’s moves were completed in early 2022.

3. Defendant Silbert still owns approximately 40% of DCG and at all relevant times
controlled the day-to-day activities of DCG and its wholly-owned subsidiaries Grayscale, Genesis
Global Capital, GGH, and GGT, including the capital allocation and investment strategies
employed by these entities.

2%.  In April 2022, Forbes estimated Defendant Silbert’s net worth at $3.2 billion, up

from 2021’s estimate of $1.6 billion.

7 Paul Vigna, Digital Currency Group Wants to Be Crypto’s Standard Oil, Wall Street Journal (Nov. 1, 2021),
https://www.wsj.com/articles/digital-currency-group-wants-to-be-cryptos-standard-oil-11635764400

8 Gregory Zucherman, Vicky Ge Huang and Caitlin Ostroff, A Crypto Magnate Saw the Risks and Still Was
Hammered, Wall Street Journal (Jan. 17, 2023), https://www.wsj.com/articles/a-crypto-magnate-saw-the-risks-and-
still-was-hammered-11673979412 (“Around 2020, Mr. Silbert decided to move most of the businesses from lower
Manhattan to Stamford, Conn., where he lived.”).
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9.  Defendants DCG and Silbert closely managed and controlled its subsidiaries
through interlocking directors and officers. Defendant Murphy was the COO of DCG during the
period January 2020 through November 2022, has been President of DCG since October 2022,
and is a member of the board of directors of GGH. Defendant Kraines was CFO of DCG from in
or around September 2021 through April 2023, and is a member of the board of directors of GGH.
GGH was the sole managing member of Genesis Global Capital and through their positions on the
GGH board Kraines and Murphy controlled the Company on behalf of Defendants DCG and
Silbert.

B. GRAYSCALE INVESTMENTS.

100. Grayscale is a subsidiary of Defendant DCG and is a digital asset management
company that offers investment products that provide exposure to the price movement of various
digital currencies. Grayscale’s most popular investment product is the Grayscale Bitcoin Trust, or
“GBTC.”

101. GBTC is a publicly traded investment vehicle managed by Grayscale that provides
exposure to bitcoin’s price movements without the need to directly buy and hold the digital
currency.

102. Before and during the Class Period, GBTC was traded on OTCQX, a market for
OTC securities.

103. Before and during the Class Period, GBTC shares could be acquired in two ways:
(1) anyone with a brokerage account could buy GBTC shares in the OTC securities markets; and
(2) investors could subscribe to the underlying trust (the “Trust”).

104. Subscribing to the Trust required a minimum investment of $50,000 and was

available only to accredited investors.
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105.  Trust subscribers received GBTC shares representing the value of Bitcoin held in
the Trust equal to the amount of Bitcoin invested by the subscriber into the Trust.

106. GBTC shares issued via subscriptions were subject to a six-month lockup period
during which subscribers could not sell their shares.

107.  GBTC subscribers were free to sell their GBTC shares once the lockup period
ended.

108.  Grayscale charged a 2% annual management fee to manage GBTC, meaning that
Grayscale, DCG, and Silbert took hundreds of millions of dollars annually and had an incentive to
maximize the assets under management (“AUM?”) of Grayscale.

C. GENESIS GLOBAL TRADING, INC. & GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL,
LLC.

109. GGT was formed in 2005 and was initially operated by Defendant Silbert as the
bitcoin trading arm of Silbert’s company SecondMarket, which Silbert launched in 2004 as a
private marketplace where accredited investors could buy and sell shares of private companies.
Silbert served as CEO of SecondMarket until selling SecondMarket to Nasdaq in 2015.

110. Defendant Silbert spun GGT out of SecondMarket prior to selling SecondMarket
to Nasdaq and relaunched GGT as a standalone broker-dealer specializing in digital currencies on
April 16, 2015, over six months before Defendant Silbert announced the formation of DCG.

111. In October 2015, in conjunction with the formation of DCG, Defendant Silbert
caused GGT to become a wholly-owned subsidiary of DCG with Defendant Silbert serving as
DCG’s CEO, Chairman, and controlling shareholder, thus controlling GGT.

112, GGT operated as a New York-based non-custodial, OTC market-maker in digital

assets and brokerage, holding a virtual currency BitLicense with the New York Department of
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Financial Services (“NYDFS”), and registered as a broker-dealer with the SEC and the Financial
Industry Regulatory Authority, or FINRA.

113. In late 2017, Defendant Silbert and DCG organized Genesis Global Capital under
the laws of the State of Delaware to house the growing digital asset investment business of the
DCG conglomerate GGT had been operating for Silbert and DCG.

114. Defendants Silbert and DCG formally spun Genesis Global Capital out of GGT as
a standalone entity in April 2018, provided Genesis Global Capital with $40 million in seed
capital,” and caused GGT to reassign all existing digital asset loan agreements to Genesis Global
Capital.

115.  According to the Genesis Global Capital, LLC Amended and Restated Operating
Agreement entered into as of January 19, 2022 by Genesis Global Holdco, LLC (the “GGC
Operating Agreement”), the managing member of Genesis Global Capital, LLC is Genesis Global
Holdco, LLC, holding a 100% interest in Genesis Global Capital, LLC. The GGC Operating
Agreement was signed by Defendant Moro as CEO and Managing Member of Genesis Global
Holdco, LLC.

116.  Under the GGC Operating Agreement:

[Genesis Global Holdco, LLC] shall be the Company’s Managing Member. The

business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by [Genesis Global Holdco,

LLC]. .. [Genesis Global Holdco, LLC] shall have the exclusive power to do any

and all acts necessary or convenient to or for the furtherance of the purposes

described herein, including, without limitation, all powers, statutory or otherwise,
possessed by members under the Act. . . .

® Vikcy Ge Huang & Caitlin Ostroff, The 2018 Meeting That Kicked off a Lending Relationship Between Alameda
and Genesis, Wall Street Journal (Jan. 19, 2023), https://www.ws]j.com/livecoverage/stock-market-news-today-01-
19-2023/card/the-2018-meeting-that-kicked-off-a-lending-relationship-between-alameda-and-genesis-
7dzw1fYOFJUQgxDR12IY (“Its parent company, Digital Currency Group, gave Genesis $40 million to start the
lending business, according to people familiar with the matter.”)
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[Genesis Global Holdco, LLC] shall appoint a chief executive officer (the “CEO’’).
Each of [Genesis Global Holdco, LLC] or the CEO may hire other employees and
appoint other officers of the Company, with such titles, authority and
responsibilities as may be determined by the [Genesis Global Holdco, LLC] or the
CEO, to oversee the daily operation of the Company. Such employees and officers
shall be subject to removal by the [Genesis Global Holdco, LLC] or the CEO at any
time. [Genesis Global Holdco, LLC], the CEO and any employee or officer
authorized by [Genesis Global Holdco, LLC] or the CEQ, is authorized to execute,
deliver and file, in the name of and on behalf of the Company, any and all
documents, agreements, certificates, receipts, instruments, forms, letters, or similar
documents and to do or cause to be done any other actions as the [Genesis Global
Holdco, LLC] or the CEO, or such authorized employee or officer, may deem
necessary or desirable to further the interests of the Company, except as may be
limited by the Act or the terms of this Agreement.

(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, none of the CEO or any officer or employee
may take any of the following actions without the written consent of [Genesis
Global Holdco, LLC]: . ..

(ii1) the filing of any petition in bankruptcy by the Company; . . .
(vi) any other matter required under the Act or this Agreement.

117.  According to the Genesis Global Holdco, LLC Amended and Restated Operating
Agreement entered into as of July 19, 2022 by Defendant DCG (the “GGH Operating
Agreement”), the managing member of Genesis Global Holdco, LLC is Defendant DCG, holding
a 100% interest in Genesis Global Holdco, LLC. The GGH Operating Agreement was signed by
Defendant Silbert as CEO of Genesis Global Holdco, LLC’s parent, Defendant DCG.

118. Under the GGH Operating Agreement:

The business and affairs of the Company shall be managed by a Board of Directors
(the “Board”). The size of the Board shall be set by [Defendant DCG], but shall
consist of at least three (3) directors (each, a “Director”). Each director shall be
designated one of: a parent Director (each, a “Parent Director”), a Genesis Director
(each, a “Genesis Director”) or an independent Director (each, an “Independent
Director”). Each Director shall serve as a “manager” of the Company within the
meaning of the Act and the Board shall have overall management responsibility of
the Company.

(b) The affirmative vote or written consent given by a majority in number of the

Directors shall constitute the approval of the Board; provided, however, that the
unanimous affirmative vote or written consent of the Parent [DCG] Directors shall
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be required for the approval of the following matters (and the Company will not
take any of the following actions without such approval): . . .

(ii1) the filing of any petition in bankruptcy by the Company;

119. Defendant Moro was the CEO of Genesis Global Capital and GGT since the start
of the Class Period through August 17,2022, and CEO of Genesis Global Holdco, LL.C, and during
the Class Period he reported to Defendant Silbert.

120. Defendant Islim was the COO of Genesis Global Capital and on August 17, 2022,
Defendants DCG and Murphy appointed him interim CEO of Genesis Global Capital and GGT.
During the Class Period he was a member of the board of directors of GGH and the Company and
he reported to Defendant Silbert.

121. Defendants Kraines and Murphy were members of the board of directors of Genesis
Global Holdco, LLC that managed the business of Genesis Global Capital. Defendants Kraines
and Murphy as DCG’s representatives reported to Defendant Silbert.

122. Ballensweig was the managing director and co-head of sales and trading of GGT
before the Class Period through September 28, 2022. Ballensweig was responsible for the
origination and execution of digital asset and cash loans and reported to Defendants Moro and
Islim who oversaw and supervised the business of Genesis Global Capital.

123. Defendants DCG and Silbert controlled Genesis Global Capital through, inter alia,
DCG’s 100% ownership of Genesis Global Capital, the placement of DCG and Silbert’s
representatives and agents on the board of GGH and GGT, as well as DCG and Silbert’s ability to
hire and fire executives of Genesis Global Capital and GGT, and other authority under the

operating agreements of GGC and GGH.
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VIII. GEMINI TRUST COMPANY, LLC.

124.  Non-party Gemini Trust Company, LLC (“Gemini”) is a New York-based
cryptocurrency exchange and custodian founded in 2014 by Cameron and Tyler Winklevoss.

125. In February 2021, together with Genesis Global Capital, Gemini launched the
Gemini Earn program, which as described in greater detail herein, offered owners of digital assets
the opportunity to earn yield by investing those assets with Genesis Global Capital.

126. Each investor who invested digital assets with Genesis Global Capital via the
Gemini Earn program signed a Genesis Yield Investment Agreement signed by Genesis Global
Capital, Gemini, and the investor, with substantially identical terms to investors who invested
directly with Genesis Global Capital, with the exception being certain sections of the agreement
appointing Gemini as agent for Gemini Earn investors and outlining the purpose and scope of
Gemini’s agency.

127.  Specifically, each Genesis Yield Investment Agreement signed by Gemini Earn
investors contained the following language:

VI. Appointment of Custodian as Agent

a. Borrower and Custodian agree to execute and comply fully with the
provisions of Exhibit A (the terms and conditions of which Exhibit are
incorporated herein and made a part hereof).

b. Lender represents, which representation shall continue during the term of
this Agreement and any Loan hereunder, that it:

(1) has received and reviewed a copy of this Agreement;

(i1) has duly appointed Custodian as its agent to act on Lender’s
behalf for all purposes under this Agreement;

(ii1)) has duly authorized Custodian to enter into the Loans
contemplated by the Agreement on its behalf and to perform the
obligations of Lender under such Loans;

(iv) is a Principal referred to in Exhibit A and will be liable as

34



Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 41 of 183

principal with respect to Loans entered into by Custodian on its
behalf and its related obligations hereunder; and

(v) has taken all necessary action to authorize such appointment of
Custodian and such performance by it.

(Emphasis added).

128. Gemini was appointed as agent on behalf all Gemini Earn investors for all purposes
relating to the performance of the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements, with Gemini treated as
a principal to each agreement standing in the shoes of Gemini Earn investors for those purposes.

129. The sole limitation placed on Gemini’s agency was that Gemini was ‘“not
authorized ... to exercise discretion in determining the amount, timing or selection of any Loan on
[Gemini Earn investors’] behalf.]” But in every other respect, Gemini stood in the shoes of Gemini
Earn investors.

130. To this end and as appointed agent for Gemini Earn investors, Gemini received,
reviewed, and monitored quarterly disclosures from Genesis Global Capital regarding the
Company’s risk management practices, balance sheet status and health, and investment strategies.
Gemini relied upon Genesis Global Capital’s disclosures in determining whether to continue its
partnership with Genesis via the Gemini Earn program or whether to terminate the program and
recall all Gemini Earn investors’ digital assets.

IX. GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL’S YIELD SECURITIES.

131. Beginning at least as early as July 2020, Genesis Global Capital began offering an
investment and selling securities called “Yield Generation” (Genesis Yield securities), which
allowed “[h]olders of digital currencies [to] earn yield on their assets by lending directly to

Genesis, a regulated and trusted counterparty.”
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132.  The following is a screenshot showing Genesis Global Capital’s website on July

21, 2020, which include the Genesis and DCG logos:!°

How can Genesis help you?

Financing Offerings Yield Generation
Genesis lends digital assets like BTC and USDC Holders of digital currencies can earn yield on their
structured to meet the needs of Institutional funds and assets by lending directly to Genesls, a requlated and
market-makers. trusted counterparty.
See Also: Trading See Also: Custody
skeksk
Company Legal Compliance | |
About Terms NY DFS . DIG‘ITAI.
G i Taaii Privacy Policy FINRA CURRENCY
e I 'e s s Careers Business Continulty SEC
Press Risk Disclosures SIPC Gnoup
Contact Complaints FINCEN .
BROKERCHECK

133.  The basic terms of investment in Genesis Yield securities were simple: in exchange
for an investor tendering digital assets or cash to Genesis Global Capital and granting Genesis
Global Capital the attendant rights to use those assets or cash in Genesis Global Capital’s
investment activities, Genesis Global Capital promised to pay the investor lucrative rates of return
and promised the return of investors’ assets at maturity of the loans.

134.  Investments made directly with Genesis Global Capital could be for fixed terms
such as six-months, or could be open-term. Genesis Global Capital referred to open term

investments as having a “call option.” These “call options” on investments permitted an investor

10 https://web.archive.org/web/20200721225619/https://genesistrading.com/lending/ (visited Nov. 9, 2023).
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to demand repayment of all or a portion of an investment on any given business day, which would
trigger an obligation on behalf of Genesis Global Capital to return the investor’s capital.

135. Initially, investment in Genesis Yield securities was open to public investment as
long as an individual could meet certain investment minimums set by Genesis Global Capital.
Although the investment minimums changed over time, Genesis Global Capital did not always
adhere to these requirements. In November 2022, the minimums purportedly enforced by Genesis
Global Capital were 100 BTC, 1,000 ETH, $2 million U.S. Dollars, or $1 million of certain
alternative digital assets. During the Class Period, Genesis Global Capital did not enforce or
dropped the investment minimum for direct investors.

136. Beginning February 2, 2021, however, Genesis Global Capital dropped the
investment minimum and began offering investors a way to invest any amount of digital assets in
Genesis Yield securities via the Gemini digital asset platform.

137.  Dubbed the “Gemini Earn” program on the Gemini digital asset platform, Genesis
Global Capital began permitting any investor that held a Gemini digital asset platform account to
elect to invest their digital assets in the Genesis Yield securities.

138. To invest, Gemini digital platform users entered into the Genesis Yield Investment
Agreement with Genesis Global Capital and Gemini, and expressly appointed Gemini as their
agent for purposes of their Genesis Yield investments. The agreement was a standard agreement
and not individually negotiated with Gemini Earn investors. Genesis Yield investments made via
Gemini Earn were open term investments, meaning that investors could redeem their investment
at any time by giving notice to Genesis Global Capital.

139.  Other investors who purchased Genesis Yield securities directly from the Company

likewise entered into a standard Master Borrow Agreement which was not individually negotiated
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by direct investors. Investments made directly with the Company were fixed term or open term,
where investors could redeem their investment at any time by giving notice to the Company.

140. The accrual of interest on the Genesis Yield securities were calculated using a daily
periodic rate applied to the principal invested, and interest was paid the month after it accrued.
Interest payments were denominated in the same type of cryptocurrency or digital asset (or cash)
originally invested.

141. Each Genesis Yield investor—whether or not the investment was made via the
Gemini Earn program—entered into a Genesis Yield Investment Agreement with Genesis Global
Capital which set forth the terms of the investment, including the types of occurrences that
constituted events of default and what could cause termination of the agreement and required
parties to make certain representations and warranties regarding the parties’ financial condition
(i.e., neither party is insolvent), and more.

142. In each Genesis Yield Investment Agreement, Genesis Global Capital made the
following representations to investors:

[Genesis Global Capital] represents and warrants that it is not insolvent and is not

subject to any bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings under any applicable laws.

(the “Solvency Warranty™)

[Genesis Global Capital] represents and warrants there are no proceedings pending

or, to its knowledge, threatened, which could reasonably be anticipated to have any

adverse effect on the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the accuracy

of the representations and warranties hereunder or thereunder. (the “Adverse

Proceedings Warranty™).

143.  As detailed above, Plaintiffs reviewed and relied upon these representations and

warranties in deciding to invest in Genesis Yield securities.
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144.  Importantly, each Genesis Yield Investment Agreement executed by each Genesis
Yield investor with Genesis Global Capital stated that the Solvency Warranty and Adverse
Proceedings Warranty “shall continue” during the term of the investments meaning either:

a) the Solvency Warranty and Adverse Proceedings Warranty were deemed to

have been made to each Genesis Yield investor every day during the life of each

Genesis Yield Investment Agreement; or

b) that because of the Solvency Warranty and Adverse Proceedings Warranty

made at the time of execution of the agreement, Genesis Global Capital had an

affirmative duty to disclose or update member of the Class if either the Solvency

Warranty or Adverse Proceedings Warranty ceased to be truthful.

145. To generate the yield promised to investors, Genesis Global Capital commingled
and/or pooled Genesis Yield investor principal with those of other Genesis Yield investors; held
Genesis Yield investor’s principal in accounts in Genesis Global Capital’s name or other names;
pledged, repledged, hypothecated, rehypothecated, sold, lent, staked, arranged for staking, and
otherwise transferred Genesis Yield investors’ digital assets separately or together with other
property; and otherwise used or invested such digital assets or currency at the investor’s sole risk.

146.  Genesis Global Capital had to engage in risky investment strategies to generate
yield. As just one example, Genesis Global Capital invested billions of dollars worth of Genesis
Yield investors’ digital assets and cash with now-infamous digital asset hedge funds Alameda
Research, LLC (owned by Sam Bankman-Fried) and Three Arrows Capital (previously defined
herein as “3AC”), as well as Genesis Global Capital’s parent DCG, who themselves believed they

would earn outsized returns with those funds via their own proprietary investment strategies. At
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the height of their relationship, Genesis Global Capital provided Alameda Research with over $6.5
billion in capital via loans that were often only 50% secured and were not over collateralized.

147.  Genesis Asia Pacific lent assets to Singapore-based clients, such as cryptocurrency
hedge fund 3AC, on behalf of Genesis Global Capital. Genesis Global Capital provided virtually
all of Genesis Asia Pacific’s lending capital. Genesis Asia Pacific, in turn, repaid Genesis Global
Capital when Genesis Asia Pacific’s own borrowers repaid Genesis Asia Pacific. Genesis Global
Capital and Genesis Asia Pacific shared a single loan book managed by the Genesis Entities’ Co-
Head of Trading and Lending (“Managing Director No. 1”’) from New York.!!

148. In short, Genesis Global Capital engaged in undisclosed, unduly risky and self-
interested investment strategies with investors’ capital to earn yield. The returns earned by each
Genesis Yield investor depended on the pooling of the invested digital assets, and importantly the
ways in which Genesis Global Capital invested those assets. Ultimately, investor returns on
Genesis Yield securities were dependent on Genesis Global Capital’s managerial or
entrepreneurial or efforts and risk management in investing activities. Because Genesis Global
Capital sought to gain by reinvesting investors’ assets with counterparties, investors were
dependent on the skill, experience and risk management policies and procedures of Genesis and
its executives and employees.

149. The income Genesis Global Capital earned investing Genesis Yield investors’
assets was the only revenue-generating activity in which Genesis Global Capital engaged.

150.  Although Genesis Global Capital styled Genesis Yield investors’ investments as

“loans” to Genesis Global Capital and characterized Genesis Global Capital’s redeployment of

""'NYAG Compl., 940.
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those assets as a “borrowing and lending” business, in substance, Genesis Global Capital managed
a pooled investment vehicle and/or issued note securities used to fund its own investment business.

151. Despite the economic realities of the Genesis Yield product, however, Genesis
Global Capital made no attempt to comply with federal or state securities laws.

152.  Genesis Global Capital is not licensed, registered, or qualified, and did not
otherwise file notice with the SEC.

153.  Genesis Yield securities are not registered with the SEC or any other securities
regulatory authority, nor are they exempt from registration.

154. Genesis Global Capital failed to disclose to Genesis Yield investors that Genesis
Yield securities were not registered with federal or state securities regulatory authorities.

155. Genesis Yield investors’ principal was thus not protected by the Securities Investor
Protection Corporation (“SIPC”), insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”),
or insured by the National Credit Union Administration (“NCUA”). This lack of a protective
scheme or regulatory oversight subjected Genesis Yield investors to additional risks not borne by
investors who maintain assets with most SIPC member broker-dealers, or with banks, savings
associations, or credit unions.

X. THE GENESIS YIELD SECURITIES ARE A “SECURITY” UNDER THE
FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.

156. An analysis of the facts and circumstances surrounding the offer and sale execution
of Genesis Global Capital’s Genesis Yield securities, including the analysis set forth in a complaint

filed by the SEC,'? show that the Genesis Yield securities are: (1) “investment contracts” when the

12 SEC v. Genesis Global Capital, LLC and Gemini Trust Company, LLC, Case No. 1:23-cv-00287, ECF No. 1
(S.D.N.Y) (“SEC Enforcement Action). As noted in the SEC Enforcement Action, “digital asset” is another term for
crypto asset, id., at n.2, and thus both terms are used herein interchangeably.
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Genesis Yield Investment Agreements are coupled with investors’ deposits under the test set forth
in S.E.C. v. W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293 (1946); and (2) “notes” under Reves v. Ernst & Young,
494 U.S. 56, 64-69 (1990). SEC v. Genesis Global Capital, LLC, et al., No. 23-CV-00287 (ER),
2024 WL 1116877 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 13, 2024). Under the Securities Act, loan term sheets or the
terms presented to investors through the Gemini Earn platform under the Genesis Yield Investment
Agreements are “evidence of indebtedness” that show class members invested their assets to
Genesis Global Capital in return for a promise of interest and return of principal at maturity. 15
U.S.C. § 77b(a)(1).

157. According to the NYAG’s complaint, Genesis’s Chief Legal Officer, Arianna
Pretto-Sakmann, arrived at the same conclusion before the launch of the Gemini Earn program:
“Genesis’s Chief Legal Officer acknowledged several months before the launch of Gemini Earn
that the program ‘may be viewed as an investment contract under the securities laws.””!?

158.  The definition of a “security” under the Securities Act includes a wide range of

2 13

investment vehicles, including “investment contracts,” “notes,” “bond,” and “evidence of
indebtedness.” An “investment contract” is an investment of money in a common enterprise with
a reasonable expectation of profits derived from the entrepreneurial or managerial efforts of others.
Congress defined “security” broadly to embody a “flexible rather than a static principle, one that
is capable of adaptation to meet the countless and variable schemes devised by those who seek the
use of the money of others on the promise of profits.”!*

159.  According to the Supreme Court, the broad definition of “security” is “sufficient to

encompass virtually any instrument that might be sold as an investment,” because “Congress’

B3 NYAG Compl., q191.
14 SEC v. Genesis Global Capital., 119 (citing S.E.C. v. W.J. Howey Co., 328 U.S. 293 (1946)).
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purpose in enacting the securities laws was to regulate investments, in whatever form they are
made and by whatever name they are called.”!®

160. Courts have found that novel or unique investment vehicles constitute investment
contracts, including interests in orange groves, animal breeding programs, railroads, mobile
phones, and enterprises that exist only on the Internet, including digital assets.!®

161. Therefore, under the definition of security in the Securities Act and the tests
articulated in Reves and Howey, Genesis Yield securities offered and sold by Genesis Global
Capital are a “security” subject to the federal securities laws.

162. Perhaps the most relevant example of a common financial instrument that is
universally recognized as a security is a bond.

163. According to the SEC:

[a] bond is a debt security, like an IOU. Borrowers issue bonds to raise money from

investors willing to lend them money for a certain amount of time. When you buy

a bond, you are lending to the issuer, which may be a government, municipality, or

corporation. In return, the issuer promises to pay you a specified rate of interest

during the life of the bond and to repay the principal, also known as face value or

par value of the bond, when it ‘matures,” or comes due after a set period of time.

https://www.investor.gov/introduction-investing/investing-basics/investment-
products/bonds-or-fixed-income-products/bonds

164. Similar to the investment contracts at issue here, bonds are intended to provide a
predictable income stream. Typically, bonds pay interest on a regular schedule.

165. At maturity, bondholders get back the entire principal—as was intended with
Plaintiffs’ asset investments with Genesis Global Capital—so bonds are a way to preserve capital

while investing.

15 1d. (citing SEC v. Edwards, 540 U.S. 389, 393 (2004)).
16 14,
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166. Like a bond, a promissory note, according to the SEC:

is a form of debt — similar to a loan or an IOU — that a company may issue
to raise money. Typically, an investor agrees to loan money to the company
for a set period of time. In exchange, the company promises to pay the
investor a fixed return on his or her investment, typically principal plus
annual interest. https://www.sec.gov/investor/pubs/promise.htm

167. The transactional documents that effectuated the offer or sale of Genesis Yield
securities—the Genesis Lending Agreement and the loan terms sheets or terms presented via the
Gemini Earn platform—are instruments that evidence class members’ investment in Genesis Yield
securities in which they invested assets with Genesis Global Capital in exchange for a rate of return
in the form of interest on an unsecured basis and the promise of the return of principal at maturity.

168. Class members’ investment with Genesis Global Capital were the same as or
similar to investing in a bond or promissory notes that pays a fixed rate of return in the form of
interest payments with a return of principal at maturity.

169. Courts have found that both bonds and promissory notes are securities under the
federal securities laws. See Pollack v. Laidlaw Holdings, Inc. 27 F.3d 808, 812-13 (2d Cir. 1994)
(finding that promissory notes at issue were like bonds that offered fixed rate of return in the form
of interest and that district court erred in finding promissory note with fixed rate of return cut
against the presumption that the notes are securities); S.E.C. v. Thompson, 732 F.3d 1151, 1155
(10th Cir. 2013) (finding unsecured promissory note a security where borrower promised to repay
the principal amount after six months plus monthly interest of 3-5% depending upon whether
holder chose monthly payments or a lump sum at maturity); Stoiber v. SEC, 161 F.3d 745, 750
(D.C. Cir. 1998) (finding security where lender executed unsecured promissory note for terms of
two to five years for fixed rates of interest); McNabb v. SEC, 298 F.2d 1126, 1131 (9th Cir. 2002)

(finding loans of cash in exchange for promissory notes with fixed rates of interest were securities);
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Hunssinger v. Rockford Business Credits, Inc., 745 F.2d 484, 491 (7th Cir. 1984) (finding fixed
rate note a security and reversing district court that found note was not an investment because
plaintiff received a set rate of interest that did not depend on the success or failure or the enterprise:
“[1]f the term ‘profits’ . . . were not to encompass fixed interest payments, then a twenty-year
corporate bond issued in a public offering would not be a security . . . That result would clearly
contradict Congress’s intention to protect investors, and it would make superfluous several
terms—such as ‘bond’ and ‘note’—in the definitional sections of the securities acts.”); S.E.C. v.
Wallenbrock, 313 F.3d 532, 539 (9th Cir. 2002) (applying the Reves test to determine if fixed rate
note was a security: “the promise of a high, stable 20% interest rate likely attracted investors
looking for significant profits.”); 15 U.S.C. § 77b (defining “bond” as a security).

170.  Genesis Global Capital’s current and former officers, directors, managers and
employees have explained the economic substance of the transactions in Genesis Yield securities:
1) the investors’ assets would be utilized by Genesis Global Capital to generate revenue that would
be the source of investors’ rate of return; 2) that investors’ rates of return were dependent upon the
yield the Company could earn when it reinvested investors’ capital; 3) that when investors invested
assets with the Company, they had a reasonable expectation of profits and shared in the success of
the Company’s efforts when it reinvested investors’ capital; and 4) based on its expertise the
Company would invest assets on investors’ behalf and for their benefit, earn yield on behalf of
both itself and investors, and investors would share in the success of the Company’s efforts in
generating yield because they would receive a portion of the yield generated by the Company in
the form interest payments.

171.  On May 21, 2021, during a podcast on Modern Finance titled “How Safe is My

Crypto?,” Ballensweig explained how GGC’s investment business model worked:
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the way the model works, is that deposits, like you said, will get aggregated in
batched and swept over to Genesis from Gemini and our other partnerships as well
. . . the way it works is when we face our partners, they basically sweep over the
assets. We now, you know, have access to this working capital. You know, just step
back. We’re facing about 250 or so unique institutional borrowers on the other side.
So, these are some of your leading hedge funds, quant trading firms, market neutral
firms, other exchanges, other dealers, other lending, portals and platforms. And so
we’ll go out and lend the capital that we borrow from our depositors out to the

And then similarly, like the Gemini model, it’s anybody that uses, you know,
Gemini Earn now can basically transfer assets from their regular Gemini wallet to
their Gemini Earn wallet, and then Gemini on a daily basis will come to Genesis
basically deposit those assets with us, we go out to the market, lend those assets out
to our, you know, network of borrowers, generate the yield and then pay Gemini
back so that it can pay its users.

172.  On September 17, 2020, during a podcast on The Block titled “The Evolution of
Crypto Lending,” Ballensweig explained the economics concerning Genesis Global Capital’s
investment business:

QUESTION: I’m wondering if you can kind of unpack the unit economics
behind that. And how this all really works? Like, is it really
too good to be true? And kind of highlighting that for wider
audience would be interesting.

BALLENSWEIG: Yeah no, absolutely. It’s a really good question. And it’s
certainly a question that we get a lot of Genesis when we’re
talking to prospective lenders, or capital pools, is how is it
possible that you guys can pay eight percent on stable coin
or cash? Why is that so much different than traditional
markets? What’s driving the discrepancy there? And then, a
lot of the times people are skeptical to hear those kinds of
rates because they immediately think that there’s more risk
associated with that opportunity.

And so, on one end you have lenders that are like trying to
figure out, what is the right interest rate for me to basically
loan out my capital, earn interest, knowing the either
platform risk that I’'m taking, whether if you’re kind of going
the Defi route, or what’s the credit and counterparty risk that
I’'m taking if you’re going kind of the more centralized
lending route?
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And then on the other end, we feel like, we’re - what sets
Genesis apart is the fact that we’re kind of uniquely
positioned in the middle. Our roots are obviously in trading
and understanding OTC markets and understanding
exchanges and the nuances of the market structure and who
all the participants are that are actually utilizing the end
capital.

And so, we see where the deployment of wealth goes. We
see who’s using it, how often, what they’re deploying it
towards. And so, I think we’re really a nexus point in the

space to kind of understand the economics around lending,
why rates are the way they are.

173.  On January 22, 2021, during the GBBC Virtual Members Forum, Defendant Islim
stated the following about GGC’s investment business:

ISLIM: we definitely offer one of the best yields in the market and a lot of our

clients reach us to provide their assets for us to be able to get yield on
that overall. We offer a lot of products around lending when it comes to
open term, fixed term, and all of that is really just to service clients who
have very different views about the market, or they are looking forward
to look at certain rates, or are they more short-term investors - they want
to have open-term loans without just to get extra used in the short-term
like extra funding. It’s definitely we are experts in this space. We
understand the crypto funding market very very well. And this gives us
a cutting edge in providing the right liquidity and also the best yield in
the market.

174.  On February 26, 2024, at a hearing in the Genesis Bankruptcy Action, Paul
Aronzon, a director of GGH explained that: “[t]he people who gave us their assets, they own them.
Yes, they gave them to us to invest.” (Emphasis added).

A. THE GENESIS YIELD SECURITIES ARE NOTES UNDER REVES.

175. A note is a type of debt security that, as done in the Genesis Yield securities,
represents a promise to pay a specific amount of money at a specified time or on demand.

176. To invest in Genesis Yield securities, class members invested cash or digital assets

with the Company under the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements in which Genesis Global

Capital promised to pay interest and repay the entirety of the loan at maturity. Class members
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invested with Genesis Global Capital by entering into the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements
and then tendering digital assets or cash to Genesis Global Capital pursuant to either executed loan
term sheets (for direct investors) or the terms presented to them via the Gemini Earn platform (for
Gemini Earn investors).

177. To determine whether a loan of money with a promise of interest and return of
principal qualifies as a “note” under the federal securities laws, the U.S. Supreme Court established
the “family resemblance” test in Reves v. Ernst & Young, 494 U.S. 56 (1990).

178. The “family resemblance” test starts with a presumption that every note is a
security. The test involves four factors to determine if a note should be considered a security.

179. A note is presumed to be security unless it bears a strong resemblance to
instruments that are not securities, which courts determine by examining four factors: (1) the
motivation of the parties; (2) the plan of distribution; (3) the expectations of the investing public;
and (4) the availability of an alternative regulatory scheme that “significantly reduces the risk of
the instrument” for investors other than securities laws, “thereby rendering application of the
Securities Acts unnecessary.”!’

180. Under the test articulated in Reves, the Genesis Yield securities are “notes” under

the federal securities laws that were offered and sold by Genesis Global Capital as securities.

i. Motivations of Genesis Yield Securities Investors.

181. Genesis Global Capital offered and sold the Genesis Yield securities to obtain
digital assets, cash, and other capital to use in its business—namely, to run its investment activities,

generate profits for itself, and to pay the interest promised to Genesis Yield investors.

17 Id., 944 (citing Reves v. Ernst & Young, 494 U.S. 56, 64-69 (1990)).
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182.  Genesis Yield securities investors—including those who invested through the
Gemini Earn program—were primarily interested in the profit they expected the Genesis Yield
product to genera‘[e.18

183. Class members sought to invest in Genesis Yield securities by loaning crypto or
cash in exchange for a fixed rate of return in the form of interest on an unsecured basis and the
promise of the return of principal at maturity.

184. In other words, Genesis Global Capital sought to generate enough revenue by
reinvesting investors’ assets to (1) return profits to Genesis Global Capital, Defendant DCG, and
Defendant Silbert; and (2) to pay interest to Genesis Yield securities investors.

185.  Genesis Global Capital, at the direction and subject to the control of Defendants,
controlled the digital assets invested by purchasers of Genesis Yield securities.

186.  Genesis Global Capital controlled the digital assets it obtained from investors and
had complete discretion in determining how much to hold, lend and otherwise use. Genesis Global
Capital used the digital assets it raised from investors to make loans to institutional borrowers or
as collateral for Genesis Global Capital’s own borrowing. Genesis also had the discretion to hold
the assets on its balance sheet to provide Genesis with liquidity to meet potential demand for loans
as well as to repay the investors in its crypto asset program. '’

187. In turn, Plaintiffs and members of the Class invested in Genesis Yield securities
primarily for profit, i.e., to receive a return on their digital assets. Genesis and Gemini both touted
the profits investors could earn by investing their digital assets with Genesis, including for

example, by advertising Gemini Earn as an investment and touting that investors could receive up

B 1d., 445.
9 Id., g46.
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to 8.05% annual percentage yield (“APY”) on their digital assets. Investors who purchased Genesis
securities were led to expect that by tendering and giving control over their digital assets to
Genesis, they would receive profit in the form of interest on those assets.?’

188.  Genesis Global Capital also described itself as the “premier institutional digital
asset financial services firm,” and “the world’s largest digital asset lender” and that “[h]olders of
digital currencies can earn yield on their assets by lending directly to Genesis, a regulated and
trusted counterparty.” Accordingly, Genesis Yield investors were led to expect that Defendants’
efforts to generate the investment returns — i.e., the promised interest — would result in profit for
investors.?!

189.  As part of the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements, investors ceded control over
their digital assets to Genesis, who had complete discretion in deploying the digital assets. Genesis,
not investors, undertook various complex tasks of pooling Genesis Yield digital assets, identifying
institutional borrowers to serve as counterparties, negotiating individual agreements with those
counterparties, and managing market and counterparty risk. Investors understood that Genesis
would conduct due diligence on institutional borrowers and evaluate market conditions in
determining the appropriate collateral levels.??

190. Moreover, the economic realities of the Genesis Yield securities demonstrate that
Genesis Global Capital was motivated to use its experience and skill as the “premier institutional
digital asset financial services firm” and its economic power as “the world’s largest digital asset

lender “ to select appropriate institutional borrowers to serve as counterparties, negotiate for the

2 1d., 947.
2L 1., 963.
2 d., 764.
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highest interest rates from those institutional borrowers, and set appropriate collateral levels in
order to generate maximum profit for itself. Defendants’ efforts were essential to the success or
failure of the enterprise.?’

191. As a large institutional lender in the cryptocurrency industry, Genesis Global
Capital negotiated more favorable loan terms and interest rates with borrowers than Genesis Yield
investors could negotiate on their own. Genesis Global Capital paid yield to the Genesis Yield
investors from the interest it earned on its loans to third parties. Thus, the Genesis Yield investors’
fortunes were tied to the effort and expertise of Genesis Global Capital, and the investors shared
in the profits made by Genesis Global Capital.>*

192.  Investors in open-term Genesis Yield securities understood that, on a monthly
basis, the interest rate for their Gemini Earn investments would be revised by Genesis Global
Capital, reflecting Genesis Global Capital’s ongoing managerial efforts to pay among “the highest
rates in the market.”?® The interest rates were typically undated weekly for investors who directly
invested assets with Genesis Global Capital.

193.  Thus, representations made by Genesis Global Capital to Genesis Yield investors
in the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements caused Plaintiffs and members of the Class to invest
their digital assets with the expectation of profits in the form of interest on those digital assets.

194.  Genesis Global Capital adjusted the yield it marketed, offered, and thus promised

to pay Genesis Yield securities investors primarily based on two factors:

BId., 765.
2 NYAG Compl., §50.
25 SEC Enforcement Action, §66.
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(1) the opportunities to invest digital assets and earn yield Genesis Global Capital saw in

the market; and

(2) the rate of return Genesis Global Capital determined it needed to offer prospective

investors to attract investment capital to take advantage of the investment opportunities.

195. The rates of return Genesis Global Capital offered to Gemini Earn customers to
attract their investment capital were posted on Gemini’s website. For example, on February 1,
2021, the Earn Page set forth yield rates that Earn investors would receive on their invested
6

cryptocurrencies as follows:?

Interest Rates

Asset APY Asset APRY Asset APY
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L 1.98% A%
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Ren Ak Synthetix = Storj
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196. These rates periodically changed based on the considerations described above. For
example, a Gemini Earn investor who invested one bitcoin at the start of the Gemini Earn program
could have earned 3.05% APY on that investment in February 2021, 2.05% in May 2021, 1.65%

APY in August 2021, 1.49% APY in September 2021, and 1.01% in February 2022.

26 NYAG Compl., §52.
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197.  On the Earn page, Gemini claimed the rates Genesis Global Capital was offering
were “more than 100x the average national interest rate, among the highest rates on the market.”’

198.  Genesis and Gemini controlled the interest rates and stated to investors: “rates may
increase or decrease in the future.””8

199. Likewise, as depicted below, Genesis Global Capital offered investment
opportunities to direct investors, presenting the types of cryptocurrencies it was willing to borrow,
the yield it was willing to pay for each type of asset, and duration, as depicted below. Genesis’
Sales/Trading/Operations team would solicit direct investors through email, MS Teams or

Telegram chats through which it would disseminate “rate cards.” Rates would typically adjust

weekly. The terms offered to direct lenders were not subject to negotiation.

CGenesis
A Digital Currency Group Company
BTC ETH USD and major stables
Duration Rate Duration Rate Duration Rate
open term 2.50% open term 2.00% open term 5.25%
1-month 2.80% | 1-month 2.50% 1-month 5.50%
2-month 2.83% 2-month 247% Z-month 5.55%
3-month 2.80% 3-month 2,45% 3-month 5.60%
4-month 2.77% | 4-month 2.43% 4-month 5.65%
5-month 2.75% | 5-month 2.40% 5-month 5.70%
G-month 2.73% 6-month 2.37% B-month 5.75%
7-month 2.70% | 7-month 2.35% 7-month 5.80%
B-month 267% | B-month 2.33% 8-month 5.85%
9-month 2.65% 9-month 2.30% 9-month 5.90%
10-month 263% | 10-month 2.27% 10-month 5.95%
11-month 2.60% 11-month 2.25% 11-month 6.00%
12-month 2.57% | 12-month 2.20% 12-month 6.05%
Genesis minimums: BTC = 100 units | ETH = 1000 units | USD and major stables = $1mm

ii. Distribution Plan of Genesis Yield Securities.

288y Genesis Global Capital publicly advertised Genesis Yield securities on its own

websites, third party websites, podcasts, crypto industry webinars, and social media, and offered

27 1d., 953.
3 Id., 954
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or sold Genesis Yield securities to a broad segment of the general public. The offer or sale of
Genesis Yield securities was not limited to only institutional and corporate entities, but rather
involved broad-based, unrestricted sales to the general investing public to whom the risks of
investing with Genesis Global Capital were not disclosed and who were not provided access to
records needed to assess Genesis Global Capital’s creditworthiness, risks and financial plans.
Z00. For example, on February 2, 2021, Genesis Global Capital tweeted the following

from the GGT @genesistrading twitter account:

e Genesis

Gemini and Genesis are working together to offer interest rate at "are

mara than 100 times the national average of 0.05%" in the LS. Reat

https://x.com/GenesisTrading/status/1356606264130871299?s=20

22,  Also on February 2, 2021, Genesis Global Capital tweeted the following from the

@genesistrading account:
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Genesis

@GenesisTrading
Proud to be working with @ Gemini on gemini.com/earn - helping Gemini
customers earn up to 7.4% annual percentage yield (APY) on their
hoidings. Genesis is dedicated to building and partnering to lower
barriers to digital asset markets

https://x.com/GenesisTrading/status/13566018267963269137s=20

2. Genesis Yield securities were offered and sold directly to investors and through the
Gemini Earn Program.

234, An FAQ entitled “What are the risks of Gemini Earn?”” on the Gemini Earn website
described Gemini Earn as an investment:

Cryptocurrency, like many assets, can be volatile and subject to price swings. There
is always a risk in investing, and each customer needs to assess their own risk
tolerance before making any investment decisions. Our partners in Gemini Earn
have an obligation to return funds according to the terms of their loan agreement.
However, Gemini Earn customers (the lenders) always assume some level of risk
when they decide to lend their funds. We believe Gemini Earn gives our retail
investors another way to stay long-term in the asset class and have the option
to invest and earn interest, all on the Gemini platform. (Emphasis added).”

Z%8.  Gemini similarly promoted the profit that investors could earn through the Gemini
Earn program. In a February 2021 press release launching Gemini Earn, Gemini CEO Tyler

Winklevoss stated, “We designed a program that allows our customers the ability to generate a

2 SEC Enforcement Action, ECF No. 1 at §35.
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real return on their crypto holdings.” On February 27, 2021, Gemini also posted a video on
YouTube titled, “Invest Better with Gemini Earn.” On its website, Gemini described how users
would earn interest, noting, “We are excited to launch Gemini Earn and offer more opportunities
for you to grow your portfolio and earn yield.” Similarly, Gemini advertised on its website that
investors could “[p]ut [their] crypto to work. With Gemini Earn, you can receive up to 8.05% APY
on your cryptocurrency,” and listed the interest rate that investors could earn for each eligible
crypto asset.*”

2%,  There was no minimum investment amount to be eligible to participate in the
Gemini Earn program. As of November 16, 2022, over 340,000 investors, most residing in the
United States, had digital assets invested in Genesis Yield through Genesis Yield Investment
Agreements.>!

207,  Likewise, Genesis Global Capital promoted its high yield rates to direct investors.
For example, Genesis Global Capital promoted and solicited investment in Genesis Yield
securities as follows through Telegram messages to potential investors: “We’re still best bid for
BTC at 7-month FT at 6% and USD/stables for 12-month FT at 10.75%” and “For BTC, we are
best bid for 8-month FT at 6%. For USD/stables, we’ve raised our rates on the front end of the
curve and are best bid for 12mo FT at 12%.”

2%, While Genesis Global Capital purportedly had a minimum investment threshold to
invest directly in Genesis Yield securities, these restrictions were not enforced and individual

investors with less than the stated minimum requirements of cash or crypto were allowed to

directly invest.

30 1d., 934.
3 1d., §25.
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iii. Expectations of the Investing Public.

2%, Genesis Global Capital and Gemini, through websites, podcasts, crypto industry
webinars, and social media, promoted Genesis Yield securities as an investment, specifically as a
way to earn high “returns” or “yield” on investors digital assets.*?

21%  Gemini repeatedly described Gemini Earn as an investment on its own website and
social media and repeatedly touted that the Gemini Earn interest rates were “among the highest
rates on the market” and “higher than most existing options.” Gemini’s website further claimed
that Gemini Earn investors could “receive more than 100x the national interest rate.”*

211.  Genesis Global Capital promoted direct investment in Genesis Yield securities
through the Genesis-entities website, press releases and dissemination of Market Observation
Reports that described Genesis Yield as an investment. For example, a Market Observation
Reports for Q2 2020 stated: “Investors who know they want to be long for an extended period of
time and want to earn incremental interest on their holdings can receive monthly payments at rates
ranging between 6% and 12% annually depending on the asset.”

212.  The economic realities of the transaction, in which investors had an opportunity to
tender digital assets to Genesis in exchange for earning interest with some of the “highest rates”
available for digital assets, further underscore why the investing public considered Genesis Yield
to be an investment opportunity.>*

21%  Class members understood that the cash or digital assets invested with Genesis

Global Capital would be reinvested by Genesis Global Capital and that the interest rate offered

32 Id., 950.
34,
M4,
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was dependent on Genesis Global Capital using its expertise and knowledge of the crypto market
to find investment opportunities and earn the yield necessary to pay investors the agreed upon
returns. To accomplish this, Genesis Global Capital would aggregate assets from investors and
use class members’ assets as working capital to reinvest with institutional borrowers in the crypto
market to generate yield for Genesis Global Capital and for investors.

iv. No Risk Reducing Factors Exist.

214, No alternative regulatory scheme or risk-reducing factors existed to protect
investors with respect to Genesis Yield investment.*

215 For example, in its own FAQs, Genesis Global Capital noted that “[d]igital assets
are not covered by SIPC [(Securities Industry Protection Corporation)] insurance” and that
“[e]stablishing a lending and borrowing relationship with Genesis is not the same as opening a
depository account or a savings account” and that “[a]ccounts with Genesis do not enjoy FDIC
protection.”3®

21&.  Under the terms of the Genesis securities, Genesis Global Capital was not required
to post collateral. Gemini told investors, “All lending by you through our Program will be on an
unsecured basis. We will not collect or hold collateral from Borrowers, nor maintain any collateral
account for your benefit.” Although Genesis Global Capital later provided some collateral to
Gemini in August 2022, the collateral Genesis Global Capital provided to Gemini was in the form

of restricted shares that could not be liquidated immediately and amounted to only a fraction of

the total investor assets held in Gemini Earn.

3 1d., 951,
3 Id,

58



Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 65 of 183

217.  Similarly, although Gemini is registered with NYDFS as a New York limited
purpose trust company, NYDFS did not have oversight over Genesis Global Capital.

21&  Similarly, NYDFS did not have oversight over DCG or Silbert.*’

21%.  Months before the launch of the Gemini Earn program, Gemini knew that Genesis
Capital was regulated only by FinCEN and, in fact, categorized Genesis Capital’s lack of
regulation as a “high” risk factor in internal documents.®

Z3#3  FinCEN, the Financial Crimes Enforcement Network, is a bureau of the United
States Department of the Treasury that collects and analyzes information about financial
transactions in order to combat domestic and international money laundering, terrorist financing,
and other financial crimes. FinCEN does not purport to regulate securities or the disclosure of
risks to investors.

ZZL.  These statements and facts above demonstrate that alternative regulatory schemes
provided no protection for Genesis Yield investors.

B. THE GENESIS YIELD INVESTMENT AGREEMENTS ARE
INVESTMENT CONTRACTS UNDER HOWEY.

Z2Z2  The Genesis Yield Investment Agreements, when coupled with investors’ deposits
of assets with Genesis Global Capital constitutes the offer and sale of investment contracts under
Howey.>

223. Digital assets qualify as “money” under the federal securities laws. Genesis Yield

securities therefore involved an investment of money.

7 1d., 952.
¥ NYAG Compl., 195.
39 SEC Enforcement Action, 56.
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224, During the Class Period, Genesis Global Capital raised billions of dollars from
hundreds of thousands of investors, who tendered digital assets to Genesis Global Capital pursuant
to the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements.*’

#25. Investors in Genesis Yield securities invested in a common enterprise with other
investors. Genesis Global Capital pooled Genesis Yield investors’ digital assets on Genesis Global
Capital’s balance sheet and invested those assets in order to generate returns for both Genesis
Global Capital and investors.*! In practice Genesis Global Capital did not segregate the digital
assets it received from different groups of investors.*?

224, Investment contracts like Genesis Yield securities that offer fixed rates of interest
are securities. See S.E.C. v. Edwards, 540 U.S. 389, 395-97 (2004) (“The fact that investors have
bargained for a return on their investment does not mean that the return is not also expected to
come solely from the efforts of others. Any other conclusion would conflict with our holding that
an investment contract was offered in Howey itself.”); SEC v. Genesis Global Capital, LLC, et al.,
2024 WL 1116877 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 13, 2024).

227,  Genesis Global Capital then invested the pooled digital assets in ways designed to
generate returns for DCG, Silbert, Genesis Global Capital, and investors. Genesis retained
possession and control over the investors’ digital assets on its balance sheet, and determined how
much to hold, lend out to others, and otherwise use. Genesis Global Capital exercised its discretion

in how to use investors’ digital assets to generate revenue for its business and to pay the interest

rates it promised Gemini Earn investors and other investors. Genesis Yield securities did not

014, 957.
4114, 9958-59.
214, 138.
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contain any explicit terms restricting how investors’ digital assets would be used by Genesis
Global Capital.*?

ZZE.  As the invested digital assets were not segregated in any way by Genesis Global
Capital, each investor’s fortune was tied to the fortunes of the other investors. Genesis did not
manage individual or separate accounts for each investor in Gemini Earn. Instead, the returns
earned by each investor were reliant on the pooling of the invested digital assets and the investment
of those pooled assets. As the invested digital assets were not segregated in any way by Genesis
Global Capital, each investor’s fortune was tied to the fortunes of the other investors.*

222 Generally, Genesis Global Capital deployed the Genesis Yield investors’ digital
assets by either lending them to institutional borrowers or using the assets as collateral for Genesis
Global Capital’s own borrowing. Digital assets not loaned to institutional borrowers or used for
collateral were held by Genesis Global Capital on its balance sheet in an effort to provide the
Company with liquidity to meet potential demand for loans as well as to repay the investors in its
Genesis Yield securities. Genesis Global Capital also had the ability to loan the digital assets to
related parties including DCG, its parent company or DCG’s affiliates.*’

238 Genesis Global Capital employed its discretion and judgment in determining the
terms of transactions with institutional borrowers. For example, Genesis Global Capital conducted
due diligence on the institutional borrowers before entering into a transaction. Genesis Global

Capital negotiated an initial agreement with each institutional borrower, and then individually

negotiated the terms—including the type of digital assets to be lent, interest rate, duration of the

8.
“1d., 959.
4 14., 939.
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loan, and collateral (if any) — of every subsequent lending transaction. Genesis Global Capital
separately evaluated each institutional borrower, as well as market conditions, when determining
collateral rates.*®

22[. Genesis Yield investors’ fortunes were also tied to Genesis Global Capital’s
fortunes; both Genesis Global Capital and investors earned profits when Genesis Global Capital
deployed the pooled assets.*’ The returns earned by each Genesis Yield investor were reliant on
the pooling of the invested digital assets and the ways in which Genesis Global Capital deployed
those assets, including Genesis Global Capital’s evaluation of the institutional borrowers,
negotiation of favorable terms, and management of market and counterparty risk. When Genesis
Global Capital loaned digital assets it received through the Genesis Yield securities, the assets
were transferred to the institutional borrowers and left Genesis Global Capital’s balance sheet.
Ultimately, the returns of Genesis Yield investors were dependent on Genesis’ managerial efforts
and risk management in its lending activities.*3

232, The income that Genesis Global Capital received from investing Genesis Yield
securities investors’ digital assets to institutional borrowers was used to generate revenue for
Genesis Global Capital and to pay the promised interest to Genesis Yield investors. Genesis Global
Capital did not have any other revenue-generating activities. For example, for the three months
ended March 31, 2022, Genesis received approximately $169.8 million in interest income from

institutional borrowers and paid $166.2 million in interest to Genesis Yield securities investors.*’

46 1., 940.
4 4., 960.
4., 941.
914, 942.
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23%. Similarly, Genesis Global Capital’s suffering of losses and entering bankruptcy has
harmed Plaintiffs and members of the Class by restricting their ability to access their digital assets
and to receive the promised interest payments.

234. In other words, Genesis Global Capital ran a pooled investment fund where it
pooled investors’ capital and purported to use its investment expertise and knowledge of the digital
assets markets to invest those assets in ways designed to earn returns that exceeded the returns
Genesis Global Capital promised its investors.

Z%8.  This 1s a familiar business model: it is the same business model utilized by
commercial banks and pooled investment funds such as hedge funds. Both activities are covered
by the Securities Act.

Z%%&.  For example, commercial banks attract depositors by advertising and promising to
pay attractive rates of interest based on the returns the banks believe they can generate by
reinvesting those assets. Accordingly, commercial banks aggregate the deposits of its depositors
and re-lend those deposits in ways designed to earn a yield higher than the returns, or interest, the
banks have promised to pay its depositors. Congress recognized that this activity meets the
definition of a security under the Securities Act, but specifically exempted much of it from the
definition of a security under the Securities Act because commercial banks are subject to strict
capital controls and other limitations in how they may re-invest customer deposits, these activities
are specifically exempted from the Securities Act. See 15 U.S.C. § 77c (Classes of securities under
this subchapter).

237,  Genesis Yield securities investors enjoyed no such protections.
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C. STATE AND FEDERAL REGULATORS HAVE CONCLUDED
IDENTICAL INVESTMENT PRODUCTS ARE “SECURITIES” AS
DEFINED BY STATE AND FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS.

238, The SEC and numerous state securities regulators have evaluated investment
products offered by other companies that are nearly identical to the Genesis Yield securities and
have concluded that the products constitute “securities.”

238, For example, Nexo, Inc., Nexo Capital Inc., and Nexo Financial, LLC (collectively,
“Nexo”) offered and sold the Nexo Earn Interest Product (“EIP”’) accounts, which “allowed United
States investors to tender to Nexo certain digital assets, which Nexo deposited in interest-yielding
accounts and then used in various ways to generate income for its own business and to fund interest
payments to EIP investors,” including “staking, lending, and engaging in arbitrage on purportedly
‘decentralized’ finance platforms; investing in certain digital assets; loaning funds to retail and
institutional borrowers; and entering into options and swap contracts with respect to the digital
assets tendered.”

242,  The SEC determined that the EIP accounts were unregistered securities, and as a
result, Nexo agreed to cease offer and sale thereof and pay a $22.5 million fine.

241. Eight state regulators similarly determined that the EIP accounts were securities,

including the:
a) California Department of Financial Protection and Innovation;
b) State of Vermont Department of Financial Regulation;
c) State of Oklahoma Department of Securities;
d) South Carolina Attorney General, as Securities Commissioner;
€) Commonwealth of Kentucky Public Protection Cabinet, Department of

Financial Institutions, Division of Securities;

f) Securities Division of the Office of the Maryland Attorney General;
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g) State of Washington Department of Financial Institutions, Securities
Division; and
h) Office of Attorney General of New York.

247,  BlockFi Lending LLC (“BlockFi”) “offered and sold BlockFi Interest Accounts
(“BIAs”) to investors, through which investors lend digital assets to BlockFi in exchange for
BlockFi’s promise to provide a variable monthly interest payment,” was generated and paid out to
investors “in various ways, including loans of digital assets made to institutional and corporate
borrowers, lending U.S. dollars to retail investors, and by investing in equities and futures.”>°

243, The SEC determined that the BIAs were securities because they were notes under
Reves and investment contracts under Howey.”' As a result, BlockFi agreed to pay a $50 million
penalty.>?

Z44. The State of New Jersey Bureau of Securities also found that BlockFi’s BIAs are
“unregistered securities in the form of cryptocurrency interest-earning accounts.”> BlockFi agreed
to pay a $50 million penalty to state regulators in all fifty states (including New Jersey) as well

Washington D.C., Puerto Rico, and the Virgin Islands, as participants in the North American

Securities Administrators Association.>*

0 Order Instituting Cease-And Desist Proceedings, In the Matter of BlockFi Lending, LLC, SEC Administrative
Proceeding File No. 3-20785, https://www.sec.gov/litigation/admin/2022/33-11029.pdf.

SUId.

52 BlockFi Agrees to Pay $100 Million in Penalties and Pursue Registration of its Crypto Lending Product, SEC (Feb.
14, 2022) https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2022-26.

53 In the Matter of BlockFi Inc., BlockFi Lending, LLC, and BlockFi Trading, LLC, New Jersey Attorney General
Office, https://www.nj.gov/oag/newsreleases2 1/BlockFi-Cease-and-Desist-Order.pdf.

% Acting AG Platkin: Cryptocurrency Lending Platform BlockFi Agrees to $100 Million Settlement with State and
Federal Securities Regulators, New Jersey Attorney General Office (Feb. 14, 2022), https://www.njoag.gov/acting-
ag-platkin-cryptocurrency-lending-platform-blockfi-agrees-to-100-million-settlement-with-state-and-federal-
securities-regulators/; see also BlockFi Agrees to Pay $100 Million in Penalties and Pursue Registration of its Crypto
Lending Product, SEC (Feb. 14, 2022), https://www.sec.gov/news/press-release/2022-26.
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24%,  Voyager Digital Ltd., Voyager Digital Holdings, Inc., and Voyager Digital LLC
(collectively, “Voyager”) offered and sold Voyager Interest Accounts, through which investors
opened accounts by transferring cryptocurrency or other digital assets to Voyager, “use[d] their
principal to buy and trade more than 90 ... digital assets,” and then earned “interest on their
purchase of certain digital assets” at a rate set by Voyager. Several state enforcement agencies
found that the Voyager Interest Accounts constituted securities under their respective state laws,
including the:

a) Texas State Securities Board;

b) Securities Division of the Office of the Attorney General of the State of South
Carolina;

c) State of New Jersey Bureau of Securities;

d) State of Washington Department of Financial Institutions Securities Division;

e) State of Oklahoma Department of Securities; and

f) State of Vermont Department of Financial Regulation.

245, Celsius Network, Inc., Celsius Network Limited, Celsius US Holding, LLC,
Celsius Network, LLC, and Celsius Lending, LLC (collectively, “Celsius™) offered and sold
interest-earning accounts, known as the “Earn Rewards” program, through which investors “open
accounts by transferring eligible cryptocurrency to [Celsius] to invest in Celsius Earn Interest-
Bearing Accounts” and relinquish control of the cryptocurrency, in exchange for earning “lucrative
interest rates.” Several state regulatory agencies took action, finding that the Earn Interest-Bearing
Accounts reward program constituted the offer and sale of unregistered securities, including the:

a) Texas State Securities Board;

b) State of New Jersey Bureau of Securities;
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c) State of Vermont Department of Financial Regulation;

d) State of Alabama Securities Commission;

e) Commonwealth of Kentucky; and

f) State of Washington Department of Financial Institutions, Securities Division.

247. Coinbase, Inc. and Coinbase Global Inc. (collectively, “Coinbase”) planned to offer

a program called “Coinbase Lend,” allowing “eligible customers to earn interest on select assets
on Coinbase, starting with 4% APY on USD Coin (USDC)” by, specifically, investors “lending
the USDC they hold on Coinbase’s platform” and earning interest from their participation. The
SEC issued a Wells notice to Coinbase about its Lend program, advising that after assessing under
Howey and Reves, the SEC will sue Coinbase if the program launches, because such a program
would constitute a security.

XI. SECURITIES ACT CLAIMS.

24%  The Securities Act claims expressly do not make any allegations of fraud or scienter
and do not incorporate any of the allegations of scienter and fraud.

24%, The federal securities laws require offers and sales of securities to be registered
with the SEC unless an exemption from registration applies and to additionally require issuers to
provide a slate of disclosures informing investors of the risks of investing.

236 Specifically, Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act require that an issuer like
Genesis Global Capital file a registration statement with the SEC in order to offer or sell securities,
including notes and investment contracts, unless an exemption from registration applies.

231.  Genesis Global Capital did not seek exemption from registration with the SEC.

232. Genesis Global Capital never had a registration statement filed or in effect with the

SEC regarding Genesis Yield securities.
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253,  Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class were harmed by the
failure to register the offer and sale of Genesis Yield securities because Genesis Global Capital’s
public disclosures contained selective or no information about Genesis Global Capital’s financial
history, audited financial statements, management discussion and analysis of financial condition
and results of operations, ability to generate profits, and risk factors.

254. Genesis Yield investors had limited or inadequate information about Genesis
Global Capital’s operations, financial condition, liquidity, risks, related party transactions and
other factors relevant in considering whether to invest in Genesis Yield securities.

255,  Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class lacked full and detailed
information regarding how Genesis Global Capital deployed their digital assets, including its
exposure to volatility in crypto asset markets, the financial condition of Genesis Global Capital’s
counterparties, and the amount of collateral Genesis Global Capital obtained, if any, as part of its
loans to institutional borrowers, related party transactions, and concentrations of risk.

25&, Because of the above-described conduct, investors in Genesis Yield securities
lacked information about Genesis Global Capital that the SEC requires issuers to provide under
the Securities Act when they offer or sell securities to the investing public.

Z57.  On January 12, 2023, the SEC Enforcement Action was filed against non-parties
Genesis Global Capital and Gemini for engaging “in an unregistered offer and sales of securities
to U.S. retail investors, in violation of the federal securities laws” by offering the Genesis Yield
securities via the Gemini Earn program.

25%.  In the SEC Enforcement Action, the SEC alleges that Genesis Yield investors who
invested via the Gemini Earn program entered into Genesis Yield Investment Agreements with

Genesis Global Capital and Gemini, and Genesis Global Capital “pooled the [digital] assets from
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[Genesis Yield] investors with assets from other investors. Genesis then deployed the [digital]
assets — primarily by lending the [digital] assets to institutional counterparties (‘Institutional
Borrowers’) — in order to generate revenue for its business, including the revenue necessary to pay
interest to [Genesis Yield] investors. Genesis earned revenue by lending the digital assets at a
higher rate than it paid to [Genesis Yield] and other investors.”>>

252,  The SEC alleges the conduct described in the preceding paragraph “were securities
that Genesis . . . offered and sold to the investing public ... without registering the offer and sale
with the SEC as required by the federal securities laws.”®

2843,  As a result, the SEC alleges, Genesis Yield investors such as Lead Plaintiffs,
Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class lacked material information about the risks of their
investment in the Genesis Yield investment products, and have suffered significant harm as a result
of Genesis Global Capital’s conduct.

Z81.  On March 13, 2024, the court in the SEC Enforcement Action denied defendants’
motion to dismiss. SEC v. Genesis Global Capital, LLC, et al.,2024 WL 1116877 (S.D.N.Y. Mar.
13, 2024).

262,  As alleged above, on October 19, 2023, the New York Attorney General filed a
complaint against Defendants DCG, Silbert, Moro, the Company and others alleging violations of
New York’s Martin Law for the sale of unregistered securities.

263,  Section 12(a)(1) of the Securities Act provides in relevant part: “Any person who

offers or sells a security in violation of Section 77¢ of this title ... shall be liable ... to the person

purchasing such security from him, who may sue either at law or in equity in any court of

55 SEC Enforcement Action, 4.
6 SEC Enforcement Action, J95-6.
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competent jurisdiction, to recover the consideration paid for such security with interest thereon,
less the amount of any income received thereon, upon the tender of such security, or for damages
if he no longer owns the security.” 15 U.S.C. § 771(a)(1).

Z&4, Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class invested in Genesis Yield
securities offered or sold by Genesis Global Capital through the Genesis Yield Investment
Agreements whereby investors agreed to tender their digital assets or cash to Genesis in exchange
for interest payments and the eventual return of the digital assets on demand.

2#45.  Under the Securities Act, the terms “offer to sell”, “offer for sale” or “offer” broadly
include every attempt or offer to dispose of, or solicitation of an offer to buy, a security or interest
in a security for value. 15 U.S.C.A. § 77b(a)(3). Genesis Global Capital offered Genesis Yield
securities to members of the Class through the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements and related
marketing and solicitations alleged above.

Z&&, By entering into the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements, investors sought an
opportunity to invest in Genesis Yield securities offered by Genesis Global Capital.

2&7.  Furthermore, Genesis sold Genesis Yield securities to Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff
Ameli and members of the Class. To invest in Genesis Yield, investors entered into the Genesis
Yield Investment Agreement with Genesis, and executed a “Loan Term Sheet,” which
incorporated the applicable Genesis Yield Investment Agreement, or authorized wire or electronic
transactions through the Gemini Earn program, through which investors tendered their digital
assets or cash to Genesis in exchange for interest payments from Genesis and the promise of
eventual return of the digital assets on demand.

268, The Securities Act broadly defines “sale” or “sell” to include every contract of sale

or disposition of a security or interest in a security, for value. 15 U.S.C. § 77b(a)(3). The Genesis
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Yield Investment Agreements provide that a “loan” means an exchange for digital currency or cash
“in accordance with this Agreement.” Master Borrow Agreement at 3; Master Digital Asset Loan
Agreement at 3.

26%  The Genesis Yield Investment Agreements were one component of the entire
Genesis Yield investment program, through which Defendants offered and sold securities. The
entirety of the parties’ interactions regardless of whether transactions took effect at different points
in time, constitutes Genesis Global Capital’s sale of Genesis Yield securities.

Wﬂ%

Z7%.  During the Class Period, Genesis Global Capital raised billions of dollars in assets
from hundreds of thousands of investors who tendered digital assets to Genesis Global Capital
under the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements through loan term sheets, or via wire or electronic
transfer through the Gemini Earn program.

271. Transactions reflected in Lead Plaintiffs’ and Plaintiff Ameli’s certifications
constitute a purchase of Genesis Yield securities through which Lead Plaintiffs and Plaintiff Ameli
tendered consideration (the investment principal) in exchange for Genesis’s promise to pay back
the investment principal, together with accrued interest, on demand.

272,  Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class have been damaged under
the Securities Act as alleged above in paragraphs 246-269 and seek rescission or a recessionary
form of relief for Defendants’ wrongful conduct in connection with the purchase of Genesis Yield

securities.

XII. EXCHANGE ACT CLAIMS.

A. DEFENDANTS DISREGARD GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL RISK
MANAGEMENT PRACTICES.

273, According to Gemini, the agent for Genesis Yield investors who invested via the

Gemini Earn program, and the NYAG, from at least February 2, 2021, Genesis Global Capital—
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in concert with Defendants and Defendants’ active support and encouragement—induced the
Genesis Yield investors who invested via the Gemini Earn program to invest by touting Genesis
Global Capital’s purportedly robust risk-management practices and a supposedly thorough vetting
process of the counterparties to which Defendants caused Genesis Global Capital to reinvest Class
members’ assets.

274, When Genesis sought to initiate the Gemini Earn Program and begin its lending
relationships with Gemini Earn Lenders (at the start of the Class Period) Genesis Global Capital
shared its “Overview of Enterprise Credit Risk Management” (the “Overview”). Gemini has stated
that when Genesis Global Capital sought to solicit Genesis Yield investment from Gemini users,
Genesis Global Capital shared the Overview with Gemini, the agent of Gemini users who invested
in Genesis Yield.

27%.  The Overview, according to Gemini, declared that Genesis Global Capital had
“many levers to pull to ensure Genesis Global Capital is well protected, including collateral,
calculated exposure limits based on quantitative and qualitative due-diligence, margin
management, ongoing transparency and financial updates, and macro hedging tools.” It
emphasized Genesis Global Capital’s “ability to responsibly manage credit risk and face zero
defaults” and to “maintain a consistently high level of creditworthiness across our entire loan
portfolio.”

Z7%.  In the Overview, Genesis Global Capital represented to Gemini that, “[a]side from
credit extension, Genesis [Global Capital] primarily lends on an ‘over-collateralized’ basis — i.e.,
the collateral pledged exceeds the value of the loan.” With respect to unsecured credit, Genesis

Global Capital promised Gemini—who would serve as the agent for Gemini users that chose to
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invest in Genesis Yield—that “it would not extend credit unless we believe it’s rightfully earned
and appropriate within the context of the relationship, trade, and time of issuance.”

277.  Genesis Global Capital used the Overview to give Gemini the misimpression that
Genesis Global Capital was a responsible financial institution, representing purportedly sound
risk-management practices and a safe, over-collateralized loan book.

Z7#.  These representations to the agent of Genesis Yield investors who invested through
Gemini Earn caused hundreds of thousands of investors to invest in Genesis Yield, believing that
Genesis Global Capital observed sound risk management and counterparty risk policies.

272, According to a February 2, 2021 CoinDesk article titled “Gemini Partners with
Crypto Lender Genesis to Offer 7.4% Yield on Customer Deposits™:

The product is offered in all 50 states, including New York where Gemini has its

trust license. Users can get yield on any cryptocurrency available on the Gemini

platform now and on Gemini’s GUSD stablecoin at some point in the future. The

product is open to active Gemini customers currently and will be rolled out to all

Gemini customers later this month.

Gemini collects part of the spread between interest paid on the crypto and interest

Genesis charges on its loans to institutions. As part of the partnership, Gemini

reviewed Genesis’ financial statements and verified that the lender’s loans are

overcollateralized, said Yusuf Hussain, Gemini’s head of risk.

This is the third partnership of its kind for Genesis. It also powers interest-bearing

accounts at crypto lender Ledn and crypto exchange Luno, which is also owned by

Digital Currency Group.

“As far as percentages of loans coming from partnerships, it’s still relatively a small

part right now, largely because they are relatively new,” Genesis CEO Michael

Moro said. “But we expect the numbers to become more significant over time as a

sign of the success of these partnerships.”

(Emphasis added).
283,  According to the NYAG Complaint, Gemini repeated Genesis’ representations to

investors: “For example, on March 5, 2021, a business development employee at Gemini
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responded to an investor inquiry about Earn by stating: “based on our due diligence, Genesis is

only lending assets deposited into [Earn] to institutional borrowers in an overcollateralized way.”’

i Genesis Global Capital Misrepresented its Risk Management
Practices to Counterparties and Gemini Earn Investors’ Agent.

Z81. Genesis Global Capital’s representations regarding its risk-management practices
made to counterparties and their agents, including Gemini, were lies. In truth, according to the
NYAG Complaint, Genesis Global Capital’s loan book was not over-collateralized, and the below

chart shows the approximate collateral coverage ratio for the following financial quarters:*8

December | March June | September | December | March June September
2020 2021 2021 2021 2021 2022 2022 2022
60% 87% 71% 85% 90% 61% 76% 66%

a. Genesis Was Overly Concentrated in Risky
Counterparty 3AC

Z&2.  Moreover, as it turned out, Genesis Global Capital was recklessly lending huge
amounts to a counterparty, Three Arrows Capital, or 3AC.

Z&3. Genesis Global Capital and Genesis Asia Pacific failed to conduct adequate due
diligence on 3AC. Contrary to assurances to Gemini on February 18, 2022, that Genesis Global

2 (13

Capital reviewed its borrowers’ “[m]ost recent financial statements with quarterly update
cadence,” neither Genesis Global Capital nor Genesis Asia Pacific had received audited financial

statements from 3AC since July 2020. Genesis Global Capital and Genesis Asia Pacific also

accepted from 3AC illiquid collateral to secure more than $500 million in loans.>

S NYAG Compl., §72.
5 1d., 973.
¥ NYAG Compl., §120.
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284

b. Genesis Was Overly Concentrated in Related Parties

From January 2022 through July 2022, DCG and its subsidiary, DCG International

Investments, Ltd. (“DCGI”), collectively borrowed more than $800 million from Genesis Global

Capital.®

ZES.

On January 24, 2022, Genesis Global Capital lent DCG $100 million in cash on an

unsecured basis, with a stated maturity date of July 24, 2022.°!

2%%  Similarly, on February 23, 2022, Genesis Global Capital lent DCG another $100

million in U.S. dollars on an unsecured basis, with a stated maturity date of August 23, 2022.5?

ZET.

Management invested over $100 million with Genesis Global Capital:

During the period from January 2022 through May 2022, an entity called HQ Cash

lGenesis Global Capital, LLC  HQ Cash Management Fund LP Dec-21 S - 5 :
jGenesis Global Capital, LLC  HQ Cash Management Fund LP Jan-22 § = S {1,000,000.00) § (1,000,000.01
[Genesis Global Capital, LLC  HO, Cash Management Fund LP Feb-22 5§ (1,000,000.00) S (1,004,554.79} & (4,554.79
[Genesis Global Capital, LLC  HQ Cash Management Fund LP Mar-22 S (1,004,554.79) & {1,011,297.69}) S (6,742.90)
jGenesis Global Capital, LLC  HQ, Cash Management Fund LP Apr-22 5 (1,011,297.69) § (1,018,813.16) S {7,515.47)
loenesis Global Capital, LLC  HQ Cash Management Fund LP May-22 S (1,018,813.16) & (100,526,140.24) 5 (99,507,327.08
jGenesis Global Capital, LLC  HQ, Cash Management Fund LP Jun-22 5 (100,526,140.24) & (1,197,327.65) S 99,328,812.59
joenesis Global Capital, LLC  HQ Cash Management Fund LP lul-22 S (1,197,327.65) S - 5 1,197,327 65
jGenesis Global Capital, LLC  HQ, Cash Management Fund LP Aug-22 & - s 5

jGenasis Global Capital, LLC  HO, Cash Management Fund LP Sep-22 S S S

[Genesis Global Capital, LLC  HO, Cash Management Fund LP Oct-22 5 s S

[Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP Nov-22 § 5 5

jGenesis Global Capital, LLC  HQ, Cash Management Fund LP Dec-22 5 ] 5

[Genesis Global Capital, LLC _HQ Cash Management Fund LP 1/19/23 6 s 5

Z8E.  HQ Digital appears to have served a single purpose: managing the personal wealth

of Defendant Silbert and a select few other top DCG executives.

288 A Form ADV filed by HQ Digital entity HQ Investments LLC revealed that HQ

Digital had four clients: one high net worth individual with over $3.6 billion AUM, and three

pooled investment vehicles with a combined total of $8.1 million AUM:

5 Iq., 4180.
61 4., q181.
6 Jq., q184.
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(1) Number of | (2) Fewer than (3) Amount of Regulatory Assets

Type of Client Client(s) 5 Clients under Management
(a) Individuals {other than high net worth individuals) [ %

(b) High net worth individuals 1 A 4 3,653,499,019
{c) Banking or thrift institutions C 3

td) Investment companies %

(e) Business development companies %

{f) Pooled investment vehicles (other than investment companies and 3 % 8,100,000
business development companies)

{g) Pension and profit sharing plans (but not the plan participants or r $
government pension plans)

{h) Charitable organizations r %

(I} State or municipal government entities (including government pension O 5

plans)

(1) Other investment advisers r 3

(k) Insurance companies | 4

{1} Sovereign wealth funds and foreign official institutions J 3

{m) Corparations or ather businesses not listed above O %

{n) Other: = 4

283, Upon information and belief, the high net worth individual with over $3.6 billion
AUM with HQ Digital reflected on the Form ADV was Defendant Silbert.

290, The Form ADV lists two “Control Person(s)” as controlling HQ Digital:
Defendants DCG and Silbert.

2¥2, HQ Digital managed the funds of Defendant Silbert and others via a series of
limited partnerships named, inter alia, HQ Founders Liquidity Fund I LP, HQ Ecosystem Fund I
LP, HQ Cash Management Fund LP, and HQ Enhanced Yield Fund LP, LP.

Z%%,  Bankruptcy filings show that the HQ Cash Management Fund invested extensively
with Genesis Global Capital during the Class Period as HQ Digital sought to earn money for
Defendant Silbert and other HQ Digital members.

284, From August 16, 2022, through November 16, 2022, nearly 50% of Genesis
Capital’s outstanding loans consisted of loans to its own affiliates, including hundreds of millions

of dollars in unsecured loans to its own parent company, DCG.%

S NYAG Compl., §99.
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285, As later revealed, Genesis’ related-party unsecured lending to DCG had disastrous
consequences when DCG failed to repay loans to Genesis.

ii. 3AC and Babel Finance Default on Genesis Loans.

285, In the days leading up to June 13, 2022, 3AC was the Genesis Entities’ second-
largest borrower. Although 3AC nominally borrowed from Genesis Asia Pacific, Genesis Global
Capital used Genesis Asia Pacific as a pass-through entity to lend its own assets to 3AC. Genesis
Asia Pacific’s loans to Three Arrows were open-term and callable by Genesis Asia Pacific. 3AC
paid between 8-15% interest on these loans.®*

%7, On June 13, 2022, 3AC defaulted on billions in loans from Genesis Asia Pacific.
As a result of this default, Genesis Asia Pacific (and thus, the Genesis lending business generally)
incurred a loss of approximately $1 billion in open-term, on-demand assets. Around the same time
as 3AC’s default, Genesis Global Capital also incurred more than $100 million in losses arising
from the default of another borrower, Babel Finance.®’

288 The losses from 3AC and Babel created negative equity value at the Genesis
Entities and created a deficit in the open-term assets available to repay Genesis Yield investors.
Genesis Global Capital’s internal documents stated that these losses opened a $1.1 billion

structural hole in Genesis Global Capital’s loan book.*

64 Id., q117.
6 Id., q121.
6 Id., 9122.
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B. DEFENDANTS’ FRAUDULENT SCHEME TO COVER-UP THE EQUITY
HOLE AT GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL.

288,  As of June 13, 2022, as a result of the 3AC and Babel defaults, Genesis Global
Capital’s liabilities exceeded its assets by approximately $1.1 billion. In other words, the Company
was insolvent.

300. Genesis Global Capital’s insolvency constituted an “Event of Default” under the
Genesis Yield Investment Agreements:

VII. Default
It is further understood that any of the following events shall constitute an

event of default hereunder against the defaulting Party, and shall be herein
referred to as an “Event of Default” or “Events of Default”:

(d) a material default by either Party in the performance of any of the other
agreements, conditions, covenants, provisions or stipulations contained in
this Agreement, including without limitation a failure by either Party to
abide by its obligations in Section IV or V of this Agreement and such
Party’s failure to cure said material default within ten Business Days;

(f) any representation or warranty made by either Party in any of the Loan
Documents that proves to be incorrect or untrue in any material respect as
of the date of making or deemed making thereof however, a Party shall have
ten Business Days to cure such default.

301. As Defendants were aware, the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements provided
that if an Event of Default (as defined above) occurred, lenders such as Plaintiffs had the right to
“declare the entire Loan Balance outstanding for the Loan hereunder immediately due and
payable” and if the Event of Default persisted for 30 days or more, terminate the agreement.

302. Asdescribed in further detail below, knowing that the recall of loans or termination

of the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements would be the end of Genesis Global Capital,

Defendants engaged in a scheme which ultimately directed and caused Genesis Global Capital to
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conceal its insolvency in order to induce Plaintiffs and members of the class not to recall their
loans or to make new loans to Genesis Global Capital.

303. Accordingly, following 3AC’s default on June 13, 2022, Defendants engaged in a
scheme to misrepresent the true financial condition of Genesis Global Capital (i.e., conceal
Genesis Global Capital’s insolvency) from lenders such as Plaintiffs who had loaned digital assets
to Genesis Global Capital.

304. Defendants’ scheme was intended to, and did, conceal Genesis Global Capital’s
insolvency and thereby induced investors such as Plaintiffs and class members to continue loaning
digital assets to Genesis Global Capital and to prevent Plaintiffs and class members from calling
their outstanding loans.

305. During the Class Period, representatives of DCG and Genesis Global Capital,
including Silbert, normally met weekly via Microsoft Teams. However, following 3AC’s default,
these meetings occurred daily, sometimes multiple times per day, with Silbert frequently
personally participating. In these daily meetings, Defendants discussed how Genesis Global
Capital should communicate with lenders such as Plaintiffs, members of the Class, and their agents
such as Gemini.

306. From June 13, 2022, through July 2022, DCG employees and executives (including
Silbert and DCG’s COO [Defendant Murphy] met with Genesis Global Capital’s leadership daily,
often multiple times a day. During these meetings, DCG and Genesis Global Capital employees,
agents and principals discussed how to communicate with counterparties about 3AC, and how to
bolster the Genesis Entities’ financial condition in the wake of these losses. During the same

period, DCG’s COO [Defendant Murphy] and DCG’s Head of Communications [Amanda Cowie]
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helped draft talking points documents for use by DCG and Genesis Global Capital personnel in
conversations with counterparties.®’

307. OnJune 13,2022, Silbert directed Moro and COO [Defendant Murphy] to lead the
company’s response to the 3AC situation “with support and guidance from DCG” and asked that
defendants Moro and Islim attend a “DCG board update and strategy called” scheduled for June
14,2022.8

308. Moro responded to Silbert by saying: “Derar [Islim] and I are involved every step
[sic] of what has been happening . . . We will manage through this with help from you and DCG.”*
Moro reported that these steps included “drafting both internal and external talking points on the
[3AC] situation as needs arise.”

309. On June 13, 2022, Silbert reported to DCG’s board that 3AC defaulted and that
Genesis Global Capital’s “unsecured exposure,” or expected loss at the time, was “uncomfortably
big (well over $500 mm now)” and that “[t]hings have continued to deteriorate all around,”
including “the situation with [3AC]”, and that as a result, Silbert was expecting a “bank run.””

310. Silbert went on to explain that some of the collateral provided by 3AC was illiquid
as it consisted of shares of the GBTC issued by DCG-subsidiary Grayscale, which Genesis Global

Capital could not liquidate due to restrictions on sales of stock by the issuing company’s affiliates.

Accordingly, Silbert informed the board that he was “starting to think about bringing in equity

57 Id., §124.

8 NYAG Action, NYSCEF DOC. NO. 40, at NY-DCG_00068082.
% Id. at NY-DCG_00068083.

" NYAG Action, NYSCEF DOC. NO. 41.
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partners directly into Genesis,” showing concern for Genesis’ equity balance sheet, and stating
“[e]verything needs to be on the table” regarding financing.”!
311.  On June 13, 2022, Defendant Silbert wrote to Genesis Global Capital’s

management team: “Just want to make sure everybody is clear that Genesis [Capital] is not to sell

th[e] [GBTC] shares or enter into any transaction without consulting with me first.””?

312.  Also on June 13, 2020, Defendants caused the Company to tweet and Defendant
Moro to repost the following tweet that falsely represented that Genesis has “strong risk

management practices and frameworks™:

13 Michael Moro reposted

e Genesis m
GenesisTrading

Despite elevated market volatility, all
business operations continue to
function normally at Genesis. We have
strong risk management practices and
frameworks and remain committed to
supporting our clients through all market
conditions.

51AM - 6/13/22

https://x.com/GenesisTrading/status/15363605216828497927s=20

313. However, things were much different behind the scenes. Genesis Global Capital’s
Head of Trading Matthew Ballensweig was “nervous and rattled ... and [wasn’t] entirely thinking
straight” according to Defendant Moro, who agreed to help Ballensweig “shore up liquidity.”

314. For example, according to sworn testimony and evidence in U.S. v. Sam Bankman-
Fried, on or around June 13, 2022, Ballensweig in a Telegram chat with executives from Alemeda,
including Caroline Ellison (“Ellison) asked Alemeda to return hundreds of millions loaned to

Alemeda by Genesis Global Capital on an open-term basis: “hey, guys - seeing a fair amount of

7' NYAG Action, NYSCEF DOC. NO. 41; NYAG Compl., §126.
2NYAG Action, NYSCEF DOC. NO. 17 (“Am. Compl.”), filed Feb. 9, 2024, 9128.
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continued outflows from retail deposit aggregators, so to get ahead of this, we’re going to increase
the OT [open term] loan pullback to $400 million. Can you please let us know once the first batch
and second batch are sent. Do we have an ETA on the first 250 million?”

315.  On June 14, 2022, in advance of a strategy call with the DCG board and Genesis
Global Capital personnel Moro, Islim, and others, Silbert emailed the DCG’ board of directors
regarding Genesis Global Capital’s strategy after the 3AC default. In the email, Silbert presented
the option to “[j]ettison[] the Genesis Capital business” by not supplying the Company with
additional capital to strengthen its balance sheet, an admission that Genesis Global Capital as it
currently stood was unable to withstand continued withdrawals because it was insolvent.” Silbert
also set forth two additional options, the first being to “support Genesis” by helping Genesis Global
Capital to “stabilize its balance sheet, and the second being to fire Genesis’s CEO Moro with
Silbert himself replacing him as CEO of Genesis, while raising pre-IPO capital to “further
strengthen the balance sheet, or down the road once things have stabilized.” All three options
discussed in this email (jettisoning Genesis Global Capital, supporting Genesis Global Capital with
additional capital, and firing Moro with Silbert himself raising capital) were premised on the fact
that Genesis Global Capital was insolvent and unable to meet its obligations.

316. And on June 14, 2022, Silbert, on behalf of DCG’s board instructed that Moro and
Genesis Global Capital deviate from its normal lending operations and “continue aggressively
shrinking the loan book and, until such time as we have the right controls, risk monitoring, etc. in
place—and we’re through the winter—... to limit the extension of any new loans to

counterparties.””* Of course, as discussed elsewhere herein, Defendants had repeatedly assured

3 NYAG Action, NYSCEF DOC. NO. 70; NYAG Compl., §128.
" NYAG Compl., 127.
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Gemini, agent for hundreds of thousands of class members, that Genesis Global Capital already
had these controls and risk monitoring procedures in place.

317.  OnlJune 15,2022, Defendants Silbert, Moro, Islim, Kraines, as well as Ballensweig
and others strategized on how to proceed in a Microsoft Teams chat and agreed that the group
needed to prioritize concealing Genesis’s financial condition from lenders such as Plaintiffs and
class members, as well from as the public. For example, in the June 15, 2022 Teams Chat, in
advance of a call regarding the 3AC default, Ballensweig and Moro had the following exchange
regarding leaking Genesis’s overall financial health:

BALLENSWEIG: we need to still be very cautious about what we say
and how we sat it, we don’t know theyre not
recording . . . I know I sound like a conspiracy
theorist but Im very concerned about any leakage of
our overall net position

MORO: I agree with the caution. Happy to join.”

318. Later in the same June 15, 2022 Microsoft Teams Chat, Ballensweig shared the
following “good news,” highlighting the importance of Gemini Earn lenders to Genesis Global
Capital’s financial health and the group’s belief that and willingness to perpetuate the false notion
that Genesis Global Capital was in good financial health:

BALLENSWEIG: good news is this:

BALLENSWEIG: From Gemini: the rate of redemptions has been slowing
since 6/13 at 10: 00 pm

MARK MURPHY: Great

BALLENSWEIG: weve been defen[d]ing the castle all night and day on phone
with depositers, prosepcts etc [sic]

SILBERT: is there anything we/DCG can do to further install
confidence in Genesis?

> NYAG Action, NYSCEF DOC. NO. 75.
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BALLENSWEIG: it ultimately comes down to our ops/processing etc, as
people see our responsiveness, word spreads fast. We have
some portcos that have wanted to hop on calls today — I just
woke to Wyre, we’re speaking with Decentraland etc so if
they triangulate with you, you can just reaffirm our position
etc.

SILBERT: great ... marcus says that the word on the street is that
genesis is the “blue chip” in this mess . . . we need to
perpetuate that of course

BALLENSWEIG: yes definitely’®

319. Consistent with Silbert’s instructions to perpetuate the false notion that Genesis
Global Capital was in good financial condition and “blue chip,” on June 15, 2022 the Genesis
Entities tweeted via their shared Twitter account:

Genesis @GenesisTrading - Jun 15, 2022
Despite continued heightenad market volatility, the Genesis balance sheet is

strong and our business is operating normally. Our lending business
continues to meet client demand. Our trading business remains an essential
liquidity provider in the spot and derivatives markets.

QO 19 0 1 QO 232 thi 1,

320. Defendants Silbert, DCG, Murphy and Kraines, and Ballensweig re-tweeted this

statement on June 15, 2022 that falsely represented that Genesis Global Capital’s balance sheet

was “strong” when at that time it had massive unsecured exposure to 3AC. Far from “operating

normally,” the Defendants knew, or at least recklessly disregarded, that Genesis Global Capital
was facing a “bank run.”

321. To that end, Genesis employee Michael Paleokrassas told the group in the June 15,

2022 Microsoft Teams the following:

1.
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PALEOKRASSAS: Just heard from Josh B, he said that multiple clients
have stated that our tweet helped them get comfortable and keep their loans
to us.””’

322. Similarly, internal documents from Gemini indicate that several Gemini Earn
investors expressed being reassured by public communications that Defendants caused to be made
on behalf of Genesis Global Capital.

323.  On June 16, 2022, Defendant Moro and a managing director at Genesis Global
Capital discussed “how to think about the equity hole on the [Genesis] balance sheet and plan to

minimize that.”’® Yet, on June 17, 2022, Defendant Moro tweeted the following:

Michael Moro @michaelmoro - Jun 17, 2022
Replying to @michaelmoro

3/Genesis can confirm that we carefully and thoughtfully mitigated our
losses with a large counterparty who failed to meet a margin call to us
earlier this week. No client funds are impacted. We sold and/or hedged all
of the liquid collateral on hand to minimize any downside.

Qo9 11 109 Q s ihi A&

Michael Moro @michaelmoro - Jun 17, 2022

Replying to @michaelmoro

4/We will actively pursue recovery on any potential residual loss through

all means available, however our potential loss is finite and can be netted
against our own balance sheet as an organization. We have shed the risk

and moved on.

Q o 1 34 Q 406 ihi %

https://x.com/michaelmoro/status/1537822426536546306?s=20;

https://x.com/michaelmoro/status/1537822427790680066?s=20

324. Also on June 17, 2022, Defendants DCG, Kraines, and Ballensweig reposted

Defendant Moro’s twitter thread:

"7 Id. (emphasis added).
8 NYAG Am. Compl., §146.
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Matt Ballensweig @ ..
A very important thread from our CEQ
at @GenesisTrading during a critical
time in institutional crypto market
history. The leaders of this space
need to band together to set the
industry standard. Onwards and
upwards.

6/17/22

8 Michael Moro @mi...- 6/17/22
1/While our policy is to never
address specific client activity,
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11 Michael Kraines reposted

8

1/While our policy is to never address
specific client activity, we think it's
prudent to provide clarity and
transparency to the market in times of
great volatility and speculation. We want
our counterparties and clients to know

Michael Moro

@michaelmoro

Follow

1 Digital Currency Group reposted

Genesis

Please see this thread from Genesis
CEO, @MichaelMorolgd

2 Michael Moro @michaelm...- 6/17/22
1/While our policy is to never address
specific client activity, we think it's
prudent to provide clarity and
transparency to the market in times of

great volatility and speculation. We wan...

we think it's prudent to provide the following:

clarity and transparency to the

market in times of great volatilit... 11:40 AM - 6/17/22 TLASAM - B/122

325. DCG’s COO [Defendant Murphy] reviewed and edited these tweets before Moro
posted them. In strategizing the release of the tweets, DCG’s COO [Defendant Murphy] directed
Moro to send these tweets “from Moro[‘s] [personal Twitter account]” despite directions from
Genesis Global Capital’s compliance department that these tweets should come from the Genesis
Entities corporate account. The Genesis Entities reposted Moro’s tweets that same day.”

326. Similarly, in a June 17, 2022 phone call with Gemini’s risk management personnel,
Managing Director No. 1 [Ballensweig] stated, “Genesis remains solvent and operates [business
as usual] at the moment. With the strong [loan book] and capital support from DCG, Genesis has

b

no concerns on business operations.” In the same call, Managing Director No. 1 further stated,

“Genesis experienced a certain amount of losses from the liquidation, but will absorb the losses
using its own balance sheet.”%’
327. After the call with Gemini, Silbert and DCG’s COO [Defendant Murphy] were
updated that same day that Gemini “asked hard [questions] about [3AC],” but that Managing

Director No. 1 “fended it off.””8!

" Id., NYAG Compl., §133.
80 1., 9134,
81 7d., 9135,
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328. The tweets and statements to Gemini set forth above were false and misleading in
at least five ways.®

329. First, client funds had been impacted—the 3AC losses severely impaired Genesis
Capital’s ability to repay its counterparties, including Earn investors.3

330. Second, due to 3AC’s default on June 13, 2022, the Genesis Entities’ balance sheets
were not strong, solvent, or capable of absorbing the losses; the Genesis Entities suffered a loss
that exceeded their equity. Indeed, in a June 21, 2022 email, Silbert informed colleagues at DCG
that “the hole in Genesis equity due to the Three Arrows exposure is something they we [sic] will
need to fill by 6/30,” and asked his colleagues to “keep [that] between us.” Three days later, Silbert
further explained to DCG personnel “[w]e just can’t allow people inside or outside [to] question
Genesis’ solvency” due to Silbert’s concern that this could spark a bank run.®*

331. Third, the tweets discussed the sale or hedging of all “liquid” collateral while
concealing that hundreds of millions of dollars’ worth of the loans were secured by illiquid
collateral that could not be sold and was not hedged.®®

332. Fourth, Genesis Capital had not “shed the risk and moved on”—as of June 17,2022,
it still held a more than $1 billion receivable relating to 3AC as an uncollectible asset on its balance

sheet.3

82 Id., 9137.
8 Id., 9138.
8 Id., 9139.
85 1d., 9140.
8 Id., q141.

87



Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 94 of 183

333. Fifth, Genesis Capital was not operating “business as usual;” the business was
seeking to fill an equity deficiency and at Silbert’s direction on June 14, 2022, limited the
origination of new loans and started shrinking its loan book.%’

334. Asaresult of and in reliance on the statements made by Genesis to Gemini, Gemini
continued to send Genesis Global Capital additional investor funds after June 17, 2022.%8

335.  On or around June 20, 2022, in a Telegram chat with Alemeda executive Caroline
Ellison, Ballensweig indicated that he discussed Genesis’ loans to Alemeda with Sam Bankman-
Fried and further indicated that Genesis sought repayment of $500 million loaned to Alemeda:

BALLENSWEIG: hey there - so spoke with Sam [Bankman-Fried] and I’'m sure

he filled you in—wouldn’t be pushing you guys here if it
wasn’t totally necessary but we want to unwind $500 million
in 250 clips. If you guys can show us what that’s going to
cost, it would be helpful, but we’re basically in that position
where this is no longer a luxury.

336. Ellison testified that Ballensweig told her that Genesis was experiencing recalls
from its lenders and that she understood that Genesis needed Alemeda to repay $500 million in
loans from Genesis or that it “might go under”—directly contradicting Genesis Global Capital’s

representation that its balance sheet was “strong”:

Q. Can you just explain what you mean by recalls that Genesis was getting on their
end.

[Ellison] A. It meant Genesis was the money that they were lending us, they
were borrowing from others, including retail lending platforms, and customers were
withdrawing their money from those platforms, so Genesis had to have a way to
fulfill those withdrawals, and that’s why they needed their money back from us.

Q. This refers to speaking with Sam. What, if anything, did the defendant [Sam
Bankman-Fried] tell you about his call with Matt Ballensweig?

$7 1d., q142.
88 1d., q136.
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[Ellison] A. He told me that he talked to Matt and that Matt said that Genesis really
needed the money and implied that they might go under or have to default on some
loans if they didn’t getit. ...

337. Silbert’s focus on concealing Genesis’s insolvency (or “equity hole”) to maintain
the false perception of Genesis Global Capital’s financial health is further highlighted in a June
21, 2022 instant messaging thread in which Silbert indicated he had told a new employee the
following:

SILBERT: “-our industry is in the midst of a healthy cleansing and
deleveraging, but it is painful and nobody has been. spared, even us

-across DCG and Genesis we have about —$2 billion of liquidity, but that
is precious right now and we are in bunker mode and not deploying in order
to be able to withstand whatever negative event comes next

- we are all focused on making sure that the trust and confidence in Genesis
remains high because we can’t risk money leaving Genesis and depleting
our liquidity - once we get through this, the Genesis access to low priced
capital via the institutional investor and retail channel like Gemini is going
to give us a major competitive advantage in a market where there is limited
liquidity and will help power the next stage of investing

- what I didn’t say, which we need to keep between us, is that even though
our liquidity is super super strong right now, the hole in Genesis equity due
to the Three Arrows exposure is something they we will need to fill by
6/30. 1t is my sense that DCGI will play a role here in addressing the hole,
hopefully temporarily, through the pledge of assets or if need be, the
downstream of certain/all assets until prices recover. The challenge is we
don’t know what will be the recovery on the Three Arrows claim, or what
will be the BTC price on 6/30, so it is difficult to calculate the hole. We’re
trying to come up with as many options as possible. This is super
confidential/sensitive stuff, so please don’t share with anybody, including
Daniel, until he is in the circle of trust.”>

(Emphasis added).

¥ NYAG Action, NYSCEF DOC NO. 44.
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338.  OnJune 24,2022, Silbert reiterated to colleagues that “[w]e just can’t allow people
inside or outside [to] question Genesis’ solvency.””°

339.  On June 27, 2022, Genesis Global Capital’s then CEO, Moro, emailed DCG and
Genesis Global Capital executives, explaining the need to show a “well-capitalized” balance sheet
to counterparties like Gemini on June 30, 2022:

Once the equity problem is solved, the liquidity problem is much easier to solve. I

think we’ll find people to lend us additional [cryptocurrency] with a well-

capitalized 6/30 balance sheet.

And yes, at some point, our losses in [3AC] and potentially Babel will become

public. But if we’re able to show our balance sheet after all of that happened and it

still looks strong, I think that 1) people will care less about the losses and 2) we’ll

be better able to operate from a place of strength going forward.

But as I told Barry this evening, we have a lot of work to do before we can get back

to full-steam-ahead on lending. Better to think of it in wind-down mode for the time

being, and just manage liquidity as loans roll off. Then we can look to rebuild.”!

340. In a June 28, 2022 email, Moro wrote to Silbert that he had discussed with other
Genesis Capital representatives how to “best fill the equity hole,” euphemistically referring to the
Genesis Entities’ negative equity value caused by the more than $1 billion in losses. Moro wrote
that “[w]hile liquidity [was] still [Genesis Capital’s] number one focus, [they] only ha[d] a couple
of days until quarter-end.” Thus, he proposed an “overall plan” of injecting certain assets to “plug
the equity hole” and then “work on consistent messaging to speak to the loss to counterparties
when we put out [a] new balance sheet” in an effort to “[r]estore confidence in the market and

keep looking to borrow with term.” Moro continued:

We wouldn’t necessarily need to touch the [proposed] assets [that DCG would
inject] ... for liquidity purposes, it could just be for balance sheet support. And then

% NYAG Compl., ]147.
9 4., q143.
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with a strengthened balance sheet, we would be able to source additional unsecured
funding to be able to continue to manage our liquidity and withdrawal obligations.*?

341. At this time, the Earn investors were one of Genesis Global Capital’s largest
sources of unsecured funding.”?

342. Silbert responded: “It is certainly our hope and intention to help Genesis address
the equity-hole—hopefully by 6/30. To that end, the Genesis team should be working 24/7 with
DCG and [DCG’s subsidiary, DCG International Investments, Ltd.] teams to figure out all possible
ways to do so along the lines” outlined in Moro’s email.**

i. 3AC Declares Bankruptcy.

343.  On June 27, 2022, 3AC was required to liquidate its assets by a British Virgin
Islands court following default on several of its liabilities. Subsequently, on July 1, 2022, 3AC
sought Chapter 15 bankruptcy protection within the United States Bankruptcy Court for the
Southern District of New York.

344. 3AC’s bankruptcy filings revealed it had procured billions in loans from Genesis
Global Capital. As of July 1, 2022, 3AC was indebted to Genesis Global Capital to the tune of
approximately $2.3 billion. Post-liquidation, 3AC’s outstanding obligation to Genesis Global
Capital was $1.1 billion.

345. Because 3AC also owed other creditors billions of dollars, Genesis Global Capital
would not recover any amount close to the $1.1 billion outstanding, which should have resulted in
an immediate recognition of a substantial impairment of the 3AC debt on Genesis Global Capital’s

balance sheet.

2 Id., §144.
5 Id., §145.
% Id., §146.
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346. The insolvency of 3AC sent shockwaves through the digital asset market, inducing
a credit crunch that detrimentally impacted digital asset companies like Genesis Global Capital
and its competitors. This crisis led to several of Genesis Global Capital’s competitors filing for
bankruptcy protection or seeking emergency lines of credit, reflecting the severity of the resultant
turmoil.

ii. Defendant Silbert Saves DCG and Himself by Draining
Liquidity from Genesis.

347. At the same time as Genesis was, in effect, insolvent and facing an “equity hole,”
starting in June 2022, Silbert and DCG began extracting liquidity from Genesis Global Capital
despite Silbert’s own acknowledgment of the perilous financial condition the Company was in.

348. Remarkably, on or about June 18, 2022, Genesis Global Capital lent approximately
18,697 bitcoin (valued at over $355 million as of June 18, 2022) to affiliate, DCGI, on an open-
term basis which reduced Genesis’s liquidity when every communication acknowledged the need
to improve Genesis’s liquidity to meet withdrawals.”

349. Further, Genesis Global Capital bankruptcy filings show that in June and July of
2022, Defendant Silbert personally extracted over $100 million of personal capital he had invested
with Genesis Global Capital via HQ Cash Management Fund LP by recalling investments HQ

Cash Management Fund LP had made in Genesis Global Capital:

% Id., q185.
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Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP Dec-21 S - S -
Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP Jan-22 § . 5 (1,000,000.00) $ (1,000,000.00)
Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP Feb-22 § (1,000,000.00) S (1,004,554.79) $ (4,554.79)
Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP Mar-22 $ (1,004,554.79) $ (1,011,297.69) § (6,742.90)
Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP Apr-22 § (1,011,297.69) $ (1,018,813.16) $ (7,515.47)
Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP May-22 S (1,018,813.16) S (100,526,140.24) $ (99,507,327.08)
Genesis Giobal Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP Jun-22 § (100,526,140.24) $ (1,197,32765) S 99,328,81259
Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP ul-22 § (1,197,327.65) S - -4 1,197,327.65
Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP Aug-22 § - s - s -
Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP Sep-22 § ] $ -
Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP Oct-22 § S $

Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP Nov-22 $ $ $

Genesis Global Capital, LLC HQ Cash Management Fund LP Dec-22 § S $ -
Genesis Global Capital, LLC _HQ Cash Management Fund LP 1/19/23 $ S - 3 =

Capital withdrawn

350. Bankruptey filings show further that other DCG and Genesis Global Capital
insiders were extracting hundreds of millions of dollars’ worth of capital from Genesis Global

Capital by redeeming their investments. The following two charts show that other Defendant

DCQG, Genesis Global Capital and GTT insiders extracted millions out of Genesis Global Capital:

SOFA 4- Rider 2; Wages, Benefits, Loans and Other Beneficial Transfers

NAME DATE DESCRIPTION VALUE

CONHEENEY, THOMAS 1/18/2023 Director Fees* s 250,000.00
Director
KRAINES, MICHAEL 2/1/2022 Interast Paid 3 2,123.28
Director 3/1/2022 Interest Paid 5 1,917.81
4/1/2022 Interast Paid s 2,123.28
5/2/2022 Interest Paid S 2,054.79
6/1/2022 Interest Paid ) 2,123.28
7/1/2022 Interast Paid S 2,054.79
8/1/2022 Interast Paid s 2,123.28
9/1/2022 Imterast Paid s 2,123.28
10/3/2022 Interest Paid S 2,054.79
11/1/2022 Interest Paid E 2,123.28
PALEOKRASSAS, MICHAEL 1/7/2022 Borrow Returnad s £0,000.00
Former Co-Head of Trading and Lending |2/24/2022 Borrow Returned S 40,000.00
4/6/2022 Borrow Returnad s 20,000.00
4/12/2022 Borrow Returned S 70,000.00
5/3/2022 Borrow Returned L1 75,000.00
6/15/2022 Borrow Returnad s 1,295,890.61
6/15/2022 Interest Paid S 37.35
6/15/2022 Interast Paid s 4,970.53
11/10/2022 Borrow Returned s 37,801.3%
PRETTO-SAKMANN, ARIANNA 6/13/2022 Loan Book Activity S 758,915.37
Chief Legal Officer
SILBERT, BARRY 2/1/2022 Interest Paid S 23,671.23
Chief Executive Officer 3/1/2022 Interest Paid s 24,547.95
(Digital Currency Group) 4/1/2022 Interest Paid 5 27,178.08
4/14/2022 Intarast Paid S 11,397.26
4/14/2022 Borrow Returned S 4,000,000.00
Capital withdrawn
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SOFA Question 4: Payments or other transfers of property made within 1 year before filing this case that benefited any insider
SOFA 4 - Rider 3: Coin Transactions
NAME DATE TYPE DESCRIPTION COIN COIN QUANTITY COIN VALUE (USD)
BALLENSWEIG, MATT 10/12/2022 | Outfiow | Coliateral Returned| BTC 425 5 81,408.75
Former Co-Head of Trading and Lending
PALEOKRASSAS, MICHAEL 6/15/2022| Outflow | Borrow Returned |BTC 415.58718963| S
Former Co-Head of Trading and Lending | 6/15/2022| Outflow | Borrow Retumed  |USDC 12,173.504| 5
11/8/2022| Outfiow | Borrow Returmed |ETH 225000 5
11/9/2022| Cutfliow | Borrow Retumed |BCH 415.70924001| %
11/9/2022| Outfiow | Borrow Retumed |USDC 8,420.358958| S
11/8/2022| outhiow | Borrow Returmed  |SUSHI 19,600.27643424| §
11/9/2022| Outfiow | Borrow Returmned |ZEC 2,238.08806066 S
PRETTO-SAKMANN, ARIANNA 6/18/2022| Outflow | Borrow Retumed | ETH 2035833993 5
Chief Legal Officer 6/18/2022| Outflow | Interest Paid ETH 1.19938374| S
6/20/2022] Outflow | Borrow Returmed | FiL 120.0573083| 5
5/20/2022| Outflow | Interest Paid ETH 0.05692945| 5
6/20/2022{ Outfiow | Interest Paid FiL 9.17193948| 5
Capital withdrawn

351. As a former restructuring investment banker, Defendant Silbert knew that if
Genesis Global Capital recognized its own insolvency immediately upon 3AC’s collapse in June
2022 as it should have, it would have had to halt redemptions and potentially declare bankruptcy,
which would have prevented anyone, including Defendant Silbert and other Genesis and DCG
insiders, from withdrawing their capital from Genesis Global Capital.

352. Instead, at least in part to preserve access to their personal investments, as alleged
below, the Exchange Act Defendants orchestrated the sham DCG Promissory Note transaction and
used it as an excuse to continue to claim Genesis Global Capital was solvent while they extracted

their own capital.

C. DEFENDANTS FILLED THE EQUITY HOLE WITH A DECEITFUL AND
TRANSACTION AND CONTINUED MISREPRESENTING GENESIS’S
FINANCIAL CONDITION.

353. Asdetailed above, from mid-June through June 30, 2022, DCG and Genesis Global
Capital engaged in a communications campaign designed to conceal Genesis Global Capital’s
financial condition and mislead counterparties into believing Genesis Capital was operating

“business as usual.” Those counterparties included Gemini, who Gemini Earn investors had
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appointed as their agent for “all purposes” relating to the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements
and who was tasked with conducting ongoing due diligence on behalf of their behalf.”

354. The economic reality of Genesis Global Capital’s financial condition dictated that
Defendants should have caused the Company to declare itself insolvent and either seek
recapitalization or restructuring. The myriad internal communications cited above make clear that
Defendants were aware that the Company was insolvent, yet schemed in ways designed
specifically to conceal this fact. Indeed, instead of causing the Company to truthfully admit its
insolvency, Defendants instead caused Genesis Global Capital to dubiously maintain that 3AC’s
$1.1 billion debt to Genesis Global Capital was still worth $1.1 billion and engage in a deceitful
financial transaction with DCG and Silbert designed to mislead the Company’s counterparties and
their agents.

355. This course of conduct was, according to Defendant Silbert, decided upon and
executed by himself, DCG and its board: “DCG and its board determined that it was in the best
interest of Genesis [Global Capital], its lenders, and DCG to try to help support Genesis [Global
Capital].”’

356. Accordingly, on June 30, 2022, Silbert, DCG, and the other Defendants caused
Genesis Global Capital to engage in a sham transaction, causing Genesis to “sell” 3AC’s debt to
DCG in exchange for the DCG Promissory Note executed by Defendant Silbert to Genesis Global
Capital for $1.1 billion due in 10 years at an interest rate of 1%. Under the [DCG]Promissory
Note, DCG agreed to pay Genesis Global Capital a decade later at only 1% interest per annum to

“replace” the receivables Genesis Global Capital would have otherwise received from Genesis

% Id., 9123.
97 Barry Silbert, Q&A, https://dcgupdate.com/ (Jan. 10, 2023) (emphasis added).
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Asia Pacific for the 3AC loans. Genesis Global Capital categorized this $1.1 billion as an asset on
its balance sheet.”®

357.  Silbert signed the [DCG] Promissory Note as CEO of DCG.”

358. According to DCG, the [DCG] Promissory Note was fully approved by DCG’s
board of directors, which includes Defendant Silbert.

359. Moro signed the [DCG] Promissory Note as the CEO of Genesis Capital and
Genesis Holdco, and as director of Genesis Asia Pacific.!%

360. DCQG dictated the terms of the [DCG] Promissory Note, including the ten-year
duration and 1% interest rate. DCG provided no collateral to secure its obligations under the [DCG]
Promissory Note. To the contrary, DCG’s repayment of the [DCG] Promissory Note was
subordinate to DCG’s repayment of an over $350 million credit facility to unrelated third parties.
DCG’s pre-existing $350 million obligation reduced the likelihood that DCG could repay the
[DCG] Promissory Note.'*!

361. The [DCG] Promissory Note failed to ensure that Genesis Global Capital had
sufficient capital to operate its business. The [DCG] Promissory Note required DCG to provide
cash payments in no sooner than 10 years, whereas the 3AC-related liabilities DCG purportedly
“assumed” were callable on demand; this created a mismatch between the [DCG] Promissory Note
and Genesis Global Capital’s billions of dollars’ worth of on-demand obligations to Earn users.

Genesis Global Capital’s and DCG’s internal documents reveal that the [DCG] Promissory Note’s

ten-year duration and 1% interest rate failed to address the “structural hole” caused by the 3AC

% NYAG Compl., 147.
9 1., 9148,
100 74 41149
101 /4. 91150.
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losses. In an internal document, Genesis Capital’s Chief Risk Officer acknowledged that the
[DCG] Promissory Note “wreaks havoc on our balance sheet impacting everything we do.”!'*
According to filings in the Genesis Bankruptcy Action, Michael Patchen was Genesis Global
Capital’s Chief Risk Officer during the period January 19, 2022 through October 2022.

i. The Promissory Note Did Not Change Genesis’s Financial
Condition: Genesis Remained Insolvent.

362. This June 30, 2022 “sale,” however, was a sham. There was no exchange of money
and no movement of capital. Moreover, this sale could never have occurred between two parties
negotiating at arm’s length for at least three reasons:

363. First, the 3AC debt was not worth $1.1 billion at the time, and is not worth $1.1
billion now. The odds of Genesis Global Capital or DCG collecting anything near the full value of
the debt were and remain incredibly low, and no party negotiating at arm’s length with Genesis
Global Capital would have valued the debt at $1.1 billion.

364. Second, even if the debt were worth $1.1 billion, the terms of payment were simply
not competitive with the financing terms DCG would have received from a nonrelated party. No
party other than a subsidiary completely controlled by Defendants DCG and Silbert would have
“sold” a $1.1 billion debt for a 10-year promissory note at 1% interest.

365. Third, given the first two realities, there is simply no reasonable possibility the
resulting DCG Promissory Note from DCG is worth anything close to $1.1 billion. According to
Gemini, given the duration of the note and the underlying economic realities, the “note would be

heavily discounted (approximately 70%) to reflect its value as of today (perhaps $300 million).”

192 14, 41154,
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366. In fact, on July 11, 2023 Genesis Global Capital itself filed a Notice of Filing of
Exhibit to Disclosure Statement in the Genesis Bankruptcy Action which estimated the value of
the DCG Promissory Note between $90 million (a 92% discount) to $323 million (a 70%
discount).!*

367. According to an interview on the podcast Unchained on or around November 4,
2023 with Genesis investors who invested directly with Genesis and were members of an ad hoc
committee of creditors, after the Class Period Defendant Silbert informed a steering committee of
Genesis Global Capital creditors that he placed a value of $200 million on the [DCG] Promissory
Note: “Genesis was saying it’s worth $1.1 billion. . . When we demanded the payment from Barry
[Silbert] for it, he said, oh, well, you can’t expect us to pay $1.1 billion for that piece of paper. It’s
only worth 200 million.”

368. The DCG Promissory Note was a sham because the loan was uncollectable, and the
economic reality was that Genesis Global Capital was insolvent at the time Defendants DCG and
Silbert caused Genesis Global Capital to execute the DCG Promissory Note.

369. Worse, after Defendant Silbert executed the DCG Promissory Note on June 30,
2022, Defendants Moro, Islim, Kraines and Murphy caused Genesis Global Capital at the direction
of and/or subject to the control of Defendants DCG and Silbert to disseminate misleading and false
financial statements to prospective and existing investors, directly or via their designated agent,
Gemini.

370. In furtherance of the Defendants’ scheme, from July 2022 through November 2022,

Genesis Global Capital sent Gemini, as the agent of Earn investors, reports falsely describing

193 In re: Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, et al., Case No.: 23-10063, ECF No. 488 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.).
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Genesis Global Capital’s financial condition. For example, these reports falsely included the
[DCG] Promissory Note as an asset that could be reduced to cash within a year. To further deceive
Earn investors, Genesis Capital concealed and suppressed disclosure of quarterly income and cash
flow statements from Gemini from June 30, 2022, through November 16, 2022. Genesis Global
Capital also omitted explanatory footnotes to its balance sheet because those footnotes would have
revealed the [DCG] Promissory Note’s true nature. Genesis Global Capital’s CFO and its finance
team avoided joining phone calls with counterparties to conceal Genesis Global Capital’s financial
condition. Instead, members of Genesis Global Capital’s sales and lending teams answered

financial questions using only approved talking points that contained no explanation of the [DCG]

Promissory Note or its terms.'%

371.  OnJuly 6, 2022, in reference to 3AC, Moro tweeted:

Michael Moro @michaelmoro - Jul 6, 2022

Replying to @michaelmaoro

4/ Since then, we worked with @DCGco to find the optimal strategy to
further isolate the risk. DCG has assumed certain liabilities of Genesis
related to this counterparty to ensure we have the capital to operate and
scale our business for the long-term.

O 34 1 . Q 88 iht A &

Michael Moro @michaelmoro - Jul 6, 2022

Replying to @michaelmoro

3/ The loans to this counterparty had a weighted average margin
requirement of over 80%. Once they were unable to meet the margin call
requirements, we immediately sold collateral and hedged our downside.

05 11 1 Q 7 ihi [ [

https://x.com/michaelmoro/status/15447330410457866267s=20;

https://x.com/michaelmoro/status/1544733042849320960?s=20.

14 NYAG Compl., 414.
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372. DCG’s COO [Defendant Murphy] and Head of Communications [Amanda Cowie]
edited and helped draft these tweets. Silbert reviewed these tweets before Moro posted them.'?®
DCG approved these tweets before they were published.!%

373. The tweets were false, misleading, and omitted material facts. DCG did not simply
“assume” the $1.1 billion, open-term liability related to 3AC, which could be called at any time;
it replaced that liability with an illiquid ten-year [DCG] Promissory Note.'?”

374. According to Gemini, this statement was false and misleading. In reality, DCG had
not ensured that Genesis Global Capital had the capital to operate. In fact, DCG had not given
Genesis Global Capital so much as a penny of actual funding to make up for the 3AC losses.
Instead, DCG entered into a 10-year promissory note with Genesis Global Capital at an interest
rate of 1% — due in 2032. This note was a complete gimmick that did nothing to improve Genesis
Global Capital’s immediate liquidity position or make its balance sheet solvent. As described
above, no cash, capital, or assets changed hands from DCG to Genesis Global Capital.

375.  On July 6, 2022, Genesis Global Capital’s Head of Communications and Public
Relations [Marc Yaklofsky] sent a document titled “Talking Points to [Three Arrows] Questions”
to Moro, as well as DCG’s COO [Defendant Murphy], DCG’s Head of Communications [ Amanda
Cowie], and various other senior employees at Genesis Capital and DCG with instructions to
“review and approve.” DCG’s Head of Communications helped draft these talking points. DCG’s

COO also reviewed these talking points on July 6, 2022. These talking points were to be used by

Genesis Capital personnel in conversations with counterparties, including Gemini.'%

15 14 94152,

106 NYAG Am. Compl., q161.
Y7 NYAG Compl., 9153.

108 14 9157,
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376. These talking points did not provide any information regarding the [DCG]
Promissory Note, its ten-year duration or 1% interest rate, or the $1.1 billion value of Genesis
Global Capital’s losses. Instead, the talking points included the misrepresentations that DCG
“absorbed” the losses, that Genesis Global Capital was “well capitalized,” and that “DCG has
assumed certain liabilities of Genesis related to [Three Arrows] to ensure [Genesis Global Capital]
ha[d] more than adequate capital to operate and scale our business for the long-term.”!%

377. Relying on these talking points, on July 6, 2022, Genesis Entities’ Co-Head of
Trading and Lending, Managing Director No.1, (Ballensweig) informed Gemini, both over the
phone and in writing, that the 3AC “[I]osses [were] predominantly absorbed by and netted against
DCQG balance sheet” and that Genesis Global Capital remained “well-capitalized.” Genesis Global
Capital misled investors and omitted material facts regarding its financial condition during these
communications, including that Genesis Capital’s balance sheet contained an illiquid $1.1 billion
[DCG] Promissory Note.!'!°

378. The same day—July 6, 2022—representatives of Genesis Global Capital and/or
GGT spoke to Gemini representatives (the “July 6 Call”). People participating from Gemini
wanted accurate information about Genesis Global Capital’s financial condition.

379.  During the July 6 Call, Genesis Global Capital representatives made false and
misleading statements about Genesis Global Capital’s financial condition. These included false
statements about Genesis Global Capital’s assets and the nature of the collateral it was holding

against loans Genesis Global Capital had made.

19 4., 9158,
10 14, 4159,
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380. Following the July 6 Call, Ballensweig sent an email to Gemini (the “July 6 Email”)
attaching three documents. The July 6 Email and its attachments contained multiple false
statements.

381. One attachment to the July 6 Email is a document entitled “Three Arrows Post-
Mortem.” This document stated, in part:

We previously stated in June that we mitigated our losses with respect to a large

counterparty who failed to meet a margin call. Now that the BVI bankruptcy

process has commenced, we can confirm that the counterparty was Three Arrows

Capital.

The loans to this counterparty had a weighted average margin requirement of over

80%. Once they were unable to meet the margin call requirements, we immediately

sold collateral and hedged our downside.

Since then, we worked with DCG to find the optimal strategy to further isolate the

risk. DCG has assumed certain liabilities of Genesis related to this counterparty to

ensure we have the capital to operate and scale our business for the long-term.

382. Statements in the “Three Arrows Post-Mortem” were false. It was not true that
“DCG has assumed certain liabilities of Genesis.” It was not true that Genesis Global Capital
ensured that it had the “capital to operate . . . for the long term.”

383. The second document attached to the July 6 Email is entitled “Gemini Risk Metric

Request” and has a section titled “Financial Position per Asset.” It included the following table:

Current Receivable Liabilities

Assets Loans Collateral Rec. Borrows Collateral Pay.
Total $3,377,241,616 $4,449,809,050 $2,845,541,484 $7,178,964,609 $3,401,109,542
USD / Stables $697 626,546 $2,302,015,337 $182,699,.279 $3,913,570.170 $901,183,977
BTC $376,993,113 $1,383,698,893 $668,600,703 $2,130,962,286 $277,037 598
ETH $205,767,255 $558,439,389 $581,873,409 $769,744 681 $582,174 981
Other Assets $2,096,854,702 $205,655.432 $1,268,146,027 $364,687 472 $1,640,712.985

Assets $10,672,592,150 Liabilities $10.580,074,150 Equity $92,518,000 |

384. The table in the Gemini Risk Metric Request document is a fraud, because it

includes the DCG Promissory Note as a “Current Asset” (within “Other Assets”).
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385. As a matter of generally accepted accounting principles—and common
understanding—a “current asset” refers to cash and other resources that are reasonably expected
to be realized in cash within a one-year period.'!! The term thus specifically excludes amounts that
are owed by an affiliate but are not collectible in the ordinary course of business within a year.!!?

386. By including the DCG Promissory Note at its full-face value within the category
of “Current Assets,” Genesis Global Capital falsely represented that there was $1.1 billion in value
on its balance sheet that could be collected in cash within one year. The DCG Promissory Note is
worth only a fraction of its notional value and does not mature for 10 years. The note is plainly not
a current asset, but Genesis Global Capital falsely presented it as one in order to prevent Gemini
Earn investors’ appointed agent Gemini from pulling Gemini Earn investments from Genesis
Global Capital.

387. It is not a matter of conjecture that the DCG Promissory Note is included in the
“Current Assets” category in the Financial Position per Asset table. Gemini specifically inquired
about this and received more lies from Genesis in response.

388. On July 27, 2022, a Gemini representative sent Genesis an email inquiring about

the “Other Assets” row in the “Current Assets” column (as depicted by Genesis in a subsequent

iteration of the Financial Position per Asset table) and highlighted it:

1 See, e.g., FASB Accounting Standards Codification 4§210-10-45-1, 210-10-45-3.

112 See, e.g., FASB Accounting Standards Codification 4210-10-45-1.d; id. 9210-10-45-4.c (“current assets” do not
encompass “Receivables arising from unusual transactions (such as . . . loans or advances to affiliates, officers, or
employees) that are not expected to be collected within 12 months.”).
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Current Rpoeiy able LAl IIes

Ancert ¥ L oans Collat Rec Bonoem Colat Pay
Totsl $1630 $5108 $2.516 §7 038 4010
USD / Susbles 28 223 177 3466 11%
Big L-% ] 1.8 49 FAL ¥4 rey)
E™ 490 w2 422 1061 <0
Ofrxr Acscts 2173 m 1,478 148 1756
[ Assets $1.251 Liabilities §11,057 Equity 194 I

389. According to Gemini, on July 27, 2022, Gemini asked Genesis Global Capital: “Do
we know what’s included in the $2.2bn other assets? Are they all crypto or a mix of crypto and
non-crypto? Can you please shed some light on this?”

390. On July 28, 2022, a Genesis Global Capital employee sent the following response:

“Other assets” is a real-time metric where we looked to replicate, digital currency

loans receivable on a real-time basis. This is comprised of a $500mm in alts,

$500mm Grayscale shares, $1.1bn in receivables from related parties.

391.  Genesis Global Capital’s July 28, 2022 statement thus confirms that the $1.1 billion
DCG Promissory Note was included in the “Other Assets” row in the “Current Assets” column
represented on the documents given to Gemini. That was fraudulent. The DCG Promissory Note
was not “receivable on a real-time basis.”

392. In addition, the Risk Metric report shared with Gemini on July 6 contained another
section, labeled “Loan Book Metrics,” in which Genesis Global Capital purported to provide
information regarding (among other things) the weighted average duration of its outstanding
portfolio of loans.

393. The Loan Book Metrics table stated, falsely, that the overall weighted average

duration of Genesis Global Capital’s outstanding loans was just 54.3 days:
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Loan Book Metrics

Duration calcwlated as Expiry Days from Today (Open Term@s ¥ Days). Rating from f 4o 12 comesponds (o A to F rating, directionally
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3 demomtrable outitandng rish managerment
i 4
Weighed Avg i low tisk profile; strong capitalztion: solid returns and performance
Loan Duration (Days) Rating 5 trends. modest beverage, strong risk management
Total 54.3 5.5 7 moderate rivk profile; wntained capitalization; sustained positive
USD / Stables 76.3 51 ] returns and performance, demonitrable debt service Capacity
usoT 58.9 44 9 astabiiohd ik mepasgenment
minimum acceptable rak profie; thart histary of reults. thin
10 captaliration; sdverie developments
BTC 237 55 = : . 1
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394. Genesis Global Capital’s statement that the weighted average duration of its
outstanding loans was just 54.3 days was yet another fraud, because that calculation excluded the
$1.1 billion DCG Promissory Note and its 10-year duration. Had the DCG Promissory Note been
included, upon information and belief, the resulting calculation would have yielded a weighted
average loan duration of more than 765 days—approximately 14 times the figure that Genesis
Global Capital falsely reported.

395. Genesis Global Capital excluded the DCG Promissory Note from its loan-duration
calculations in order to conceal the existence and terms of the DCG Promissory Note from Genesis
Global Capital’s investors, thereby misrepresenting its true financial position.

396. Another attachment to the July 6 Email purported to be Genesis Global Capital’s
balance sheet as of June 30, 2022. This document also materially misrepresented Genesis Global
Capital’s financial condition.

397. As with the “Financial Position per Asset” table, the balance sheet did not disclose
the existence of the $1.1 billion promissory note. Instead, apparently, the note was included as an
asset on the balance sheet in a line item labeled “Receivable from related parties”—which had a

stated value of approximately $1.137 billion. The DCG Promissory Note was included on the
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balance sheet at its full face value of $1.1 billion, even though, as discussed above, its true fair
value was only a small fraction of that amount.

398. The purpose of misrepresenting the DCG Promissory Note’s value is obvious:
despite including the note at its full face value, the balance sheet showed “Total member’s equity”
of just $92.5 million. If the DCG Promissory Note had been included on the balance sheet at any
reasonable estimate of its fair value, it would have disclosed that Genesis Global Capital was
insolvent by at least hundreds of millions of dollars.

399. In the following weeks and months, Genesis Global Capital made numerous other
false statements to Gemini. These included, for example, updates to the false “Risk Metric”
document described above, which contained the same Financial Position per Asset table that
falsely included the DCG Promissory Note as a Current Asset. These updates were shared on a
regular (sometimes daily) basis with Gemini.

4%5. On July 18, 2022, DCG filed a bankruptcy claim against 3AC for more than $1
billion. The same day, DCG’s COO (Defendant Murphy) instructed Managing Director No. 1
(Ballensweig) in writing to “manage [G]emini and the other largest counterparties” because DCG
was concerned that Earn investors would withdraw their assets. Thus, on July 18, 2022, Managing
Director No.1 [Ballensweig] told Gemini’s risk personnel conducting due diligence for Earn
investors: “There might be some information relating to DCG’s claim against [3AC] that gets
published today or tomorrow. None of this is new information and all of our loses [sic] have
already been absorbed by DCG/realized on our balance sheet.... All of the losses have already

been reflected and are with DCG.”'!3

3 NYAG Compl., 4160.
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431, Even after July 18, 2022, Gemini transferred hundreds of millions of dollars” worth
of investor assets to Genesis Global Capital under Earn.'!*

4{#2. These statements on July 6 and 18, 2022, were false, misleading, and omitted
material information. DCG did not “absorb” the Genesis Entities’ losses. The [DCG] Promissory
Note concealed those losses on Genesis Capital’s balance sheet but did not replace the lost open-
term assets. On July 7, 2022, Managing Director No. 1 [Ballensweig] described the issue to DCG’s
COO [Defendant Murphy] as follows:

the issue is more structural ... even though DCG took on liability from [Genesis

Asia Pacific], it still leaves a liquidity hole if we were to conceptually wind the

book down to nothing, the liquidity hole long-term = the $900 m2m loss on [Three

Arrows] + the lack of liquidity on the GBTC collateral which is another $450mm,

so structurally, we have about 1.345B we’d need to get in the form of long-term

debt or equity to ultimately have enough liquid capital to wind everything down.!!>

&5, In another communication dated July 22, 2022, Managing Director No. 1
(Ballensweig) explained to a high-level DCG employee that the 3AC losses created a “[d]uration
mismatch [at Genesis Capital] because we had [one billion] of open term assets with [Three
Arrows] which no longer exist and thus cannot be used to offset all of our open term liabilities”
including liabilities to the Earn investors. Managing Director No. 1 [Ballensweig] continued to
explain that there was an additional “asset quality mismatch because $500 [million] of the
collateral we absorbed to offset the [Three Arrows] losses was GBTC which isn’t liquid. So both
of these things on net contribute to the overall net liquidity gap [Genesis Capital] [has] as an

organization.”!!6

1474, 9161,
15 4., 9162.
16 14, 4163.
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444.  Further, the losses were not reflected on Genesis Capital’s balance sheet—they
were reflected on Genesis Asia Pacific’s Q2 2022 income statement, which Genesis Capital never
provided to Gemini.'!”

3%, On July 21, 2022, Genesis Global Capital’s CFO corrected some of these
misstatements, writing in an email to a member of Genesis Capital’s sales team: “[w]e should
avoid using the word ‘well-capitalized’” and “DCG didn’t absorb the loss.” The same day, Genesis
Capital’s CFO also messaged Managing Director No. 1 [Ballensweig] and several members of the
lending team: “[w]e have to stop making reference that we are well capitalized.”!'®

4. On July 21, 2022, Genesis Global Capital’s CFO informed DCG and the Genesis
Entities’ Heads of Communications of similar false statements contained in Genesis Capital’s and
DCG’s talking points. Neither DCG nor Genesis Global Capital corrected any prior misstatements
made to Gemini.'"

437,  Genesis Global Capital’s CFO objected to these false statements to further conceal
Genesis Global Capital’s financial condition. As Genesis Global Capital’s CFO explained to
Genesis Global Capital’s Chief Marketing Officer on July 21, 2022: “I don’t want sales to tell
people we have no losses and then ask me to be on a call to justify that.”!

&#. Genesis Global Capital’s CFO and its finance team avoided joining phone calls
with counterparties to conceal Genesis Global Capital’s financial condition. Instead, members of

Genesis Global Capital’s sales and lending teams answered financial questions using only

approved talking points that contained no explanation of the [DCG] Promissory Note or its terms.

17 1d., 9164
18 4., 4165.
19 14, 9166.
120 14, 4167,
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In a private message dated August 30, 2022, Genesis Global Capital’s CFO confided to a
colleague:

We are only comfortable to share what will yield the best outcome for the firm.

[Having the finance team] on the call without anticipated questions is not putting

finance on the spot. It’s putting the firm on the spot. That’s what we have to convey

[to Genesis Capital personnel] [and] why [having the finance team join

counterparty calls] will be putting ¢ suites and [the] firm “at risk.”!?!

4% Starting in July 2022, and continuing multiple times per week until November 16,
2022, Genesis Global Capital provided reports to Gemini that listed the value of Genesis Global
Capital’s “current assets.” A “current asset” is one that can be reduced to cash or cash equivalents
within the course of one year. These reports fraudulently categorized the [DCG] Promissory Note
as a current asset, even though it was payable ten years later. In response to inquiries from Gemini,
on July 28, 2022, Genesis Global Capital’s CFO helped Genesis Global Capital’s lending team
draft an email to Gemini which explained that the “current assets” column in this report contained
“$1.1bn in receivables from related parties”—i.e., the [DCG] Promissory Note. This email to
Gemini omitted any reference to the [DCG] Promissory Note’s duration or other terms.!??

a. Defendants DCG Fails to Repay Hundreds of Millions of

Dollars Owed to Genesis Global Capital, Worsening
Genesis Global Capital’s Financial Condition

£1¢. On July 24, 2022, with respect to the $100 million Genesis Global Capital loaned
to DCG on January 24, 2022, DCG failed to repay that loan on or before its maturity date. Instead,
on July 25, 2022, a DCG executive informed Managing Director No. 1 [Ballensweig] that DCG

“literally [did not] have the money right now” to repay the loan.!?’

121 14, 9168.
122 14, 4169.
123 14, 4181,
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A11. At this juncture, Genesis was insolvent and DCG was in existential danger. Had
Genesis Global Capital gone bankrupt at that time, DCG’s loans to Genesis Global Capital would
have been due, but DCG did not have the ability to repay the loan and would have been forced into
bankruptcy.

412, Also on July 25, 2022, the same day, DCG’s treasurer emailed Genesis Capital’s
COO [Defendant Islim] and Managing Director No. 1 [Ballensweig]:

We received guidance from [Silbert] to re-paper the $100mm loan (with July 24th

maturity) from Genesis to DCG by 10 months (until May 2023). Please let us know

what documentation is needed to execute on the new loan. Also, we need to include

language that the loan could be repaid early without any penalty.!*

413. Managing Director No. 1 [Ballensweig] objected, stating: “given the continued
pressure from major lenders such as ... Gemini ... this duration mismatch will certainly put
Genesis in a much worse spot.” The same day, on July 25, 2022, DCG’s Treasurer responded that
DCG “need[ed] to preserve liquidity to meet our operating cash needs over the next few months.”
After additional objections, the next day, Managing Director No.1 [Ballensweig] relented stating:
“it sounds like we don’t have much room to push back, so we will do what DCG needs us to do.”
DCG also dictated the interest rate for this loan.!'?®

£14.  With respect to the February 23, 2022 loan from Genesis Global Capital to DCG of
$100 million in U.S. dollars on an unsecured basis, with a stated maturity date of August 23, 2022,

after the payment became due, at DCG’s insistence, Genesis Global Capital extended the maturity

date of this loan to May 2023.!2

124 14, 9182.
125 14., 4183,
126 14, 4184,
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b. Defendants Misrepresented Genesis Global Capital’s
Financial Position

415 As an initial matter, although Defendants DCG, Silbert, Kraines and Murphy
should and could have corrected Defendant Moro’s public statements regarding the nature of
DCG’s support for Genesis Global Capital, see supra, paragraph 369, it failed to do so. Defendant
DCQG, Silbert, Kraines and Murphy knew, or had reason to know, that Genesis Global Capital
investors would rely on Moro’s statements regarding Defendant DCG’s support. Defendants DCG,
Silbert, Kraines and Murphy’s silence in the face of Moro’s misstatements demonstrates that
Defendant DCG, Silbert, Kraines and Murphy likewise intended to mislead Genesis Yield
investors.

4]1&  Even more troubling, key DCG officers and employees directly participated in the
effort to mislead. For example, on July 18, 2022, in response to an email exchange with another
Genesis Yield investor, Mark Nuvelstijn, CEO and co-founder of Bitvavo, regarding the possibility
of a parent guaranty of Genesis Global Capital’s borrowing from DCG, Ballensweig suggested the
investor’s representative speak with DCG’s then-COO, Defendant Murphy. Ballensweig stated:
“I’ve broached the topic of a guarantee with [Defendant] Mark Murphy, DCG’s COO and before
we get there, I think it would make sense for you guys to set up a call to go through how DCG has
viewed the loss and their plans to support Genesis [Global Capital] in perpetuity. There are many
implications of establishing a formal guarantee but I think for starters you guys should hop on a
call. Let me know if that works and we’ll set something up this week.”

417, OnlJuly 19, 2022, Defendant Murphy held a call with that investor’s representative.
In substance, speaking on behalf of Defendant DCG, Defendant Murphy reiterated the false story
that had previously been shared with the investor in the same “Three Arrows Post-Mortem”

document that Genesis Global Capital had sent to Gemini. Defendant Murphy stated that
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Defendant DCG stepped in to absorb Genesis Global Capital’s losses on its 3AC exposure, and he
stated that those losses had been netted against Defendant DCG’s balance sheet. He further stated
that, following Defendant DCG’s support, Genesis Global Capital was well capitalized to continue
doing business as normal in the future. And he reassured the investor that Genesis Global Capital
was among the most important parts of the broader DCG empire, that Defendant DCG had big
plans for Genesis Global Capital’s future business, and that DCG was committed to providing
ongoing support to Genesis Global Capital to allow the company to continue growing.

41%.  Each of these statements—made by Defendant Murphy on behalf of Defendant
DCG—was false.

#41%.  Genesis Global Capital’s losses were not absorbed by Defendant DCG or netted
against Defendant DCG’s balance sheet. Genesis Global Capital was insolvent, not well
capitalized. And, as evidenced by Defendant DCG’s failure to provide even the support that
Genesis Global Capital had publicly claimed in the aftermath of 3AC’s collapse, Defendant DCG
in fact had no plans to continue providing ongoing support to Genesis Global Capital in order to
permit Genesis Global Capital to avoid failure and continue growing.

#7%  Defendant Murphy made these affirmative misrepresentations as part of
Defendants’ fraudulent scheme.

420, Thereafter, Defendant Murphy and other DCG representatives were copied on
email exchanges in which Genesis Global Capital continued to provide false information in
response to the investor’s requests for information. For example, on July 26, 2022, Defendant
Murphy, then Defendant DCG’s COO, was copied on an email exchange in which Ballensweig

made a series of false statements in response to inquiries from the investor. Ballensweig explained
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that his response had been prepared with assistance from the “Finance and Accounting teams at
both DCG and Genesis.”

#2%.  The Finance and Accounting team at DCG and Genesis included Ron DiPrete, and
DCG’s Head of Special Project, Finance, and DCG CFO Defendant Kraines.

473, As part of that response, Ballensweig provided details about approximately $1.8
billion in lending from Genesis Global Capital to affiliated entities that had been disclosed in
Genesis Global Capital’s prior reports. Ballensweig falsely stated that Genesis Global Capital had
approximately $922 million in outstanding loans to DCG—an amount that purposefully omitted
the $1.1 billion promissory note that Defendants DCG and Silbert sought to conceal from Genesis
Global Capital’s investors. At the same time, Ballensweig falsely stated that DCG had “assumed
the $1.1bn loan on June 30, 2022”—a misrepresentation calculated to reassure the investor that
Genesis Global Capital had already been made whole for its loss on the 3AC loans.

424, That was entirely fictitious, but Defendant Murphy made no effort to correct
Ballensweig’s misrepresentations. Nor did Ronald DiPrete, DCG’s Head of Special Projects,
Finance, who was also copied on the exchange.

#%%  Later, on August 16, 2022, Defendant Murphy and DiPrete were copied (along with
Jason Yacavone, a Director in DCG’s Investments group) when Genesis Global Capital’s Hamill
Serrant sent an updated Genesis Global Capital balance sheet to the same investor. The updated
balance sheet, dated as of July 29, 2022, once again falsely included the $1.1 billion DCG
Promissory Note at its full face value in a “Receivable from related parties” line item. Even with
that false entry, the balance sheet showed “Total member’s equity” of just $95.4 million. And once
again, none of DCG’s representatives lifted a finger to correct the falsehood, preferring instead to

keep the public and Genesis Global Capital investors in the dark.
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#%6. During this period, Defendant DCG’s representatives were repeatedly copied on
email exchanges with Genesis Global Capital’s personnel, in which Genesis Global Capital
provided additional information in response to the investor’s questions and requests. But DCG’s
representatives never stated that the core premise of the parties’ discussions—namely, that DCG
had already stepped in to absorb Genesis Global Capital’s losses from its 3AC exposure—was
false.

&27%.  The participation of DCG officers and employees in these communications
demonstrates that the effort to mislead was an agreed-upon common scheme. The participation of
DCG officers and employees in these communications also assisted Genesis Global Capital in
misleading Genesis Global Capital investors.

42&  More broadly, the basic nature of the DCG Promissory Note also demonstrates that
Defendant DCG was a willing participant in the scheme to mislead. After 3AC’s collapse triggered
a $1.2 billion loss for Genesis Global Capital, investors had good reason to question Genesis
Global Capital’s liquidity and the solvency of its balance sheet. The DCG Promissory Note was
(unbeknownst to investors at the time) the basis of misrepresentations by Genesis that Defendant
DCG had covered the loss. But a promissory note such as this would not be a rational response to
investors’ concerns: The DCG Promissory Note did not provide any short-term liquidity, and (on
any reasonable statement of its actual present value on a balance sheet basis) the DCG Promissory
Note represented at most a small fraction of Genesis Global Capital’s loss on the 3AC loan. For
both Defendant DCG and Genesis Global Capital, the DCG Promissory Note made sense only if
its existence and terms could be concealed—Dbecause doing so allowed DCG to pretend to support
Genesis Global Capital, without taking on the financial cost that would haves required DCG to

actually do so. Put simply, the terms of the DCG Promissory Note were tailor-made to allow
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Defendant DCG and Genesis Global Capital to conspire to deceive Genesis Global Capital
investors.

4%%. Eliminating any doubt that Defendant DCG and Genesis Global Capital worked
hand-in-hand on the deception, multiple present or former Genesis Global Capital employees have
stated as much in correspondence with Genesis Global Capital investors. Those communications
specifically confirm that Defendant DCG’s and Genesis Global Capital’s finance and executive
teams collaborated to prepare the false financial statements that were shared by Genesis Global
Capital.

435, Defendants DCG and Genesis Global Capital thus agreed to the misleading
financial presentation that would conceal the DCG Promissory Note’s existence and its terms from
Genesis Global Capital’s investors.

431, According to an interview on the podcast Unchained on or around November 4,
2023 with Genesis investors who invested directly with Genesis:

[Defendants Silbert and Moro] went out and publicly told people that [they] filled

the hole . . . publicly said Genesis balance sheet is strong, it hasn’t been affected.

You induced us to loan new Bitcoin to you based on the fact that you stated Genesis

was solvent because you have provided the $1.1 billion dollar note . . . If in June

[2022], Barry [Silbert] had said, look, we’re going to help Genesis by giving them

$1.1 billion, and this is how we did it. We give them a promissory note that’s due

in 10 years at 1% interest, nobody would have re-loaned. We would have seen

basically what happened. But what they did is they kept it a secret. They guarded
that.

D. DEFENDANTS AND GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL CONCEALED
INFORMATION THAT WOULD HAVE REVEALED THEIR DECEIT.

432.  Genesis Global Capital’s CFO and other personnel directed employees not to

disclose the [DCG] Promissory Note to counterparties such as Gemini. Indeed, many Genesis
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Global Capital employees were not informed of the [DCG] Promissory Note until months after its
signature.'?’

#3%  When counterparties requested additional information concerning Genesis
Capital’s financial statements, Genesis Global Capital continued to conceal and suppress
information that would have revealed the [DCG] Promissory Note or losses on counterparty
defaults. In July 2022, Genesis Global Capital’s CFO directed other personnel to tell counterparties
that the notes to Genesis Global Capital’s balance sheet—which would have explained the [DCG]
Promissory Note and its impact on Genesis Capital’s balance sheet—were not prepared more
frequently than the end of the year. This was false. Genesis Capital prepared notes for its quarterly
balance sheets in prior quarters, including its unaudited balance sheets for the second and third
quarters of 2021 and the first quarter of 2022.'2

434, Ina July 2022 Microsoft Teams chat, Genesis Global Capital’s CFO confessed to
her co-workers that the “real reason” why Genesis Capital would not provide these footnotes to
counterparties was because “[i]n the notes, we are required to disclose a lot of things [w]hich will
highlight what happened” including the “assignment of liab[ilities]”—i.e., the [DCG] Promissory
Note.!?

A%%.  In another Microsoft Teams chat, in September 2022, Genesis Global Capital’s

CFO explained to coworkers that without the footnotes, counterparties would not know about the

[DCG] Promissory Note from the balance sheet alone.!*°

27NYAG Compl., 9170.
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#36,  After June 30, 2022, Genesis Capital’s CFO, in consultation with DCG, directed
Genesis Capital personnel not to share cash flow and income statements and to withhold Genesis
Asia Pacific’s financial statements from counterparties. These financial statements would have
revealed hundreds of millions of dollars in losses during the second quarter of 2022 and would
have revealed that DCG did not “absorb the loss.”!*!

437, Cash flow and income statements were important to Gemini’s ability to assess
Genesis Capital’s ability to pay back Earn investors. Thus, Gemini requested Genesis Capital’s
cash flow and income statements for the second quarter of 2022 on multiple occasions after June
30, 2022.1%

43%.  Genesis Capital ignored these requests and Gemini allowed them to do so.'*

492  Before executing the [DCG] Promissory Note, Genesis Global Capital executives,
including Moro, Genesis Global Capital’s CFO, and Managing Director No 1 [Ballensweig],
informed DCG officers and employees what financial statements had previously been shared with
counterparties, including Gemini. Thus, both DCG and Genesis Global Capital knew that they
were deviating from past practices in providing only a balance sheet to Gemini.'**

444,  Genesis Global Capital personnel soon grew concerned that Genesis Global Capital
had provided false information to counterparties. On September 1, 2022, Genesis Capital’s
Director of Lending reported to its interim CEO [Defendant Islim]: “I’m hearing concerns from
front office folks.... They’re concerned about the accuracy of information we have shared with

clients re liquidity and variability in our equity.... There still is no liquidity infusion from DCG to

131 1d., 174
132 14, q[175.
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fill the gap and instead we have a ‘note’.”” Nevertheless, neither DCG nor Genesis Global Capital’s
CEO Defendant Islim corrected the misstatements that Genesis Global Capital employees made to
35

counterparties, including the Earn investors.!

E. DEFENDANT SILBERT PERSONALLY INTERVENED TO KEEP
INVESTORS FROM WITHDRAWING INVESTMENTS.

#4]. Defendant Silbert—DCG’s founder and CEO-—personally participated in
perpetuating the lie that Genesis was solvent and capable of honoring its obligations. On the
afternoon of October 13, 2022 (following several direct discussions regarding the future of the
Gemini Earn Program), Gemini sent an email to Genesis Global Capital providing 30 days’ notice
of the termination of the Gemini Earn Program and the Gemini Earn MLAs. Within 24 hours,
Defendant Silbert personally emailed Cameron Winklevoss, co-founder of Gemini, seeking a face-
to-face meeting.

442, Defendant Silbert acknowledged that his request was prompted by the uncertain
“future of the Gemini-Genesis lending relationship.” Defendant Silbert posited that he and
Cameron Winklevoss should be exploring “ways to take advantage of the crypto winter” and
suggested that “there are a number of ways that Gemini-Genesis-DCG could more closely
collaborate.”

443, Defendant Silbert’s request resulted in a lunch meeting between Cameron
Winklevoss and Silbert at a restaurant in New York City on October 22, 2022. At that lunch
meeting, Defendant Silbert made numerous representations designed to induce Gemini not to
discontinue the Earn program. Silbert was aware at the time that Genesis Global Capital was

massively insolvent, because—unbeknownst to Gemini and Genesis Global Capital investors—

135 14, 9178,
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DCG had provided Genesis with a 10-year promissory note rather than assuming the 3AC losses
as had been claimed. Defendant Silbert was further aware that Defendant DCG had not provided
meaningful near-term liquidity to Genesis Global Capital sufficient to allow Genesis Global
Capital to honor its obligations, again contrary to statements made to Genesis Global Capital
investors. Defendant Silbert disclosed none of those highly material facts regarding Genesis Global
Capital’s insolvency and lack of liquidity, even as he was urging Gemini to continue the Gemini
Earn Program.

£44, Defendant Silbert did more than conceal those numerous material facts. Rather, he
created a cover story that was designed to—and did, in fact—affirmatively misrepresent the reason
why he was urging Gemini to continue the Earn program. Defendant Silbert represented that
Genesis Global Capital simply needed sufficient time to affect an orderly unwinding of its
“complex” loan book, and that any difficulty that the termination of the Gemini Earn Program
would cause for Genesis Global Capital was merely a mismatch in the timing of Genesis Global
Capital’s loan positions. That is, Silbert affirmatively misrepresented that Genesis Global Capital
faced only a short-term timing mismatch between its outstanding loans and borrowing.

445, In reality, as Defendant Silbert well knew, Genesis Global Capital’s problems ran
far deeper than a mere “timing” issue. Genesis Global Capital had a gaping hole in its balance
sheet, because the $1.1 billion of support that DCG had purportedly given Genesis in order to
“assume” the Genesis 3AC losses was, in actuality, the 10-year-distant promissory note. As
explained above, the DCG Promissory Note was worth (at most) a tiny fraction of its face value
and offered no realistic prospect of allowing Genesis to meet its obligations as they came due. And
the weighted average duration of Genesis’s outstanding loans was more than 765 days (or more

than 2 years), hardly a short-term timing mismatch. Defendant Silbert pushed his cover story even
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further, suggesting that Genesis Global Capital, Defendant DCG, and Gemini should explore an
arrangement to collaborate closely in the future.

44&, Defendant Silbert’s misrepresentations had the desired effect. Relying on
Defendant Silbert’s claims, Gemini elected to delay the termination of the Gemini Earn Program—
and not to explore the possibility of pursuing more rapid termination or other relief, as Gemini
would have done if Defendant Silbert had stated the truth.

447,  Then, just days before the end of the Class Period, Defendant Silbert caused DCG
to negotiate and enter into a November 10 tripartite agreement between and among Genesis Global
Capital, Defendant DCG, and Gemini. Pursuant to that agreement, Defendant DCG promised to
transmit additional collateral in the amount of 31,180,804 shares of GBTC (valued in excess of
$626.1 million as of July 6, 2023) to Genesis Global Capital for the benefit of Gemini Earn
investors. On information and belief, Defendant DCG transmitted the collateral to Genesis Global
Capital but did not instruct or allow Genesis Global Capital to transfer that collateral to Gemini as
agreed.

£4%, But even assuming that Defendant DCG nominally fulfilled its contractual
obligation, the real purpose of the agreement was a ruse. By purporting to demonstrate still further
support for Genesis Global Capital’s obligations in the form of collateral—despite knowing that
Genesis Global Capital was massively insolvent—Defendant DCG induced Gemini to continue
the Gemini Earn Program. Gemini would not have done so if Defendants Silbert and DCG had
come clean about Genesis Global Capital’s true financial condition, rather than repeatedly
misrepresenting it.

44%,  Under these circumstances, Defendants Silbert and DCG were under a legal

obligation not to conceal the true nature of Genesis Global Capital’s financial condition.
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Defendants Silbert and DCG understood that Gemini was relying on the financial information and
other representations provided by Genesis Global Capital—including, in particular, multiple
assurances that Genesis Global Capital’s losses relating to 3AC had been absorbed by Defendant
DCG—as essential facts in deciding whether to terminate the Gemini Earn Program on the 30-day
timeline Gemini had previously communicated. Moreover, the falsity of those representations was
not discoverable by Gemini through ordinary diligence. Thus, Defendants Silbert and DCG were
under a legal obligation to speak the truth and to correct those misrepresentations.

4%G.  Defendant Silbert’s partial disclosures regarding Genesis Global Capital’s financial
condition were equivalent to actual misrepresentations—made on Defendant DCG’s behalf—
regarding Genesis Global Capital’s solvency. In particular, Defendant Silbert’s assurances that
Genesis’s problems were a mere “timing” issue were deliberate half-truths, calculated to mislead
Gemini into concluding that Genesis Global Capital was not in fact insolvent.

451. The above acts committed by Defendants DCG, Silbert, Moro, Islim, Kraines and
Murphy caused Genesis Global Capital to mispresent its financial health to Plaintiffs via
affirmative false statements made directly to investors and investors’ agent and via Genesis Global
Capital omitting to inform investors of its insolvency when it had a duty to do so under the Genesis
Yield Investment Agreements.

452, As a result of the fraudulent scheme and material omissions described above,
Plaintiffs and members of the Class purchased Genesis Yield securities. Plaintiffs and members of
the Class would not have (nor would any reasonable investor) purchased Genesis Yield securities
had they known Genesis Global Capital’s true financial conditions.

453, As alleged above, on or about June 18, 2022, Genesis Global Capital lent

approximately 18,697 bitcoin (valued at over $355 million as of June 18, 2022) to affiliate, DCGI,
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on an open-term basis. Rather than repaying this loan in bitcoin—the denomination of the loan—
DCGI partially repaid that loan on November 10, 2022, with 25,999,457 shares of GBTC which
were worth approximately $250 million as of November 10, 2022.13¢

#34. This repayment deprived Genesis Global Capital of liquidity because unlike
bitcoin, Genesis Global Capital neither borrowed nor lent GBTC, and could not liquidate the
GBTC shares due to affiliate sales restrictions.'?’

£33,  After this repayment, 4,550.45 bitcoin (approximately $80 million as of November
10, 2022) remained outstanding on Genesis Global Capital’s loan to DCGI. On November 10,
2022, DCG made Genesis Global Capital extend the maturity date for the remaining amount to
May 11, 2023. These loans all remain unpaid.'3®

436, On or about November 12, 2022, Genesis Global Capital privately sought an
emergency loan of between $750 million and $1 billion from a third party, and informed the
proposed lender that it was facing a “liquidity crunch primar[ily] due to certain illiquid assets on
its balance sheet following the events of [Three Arrows]” including (1) the [DCG] Promissory
Note; (2) GBTC; and (3) unsecured loans to DCG. Genesis Global Capital did not—or could not—
obtain this emergency loan.!?’

F. THE TRUTH BEGINS TO BE REVEALED: GENESIS GLOBAL CAPITAL

SUSPENDS REDEMPTIONS CAUSING INVESTOR LOSSES AND
MISREPRESENTS THE REASON.

457, On November 16, 2022, Genesis Global Capital announced, via Twitter, that

Genesis Global Capital would not permit further redemptions or new loan originations due to

3 NYAG Compl., q185.
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withdrawal requests exceeding Genesis Global Capital’s liquidity, and the undisclosed material
negative risks of Genesis’ true financial condition that Defendants concealed since June 2022
began to be revealed:

FTX events have created an unprecedented market, resulting in abnormal

withdrawal requests, which have exceeded our current liquidity... In consultation

with our professional financial advisors at counsel we have taken the difficult

decision to temporarily suspend redemptions and the new loan origination in the

lending business].]

458 The November 16, 2022 announcement misleadingly blamed FTX for Genesis
Global Capital’s inability to honor customer redemptions instead of acknowledging that the blame
lay with the dubious transactions and accounting methods employed by Genesis Global Capital
and Defendants.

45%. In fact, Genesis Global Capital was unable to continue to process redemption
requests because Genesis Global Capital had become insolvent in June 2022 when it was unable
to collect $1.1 billion of the $2.3 billion loaned to 3AC and the loan to parent Defendant DCG
continued to decline in value.

4%:.  Genesis Global Capital was not merely illiquid; it was insolvent and had been since
June 2022. This fact was confirmed when, on January 19, 2023, Genesis Global Holdco, LLC,
Genesis Global Capital, LLC, and Genesis Asia Pacific Pte. Ltd., voluntarily filed petitions under

Chapter 11 of the U.S. Bankruptcy Code in the Southern District of New York.

G. RELIANCE FOR EXCHANGE ACT CLAIMS.

451. DIRECT RELIANCE: Genesis Yield investors who invested in Genesis Yield
securities after June 13, 2022, including Plaintiff Translunar, relied on misstatements made directly
to each of them by Genesis Global Capital regarding Genesis Global Capital’s solvency and the
pendency of proceedings likely to have an adverse effect on the Genesis Yield securities

investments.
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4@ Genesis Global Capital made the following representations to each purchaser of
Genesis Yield securities via the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements, including investors such
as Plaintiff Translunar who purchased Genesis Yield securities after June 13, 2022, the date on
which Genesis Global Capital was rendered insolvent by 3AC’s default:

[Genesis Global Capital] represents and warrants that it is not insolvent and is not
subject to any bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings under any applicable laws.

[Genesis Global Capital] represents and warrants there are no proceedings pending

or, to its knowledge, threatened, which could reasonably be anticipated to have any

adverse effect on the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the accuracy

of the representations and warranties hereunder or thereunder.

465 Asalleged above, Plaintiff Translunar reviewed and relied upon these material false
and misleading representations when it purchased Genesis Yield securities.

484,  Plaintiff Translunar and members of the Class would not have (nor would any
reasonable investor) purchased Genesis Yield securities had they known Genesis Global Capital’s
true financial conditions, and that the representations made with respect to Genesis’s solvency and
adverse proceedings were false.

45%. PRESUMPTION OF RELIANCE: For class members who entered into Genesis
Yield Investment Agreements prior to June 13, 2022 (the date on which Genesis Global Capital
was rendered insolvent by 3AC’s default) and reinvested after the Company was rendered
insolvent, Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and the Class’s Exchange Act claims are grounded in
Defendants’ failure to disclose material adverse facts that Defendants had a duty to update or to
disclose.

A%,  Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and the Class are entitled to a presumption of

reliance in accordance with Affiliated Ute Citizens of Utah v. United States, 406 U.S. 128 (1972).
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4#&7.  The withheld facts were material in the sense that a reasonable investor may have
considered them important in making investment decisions.

44%, A factis material if there is a substantial likelihood that the disclosure of the omitted
fact would have been viewed by the reasonable investor as having significantly altered the total
mix of information made available.

#46%. Lead Plaintiffs and Plaintiff Ameli allege at least two material omissions, including:

(1) Defendants did not disclose that Genesis Global Capital was insolvent;
and

(2) Defendants did not disclose that 3AC’s default and bankruptcy
proceedings could reasonably be anticipated to have an adverse effect on
the transactions contemplated by Genesis Yield Investment Agreements or
the accuracy of the representations and warranties made in the Genesis
Yield Investment Agreements.

47%.  Genesis Global Capital had a duty to disclose these undisclosed adverse, material
facts or to update the representations to investors that “[Genesis Global Capital] represents and
warrants that it is not insolvent and is not subject to any bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings
under any applicable laws” and “[Genesis Global Capital] represents and warrants there are no
proceedings pending or, to its knowledge, threatened, which could reasonably be anticipated to
have any adverse effect on the transactions contemplated by this Agreement or the accuracy of the
representations and warranties hereunder or thereunder.”

#70. An additional material omission Lead Plaintiffs and Plaintiff Ameli allege is that

Defendants did not disclose that 3AC’s bankruptcy proceedings would have a material adverse
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effect on the transactions contemplated by Genesis Yield Investment Agreements or the accuracy
of the representations and warranties hereunder or thereunder.

£72.  The omissions alleged here are common to all Lead Plaintiffs and Plaintift Ameli
and none of these them were made aware of the insolvency of Genesis Global Capital.

&73%  Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class would not have invested
in Genesis securities had they known the undisclosed, material adverse facts that were not
disclosed at the time of their investment.

474. RELIANCE ON AGENT: Defendants also made direct misrepresentations to the
appointed agent of investors who purchased Genesis Yield securities through the Gemini Earn
program.

#7%  As set forth above, Lead Plaintiffs and members of the Class who purchased
Genesis Yield securities through the Gemini Earn program did so in reliance on Genesis Global
Capital’s direct representations to Gemini, the appointed agent of Gemini Earn investors, regarding
Genesis Global Capital’s management practices, investment strategy, and financial condition.
Lead Plaintiffs and members of the Class who purchased Genesis Yield securities through the
Gemini Earn program would not have (nor would any reasonable investor) purchased Genesis
Yield securities had they known the truth about Genesis Global Capital’s true financial conditions
and risk management policies and procedures.

XITII. CONSUMER PROTECTION AND COMMON LAW FRAUD CLAIMS.

£76. The common law fraud and Consumer Protection Claims (as defined below) are

pled in the alternative to the Securities Act and Exchange Act claims alleged herein.
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A. CONSUMER PROTECTION CLAIMS.

47%.  Genesis Yield was offered to consumers, who were exposed to the Consumer
Protection Defendants’ fraudulent marketing, advertising, and sales tactics designed to induce
consumers to purchase, transfer, borrow, loan, and/or trade digital assets via Genesis Yield.

&78  Genesis Global Capital, individually and through the Consumer Protection
Defendants, touted Genesis Yield as an opportunity to earn money, through which consumers
could tender digital assets in exchange for earning some of the “highest” returns or yields and the
eventual return of their digital assets — making it an attractive opportunity to the investing public.

473  The Consumer Protection Defendants made various representations that Genesis
Global Capital was and would remain solvent and was not and would not be subject to any
bankruptcy or insolvency proceedings.

A& In doing so, the Consumer Protection Defendants led consumers to expect that, by
tendering and giving control of their digital assets to Genesis Global Capital, (1) they would
receive profit in the form of interest on those assets, up to 8.05% annual percentage yield (“APY”),
and (2) their digital assets would remain safe until their return.

4%, Despite the Consumer Protection Defendants’ representations, the structure of
Genesis Yield was such that Genesis Global Capital profited, not consumers, and Genesis Global
Capital was in fact insolvent.

482,  Consumers such as Plaintiffs and Class Members reasonably relied on Consumer
Protection Defendants’ misrepresentations and omissions, as set forth herein, to their detriment,
and would not have otherwise entered into the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements.

483. Consumer Protection Defendants each engaged in a wrongful scheme designed to
mislead — and profit from — consumers such as Plaintiffs and Class Members, including but not

limited to the following:
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b)

d)

Defendant Moro and causing Genesis Global Capital, at the direction of
and/or subject to the control of Defendants DCG and Silbert to disseminate
misleading and false financial statements to consumers, as prospective
investors, either directly or through Gemini as their designated agent, to
induce consumers to invest their digital assets with Genesis Global Capital;
Defendants Moro, Islim, DCG, Silbert, Kraines and Murphy causing
Genesis Global Capital to use consumers’ digital assets to engage in
transactions designed to benefit the DCG conglomerate, including the
purchase of GBTC, which Grayscale, as wholly owned subsidiary of DCG,
received significant profit therefrom, ultimately leading DCG (as the
corporate parent) and Silbert (as DCG’s controlling shareholder) to profit,
rather than Genesis or Plaintiffs and Class Members;

Defendants Moro, Islim, DCG, Silbert, Kraines and Murphy causing
Genesis Global Capital to lend almost 30% of Genesis Global Capital’s total
loan book to 3AC in order to maximize DCG’s profit, rather than Genesis
or Plaintiffs and Class Members;

Defendants DCG and Silbert, forcing Genesis Global Capital to sell the
3AC bankruptcy claim and execute a sham loan transaction on unfavorable
terms whereby the fair market value of the DCG Promissory Note was a
fraction of its $1.1 billion face amount, it would not mature until 2032, and
it bore interest at a rate of a mere 1% — which was done for DCG’s and
Silbert’s benefit, and to mislead consumers as to Genesis Global Capital’s

financial standing, by artificially propping up the value of GBTC shares;
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e) Defendant Silbert misrepresenting to Gemini, as authorized agent, that
DCG “absorbed” 3AC losses and that Genesis Global Capital remained
solvent, when that was not the case, in order to convince Gemini to not
terminate the Gemini Earn program;

f) Defendant Moro publicly announcing on Twitter, following the collapse of
3AC, that Genesis Global Capital had mitigated any losses due to its
exposure and loss was “finite,” when in fact 3AC owed a large debt of $2.36
billion to Genesis, and Genesis suffered a loss of roughly $1.2 billion at the
time 3AC’s liquidation commenced, and that DCG had assumed certain
liabilities to ensure that Genesis had the capital to operate, when it had not;

g) Defendant Moro making misleading statements as to Genesis Global
Capital’s solvency, including that the $1.1 billion amount of the DCG
Promissory Note on its balance sheet was a “current asset and/or receivable”
when it was not; and

h) Defendants Moro and Islim causing Genesis Global Capital and
Ballensweig to disseminate balance sheets and other documents
misrepresenting Genesis’s solvency to induce consumers to continue to
invest in Genesis Global Capital Genesis Yield securities and/or to prevent
them from requesting redemptions of their investments.

484, As a result of Consumer Protection Defendants’ deceptive and unfair acts or
practices, since the start of the Class Period, Plaintiffs and Class Members, have suffered harm,
including, inter alia, loss of access to their digital assets and nonreceipt of interest on their digital

assets as promised.
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B. COMMON LAW FRAUD.

4%5%, Defendants caused Genesis Global Capital to falsely represent and warrant to each
investor that signed a Genesis Yield Investment Agreement after June 13, 2022 that (1) Genesis
Global Capital was not insolvent and (2) Genesis Global capital was not aware of any proceedings
which could reasonably be anticipated to have any adverse effect on the Genesis Yield transactions
or the accuracy of the representations and warranties hereunder or thereunder.

&%, Plaintiff Translunar read, reviewed, and relied upon these representations in
determining to loan digital assets Genesis Global Capital.

4%3.  Plaintiff Translunar would not have, nor would any reasonable investor, loaned
digital assets to Genesis Global Capital had it known these representations and warrantees were
false.

48%. Defendants also caused Genesis Global Capital to conceal its insolvency from
Genesis Yield investors who signed Genesis Yield Investment Agreements prior to June 13, 2022.
Genesis Global Capital represented and warranted to every investor who invested in Genesis Yield
prior to June 13, 2022 that it was (1) not insolvent and (2) it was not aware of any proceedings
which could reasonably be anticipated to have any adverse effect on the Genesis Yield transactions
or the accuracy of the representations and warranties hereunder or thereunder.

4%%9. 3AC’s default on June 13, 2022 rendered both representations and warrantees false,
and Genesis Global Capital had a duty to promptly disclose this fact to Genesis Yield investors
such as Plaintiffs Ameli, Buttenham, Gowda, McGreevy, Morone, Macri, Wiener, and Wilson,
and members of the class who signed Genesis Yield Investment Agreements prior to June 13,
2022.

£33, Despite Genesis Global Capital’s duty to disclose, Defendants conspired with and

caused Genesis Global Capital to conceal these material facts from Plaintiffs Ameli, Buttenham,
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Gowda, McGreevy, Morone, Macri, Wiener, and Wilson, and members of the class who signed
Genesis Yield Investment Agreements prior to June 13, 2022.

481, Had Plaintiffs Ameli, Buttenham, Gowda, McGreevy, Morone, Macri, Wiener, and
Wilson, and members of the class who signed Genesis Yield Investment Agreements prior to June
13, 2022 known that the solvency and adverse proceeding representations and warranties discussed
above had been rendered untrue and inaccurate, they would not have continued lending digital
assets to Genesis Global Capital after June 13, 2022.

4%%  Exchange Act Defendants made direct misrepresentations to Gemini, the appointed
agent of investors who purchased Genesis Yield securities through the Gemini Earn program.

493, Defendants were aware Gemini was the appointed agent “for all purposes” under
the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements.

&84, As set forth above, Lead Plaintiffs and members of the Class who purchased
Genesis Yield securities through the Gemini Earn program did so in reliance on Genesis Global
Capital’s direct representations to Gemini, the appointed agent of Gemini Earn investors, regarding
Genesis Global Capital’s management practices, investment strategy, and financial condition.
Lead Plaintiffs and members of the Class who purchased Genesis Yield securities through the
Gemini Earn program would not have (nor would any reasonable investor) purchased Genesis
Yield securities had they known the truth about Genesis Global Capital’s true financial conditions
and risk management policies and procedures.

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

425,  Plaintiffs bring the Action as a class action pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil
Procedure 23(a) and 23(b)(3).

426.  Plaintiffs seek class certification of the Class defined above in paragraph 2.
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#%%.  Plaintiffs also seek to represent subclasses of individuals who invested assets with
Genesis Global Capital under the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements in New York,
Connecticut, Florida, Illinois, Texas, California, Nevada and Kansas with representative plaintiffs
as addressed in this Complaint. As detailed below in their respective causes of action, each state
subclass is referenced by the name of its state.

&%, Plaintiffs reserve the right to modify or refine the definitions of the Class or add
subclasses based upon discovery of new information.

432, Excluded from the Class are: (a) any Judge or Magistrate Judge presiding over the
Action and members of their staff, as well as members of their families; (b) Defendants and
Defendants’ predecessors, parents, successors, heirs, assigns, subsidiaries, and any entity in which
any Defendant or its parents have a controlling interest, as well as Defendants’ current or former
employees, agents, officers, and directors; (c) persons who properly execute and file a timely
request for exclusion from the Class; (d) persons whose claims in this matter have been finally
adjudicated on the merits or otherwise released; () counsel for Plaintiffs and Defendants; and (f)
the legal representatives, successors, and assigns of any such excluded persons.

500. Plaintiffs reserve the right to modify or amend the definition of the proposed
Classes, or to include additional classes or subclasses, before or after the Court determines whether
such certification is appropriate as discovery progresses.

501. Ascertainability. The proposed Class is readily ascertainable because it is defined
using objective criteria so as to allow class members to determine if they are a member of the
Class. Further, the Class can be readily identified through records maintained by Genesis Global

Capital.
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502. Numerosity (Rule 23(a)(1)). The Class is so numerous that joinder of individual

members herein is impracticable. The exact number of members of the Class, as herein identified

and described, is not known, upon information and belief there are hundreds of thousands of

individuals and entities that purchased Genesis Yield securities who were damaged.

503. Commonality (Rule 23(a)(2)). Common questions of fact and law exist for each

cause of action and predominate over questions affecting only individual Class members,

including:

d)

2

Whether the Genesis Yield products were securities;

Whether Genesis Global Capital was required to file a registration statement
for the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements with the SEC;

Whether an exemption from registration applied to Genesis Global
Capital’s offer and sale of the Genesis Yield securities;

Whether Genesis Global Capital violated Sections 5 and 12(a)(1) of the
Securities Act;

Whether Defendants were control persons under Section 15 of the Securities
Act;

The means and form of rescission or appropriate measure of statutory
damages under the Securities Act;

Whether Genesis Global Capital made untrue statement of a material fact
or to omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make the
statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they were

made, not misleading;
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h) Whether Defendants employed any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud,
or engaged in any act, practice, or course of business which operates or
would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person;

504. Whether Defendants acted with the requisite state of mind;

505. Whether misstatements or omission made by Genesis Global Capital were material
to the decision made by Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and the Class to purchase securities offered
or sold by Genesis Global Capital;

506. Whether Plaintiffs and members of the Class suffered damages as a result of the
misconduct alleged herein;

507. Whether Defendants were control persons of Genesis Global Capital under Section
20(a) of the Exchange Act;

508.  The appropriate measure of damages under the Exchange Act; and

509. Whether Defendants’ conduct violated certain state consumer protection laws and
engaged in common law fraud, and the appropriate measure of damages.

510. Typicality (Rule 23(a)(3)). Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of the claims of the other
members of the proposed Class. Plaintiffs and members of the Class suffered injuries as a result
of Genesis Global Capital and Defendants’ wrongful conduct that is uniform across the Class.

511. Adequacy (Rule 23(a)(4)). Plaintiffs have and will continue to fairly and
adequately represent and protect the interests of the Class. Plaintiffs have retained counsel
competent and experienced in complex litigation and class actions. Plaintiffs have no interest that
is antagonistic to those of the Class, and Defendants have no defenses unique to Plaintiffs.

Plaintiffs and their counsel are committed to vigorously prosecuting the Action on behalf of the
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members of the Class, and they have the resources to do so. Neither Plaintiffs nor Plaintiffs’
counsel have any interest adverse to those of the other members of the Class.

512. Substantial Benefits. This class action is appropriate for certification because class
proceedings are superior to other available methods for the fair and efficient adjudication of this
controversy and joinder of all members of the Class is impracticable. The prosecution of separate
actions by individual members of the Class would impose heavy burdens upon the Courts and
Defendants, would create a risk of inconsistent or varying adjudications of the questions of law
and fact common to members of the Class, and would be dispositive of the interests of the other
members not parties to the individual adjudications or would substantially impair or impede their
ability to protect their interests. This proposed class action presents fewer management difficulties
than individual litigation, and provides the benefits of single adjudication, economies of scale, and
comprehensive supervision by a single court. Class treatment will create economies of time, effort,
and expense and promote uniform decision- making.

513. Class certification, therefore, is appropriate under Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(b)(3) because
the above common questions of law or fact predominate over any questions affecting individual
members of the Class, and a class action is superior to other available methods for the fair and
efficient adjudication of this controversy.

514. Plaintiffs reserve the right to revise the foregoing class allegations and definitions
based on facts learned and legal developments following additional investigation, discovery, or

otherwise.
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CLAIMS FOR RELIEF

FIRST CLAIM FOR RELIEF

CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE SECURITIES ACT
SECTION 5, SECTION 12(a)(1) AND SECTION 15 OF THE SECURITIES ACT
(Against All Defendants)

515. Lead Plaintiffs and Plaintiff Ameli reallege the allegations above alleged in 93-14,
and Sections II, V, and VII-XI, and expressly disclaim incorporation of any allegations of fraud.

516. This claim is asserted against Defendants pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 770.

517. This claim is based on strict liability.

518. Section 15 of the Securities Act provides: “Every person who, by or through stock
ownership, agency, or otherwise, or who, pursuant to or in connection with an agreement or
understanding with one or more other persons by or through stock ownership, agency, or
otherwise, controls any person liable under sections 77k or 77/ of this title, shall also be liable
jointly and severally with and to the same extent as such controlled person to any person to whom
such controlled person is liable, unless the controlling person had no knowledge of or reasonable
ground to believe in the existence of the facts by reason of which the liability of the controlled
person is alleged to exist.” Id. § 770(a).

519. Section 5(a) of the Securities Act states: “Unless a registration statement is in effect
as to a security, it shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly (1) to make use of any
means or instruments of transportation or communication in interstate commerce or of the mails
to sell such security through the use or medium of any prospectus or otherwise; or (2) to carry or
cause to be carried through the mails or in interstate commerce, by any means or instruments of
transportation, any such security for the purpose of sale or for delivery after sale.” 15 U.S.C. §

77e(a).
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520. Section 5(c) of the Securities Act states: “It shall be unlawful for any person,
directly or indirectly, to make use of any means or instruments of transportation or communication
in interstate commerce or of the mails to offer to sell or offer to buy through the use or medium of
any prospectus or otherwise any security, unless a registration statement has been filed as to such
security, or while the registration statement is the subject of a refusal order or stop order or (prior
to the effective date of the registration statement) any public proceeding or examination under
section 77h of this title.” Id. § 77¢(c).

521.  As alleged herein, Genesis Global Capital violated Sections 5 of the Securities Act
directly or indirectly, and making use of any means or instruments of transportation or
communication in interstate commerce or of the mails sold and offered Genesis Yield securities
without registering the securities offering or qualifying for an exemption from registration.

522. Under Section 12(a)(1) of the Securities Act, any person who offers or sells
a security in violation of Section 5 of the Securities Act shall be liable to the person purchasing
such security from the offeror or seller and may sue either at law or in equity in any court of
competent jurisdiction, to recover the consideration paid for such security with interest thereon,
less the amount of any income received thereon, upon the tender of such security, or for damages
if the security is no longer owned.

523. “There is no indication that Congress intended the word ‘consideration’ in § 12(2)
to mean anything other than what the context would suggest—the money or property given by the
investor in exchange for the security.” Randall v. Loftsgaarden, 478 U.S. 647, 659-60 (1986).

524, “Rescission is the avoidance or undoing of the transaction. Its purpose is to return

the defrauded purchaser to the status quo ante; it contemplates the return of the injured party to the
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position he occupied before he was wrongfully induced to enter the transaction.”
Huddleston v. Herman & MacLean, 640 F.2d 534, 554 (5th Cir. 1981).

525. The consideration that class members paid for Genesis Yield securities included
cash and digital assets in exchange for interest payments and the promise of return of the
consideration paid to Genesis Global Capital at maturity.

526. Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class have been damaged under
the Securities Act as alleged above in paragraphs and seek rescission or a rescissionary form of
relief for Defendants wrongful conduct in connection with the purchase of Genesis Yield
securities.

527.  As set forth above, Genesis Global Capital violated Section 5 of the Securities Act
and is therefore liable to Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class under Section
12(a)(1).

528.  Lead Plaintiffs and Plaintiff Ameli have tendered or if they have not done so already
hereby tender the securities purchased from Genesis Global Capital.

529. But for Genesis Global Capital’s bankruptcy, the Company would have been named
a defendant and violations of Sections 5 and 12(a)(1) would have been asserted against it on behalf
of Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and the Class.

530. At the time of the violations of Sections 5 of the Securities Act by Genesis Global
Capital alleged herein, Defendants controlled Genesis Global Capital. Defendants, by virtue of
their stock ownership, agency, agreements or understandings (including the GGC and GGH
operating agreements), specific acts alleged above, and otherwise, had the power and authority to
direct the management and activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees, and to cause

Genesis Global Capital to engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein. Defendants at the
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time of the wrongs alleged herein, had the power to direct or cause the direction of the management
and policies of Genesis Global Capital, and as alleged above engaged in acts that demonstrate
Defendants exercised their power to direct the management and policies of Genesis Global Capital.

531. Defendants exercised their power and influence to cause Genesis Global Capital to
violate the Securities Act as described herein, including by promoting, soliciting, offering, and
selling unregistered securities to Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class in
violation of Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 12(a)(1) of the Securities Act, id. §§ 77e(a), 77e(c), and
771(a)(1).

532. Defendants had sufficient influence and power to cause Genesis Global Capital to
refrain from offering and selling unregistered securities in violation of the Securities Act.

1. Defendant DCG Controlled Genesis

533. Atall times alleged herein DCG was the 100% owner of GGH, which was the 100%
owner of the Genesis Global Capital and the Company’s sole managing member. Defendant DCG
had the power and authority to direct the management and activities of Genesis Global Capital and
its employees and to cause Genesis Global Capital to engage in the wrongful conduct complained
of herein. Defendant DCG, at the time of the wrongs alleged herein, had the power to direct or
cause the direction of the management and policies of Genesis Global Capital.

534. Defendant DCG exercised its power and influence to cause Genesis Global Capital
to violate the Securities Act as described herein, including by directing Genesis Global Capital not
to register as an exchange or broker-dealer prior to offering and selling securities to Lead Plaintiffs,
Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class in violation of Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 12(a)(1) of the

Securities Act, id. §§ 77e(a), 77¢(c), and 771(a)(1).
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535. At the time of the violations of Section 5 of the Securities Act by Genesis Global
Capital alleged herein, Defendant DCG had sufficient influence to cause Genesis Global Capital
to refrain from offering and selling unregistered securities in violation of the Securities Act.

536. DCG executives, Defendants Silbert, Kraines and Murphy had effective control
over GGH, the Company and GGT—controlling strategy, hiring, allocation of resources, which
were implemented with DCG executives on board of GGH, namely Murphy and Kraines.
Furthermore, Matt Kummell, DCG Senior VP of Operations, was Defendant Silbert’s eyes and
ears at the Company. Kummell was plugged into everything at Genesis and had a direct line to
Defendant Silbert.

537. For example, on June 14, 2022, Defendant Silbert, on behalf of the DCG board
instructed Genesis to “shrink” its loan book.!4°

538.  On June 17, 2022, Defendant Moro sent two tweets from his personal account
regarding Genesis losses and its plan for recovery. Those tweets were reviewed and edited by
DCG’s COO, Defendant Murphy, who directed Defendant Moro to send the tweets from his
personal account, “despite directions from Genesis Capital’s compliance department that these
tweets should come from Genesis Capital’s corporate account.”!#!

539. Further, in July 2022 to November 2022, DCG and Silbert caused Genesis to extend

the maturity date for hundreds of millions of dollars of loans to DCG for no consideration. In fact,

on November 10, 2022, Defendant DCG “made” Genesis extend the maturity date for outstanding

14ONYAG Compl., 127.
141 74, 49132-33.
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loans to May 11, 2023.'%? This shows DCG and Silbert’s total domination and control over Genesis
Global Capital.

540. Defendant DCG had reasonable grounds to believe in the existence of the facts
alleged herein, which form the basis for Genesis Global Capital’s liability under Section 12(a)(1)
of the Securities Act.

541.  Accordingly, pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Act, Defendant DCG is jointly
and severally liable for the violations of the Securities Act by Genesis Global Capital complained
of herein and is liable to Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and the Class for damages relating to the
Genesis Yield securities. See id. § 771(a)(1).

yn Defendant Silbert Controlled Genesis

542. As CEO and founder of both Defendant DCG and Genesis Global Capital, and
controlling shareholder owning 40% of the equity of DCG (which in turn owned 100% of Genesis
Global Capital through GGH), Defendant Silbert had the power and authority to direct the
management and activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees and to cause Genesis
Global Capital to engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein. Defendant Silbert, at the
time of the wrongs alleged herein, had the power to direct or cause the direction of the management
and policies of Genesis Global Capital.

543. Defendant Silbert exercised his power and influence to cause Genesis Global
Capital to violate the Securities Act as described herein, including by directing Genesis Global

Capital not to register as an exchange or broker-dealer prior to offering and selling securities to

142 14, 4187,
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Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class in violation of Sections 5(a), 5(c), and
12(a)(1) of the Securities Act, id. §§ 77¢e(a), 77¢e(c), and 771(a)(1).

544. At the time of the violations of Section 5 of the Securities Act by Genesis Global
Capital alleged herein, Defendant Silbert had sufficient influence to cause Genesis Global Capital
to refrain from offering and selling unregistered securities in violation of the Securities Act.

545. According to a Genesis’ filing in In re: Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, et al., Case
No. 23-10063 (SHL) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.), sworn to under oath and penalty of perjury by Defendant
Islim as Interim CEO of Genesis, during the Class Period Defendant Silbert controlled Genesis

Global Capital:

23-10063-shl Doc 143 Filed 03/21/23 Entered 03/21/23 01:05:04 Main Document
Debtor Name: Genesis Global Capital, LLC Pg 81 of 82 Case Number: 23-10064

Statement of Financial Affairs for Non-Individuals Filing for Bankruptcy

SOFA Question 28: List the debtor’s officers, directors, managing members, general partners, members in control, controlling shareholders, or other people in
control of the debtor at the time of the filing of this case.

Name Address Position % Interest
A. DERAR ISLIM ADDRESS ON FILE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER, N/A
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER
ALICE CHAN ADDRESS ON FILE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER N/A
ANDREW SULLIVAN ADDRESS ON FILE GENERAL COUNSEL, LENDING N/A
ARIANNA PRETTO-SAKMANN ADDRESS ON FILE CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER N/A
BARRY SILBERT ADDRESS ON FILE CEO OF DIGITAL CURRENCY N/A
GROUP
GENESIS GLOBAL HOLDCO, LLC 250 PARKAVE S SOLE MEMBER 100
5TH FLOOR
NEW YORK, NY 10003

546. Defendant Silbert exercised his power to direct or cause the direction of the
management and policies of Genesis numerous times throughout the Class Period. For example,
according to the NYAG Complaint, on June 14, 2022, Defendant Silbert, on behalf of the DCG

board, used his power and influence by giving Defendant Moro and Genesis instructions on how
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to utilize Genesis’ loan book.'*® The next day, June 15, 2022, Defendant Silbert again
demonstrated his power and influence over Genesis by directing Genesis Capital personnel,
including Defendant Moro, to perpetuate the idea that Genesis Capital was “highly stable.”!** This
instruction by Defendant Silbert to Defendant Moro, who was Genesis’ CEO, resulted in
Defendant Moro tweeting the sentiment that Genesis had “shed the risk.”'* Furthermore, in July
2022, Defendant Silbert reviewed tweets that Defendant Moro made on behalf of the Company
concerning its financial condition before Defendant Moro posted them. !4

547. When Gemini indicated that it intended to terminate the Gemini Earn program with
Genesis Global Capital—Silbert, not Islim, then Genesis Global Capital CEO—intervened to
convince Gemini not to do so because it was in the best interest of Gemini and DCG.

548. Defendant Silbert had reasonable grounds to believe in the existence of the facts
alleged herein, which form the basis for Genesis Global Capital’s liability under Section 12(a)(1)
of the Securities Act.

549. Accordingly, pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Act, Defendant Silbert is
jointly and severally liable for the violations of the Securities Act by Genesis Global Capital

complained of herein and is liable to Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and the Class for damages as

to each Genesis Yield Investment Agreement. See id. § 771(a)(1).

S NYAG Compl., §127.
14 14 131,
145 14, q132.
146 14, 4152,
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3 Defendant Moro Controlled Genesis

550. Defendant Moro was CEO of Genesis before and during the Class Period until
August 2022, and during this time, Defendant Moro caused the Company to offer or sell Genesis
Yield securities.

551. According to Genesis’ filing in In re: Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, et al., Case No.
23-10063 (SHL) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.), sworn to under oath and penalty of perjury by Defendant Islim
as Interim CEO of Genesis, during the Class Period Defendant Moro controlled Genesis:

23-10063-shl Doc 143 Filed 03/21/23 Entered 03/21/23 01:05:04 Main Document
Debtor Name: Genesis Global Capital, LLC Pg 82 of 82 Case Number: 23-10064

Statement of Financial Affairs for Non-Individuals Filing for Bankruptcy

SOFA Question 29: Within 1 year before the filing of this case, did the debtor have officers, directors, managing members, general partners, members in
control of the debtor, or shareholders in control of the debtor who no longer hold these positions?

Name Address Position Start End

KRISTOPHER JOHNSON ADDRESS ON FILE FORMER SENIOR RISK 01/19/2022 017202022
MANAGER

MATTHEW BALLENSWEIG ADDRESS ON FILE FORMER CO-HEAD OF TRADING | 01/19/2022 092022
AND LENDING

MICHAEL PALEOKRASSAS ADDRESS ON FILE FORMER CO-HEAD OF TRADING |01/19/2022 092022
AND LENDING

MICHAEL PATCHEN ADDRESS ON FILE FORMER CHIEF RISK OFFICER | 01/19/2022 10/2022

SOICHIRO MICHAEL MORO ADDRESS ON FILE FORMER CHIEF EXECUTIVE 011192022 08/15/2022
OFFICER

552. As CEO of Genesis, Moro had the power to speak publicly, act on behalf of Genesis
and enter into contracts and agreements on behalf of Genesis, and to hire executives of Genesis,
and he exercised that power, and through his acts alleged herein exercised his power and influence
over Genesis Global Capital. For example, on June 30, 2022, Moro executed the DCG Promissory
Note on behalf of Genesis, GGH and as a director of Genesis Asia Pacific, and directed that the
DCG Promissory Note be reported as an asset on Genesis’ balance sheet, and tweeted publicly on
behalf of Genesis concerning its impact on the financial condition of Genesis.

553.  On June 13, 2022, after the 3AC default, during a chat among Defendant Silbert,

Moro, Islim and Kraines, Defendant Silbert directed Defendants Moro and Islim to “guide the
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ship.” Defendant Silbert further stated to Defendants Moro and Islim that he wanted “to make
sure you’re leading this process with support and guidance from DCG,” to which Defendant Moro
responded “Derar [Islim] and I are involved in every step of what has been happening.” Defendant
Silbert concluded with a request that Defendants Moro, Islim, Matt Ballensweig and Arianna
Pretto-Sakmann provide an update to the DCG board.

554.  As CEO, in 2019 Moro led Genesis’ acquisitions of Qu Capital, an algorithmic
trading firm, and in 2020 Volt, a digital currency custodian. Throughout the Class Period, Moro
communicated with investors about Genesis through twitter, including updates on Genesis’
financial condition. In 2019, Moro announced that he hired additional members to the Genesis
leadership team, stating “It is really exciting to add this talented group to the Genesis team . . . We
are confidential that these individuals will build on our sustained success in the digital currency
marketplace and play critical role in expanding our business around the world.” Furthermore,
according to the Wall Street Journal, in late 2018, Moro participated in due diligence of Genesis’
partners, including a 2018 site visit to meet Sam Bankman-Fried and Alameda Research in
Berkeley, California. During the Class Period and during the time Defendant Moro served as CEO
of Genesis, Genesis made hundreds of millions of dollars of unsecured loans to Alameda.

4, Defendant Islim Controlled Genesis

555. Defendant Islim has served as the COO of Genesis Global Capital and GGT since
the start of the Class Period. On or around August 17, 2022, Defendants DCG and Murphy hand-
picked Defendant Islim to serve as interim CEO of Genesis Global Capital and GGT, and during
the Class Period he was a member of the board of directors of GGH which was sole managing
member of the Company, and through his acts alleged herein exercised his power and influence
over Genesis Global Capital. As a member of the board of GGH, which was the sole managing

member of Genesis, and CEQO, Islim controlled the Company, and during the time Islim held these
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positions through the end of the Class Period, Defendant Islim caused the Company to offer or sell
Genesis Yield securities.

556. On June 13, 2022, after the 3AC default, during a chat among Defendant Silbert,
Moro, Islim and Kraines, Defendant Silbert directed Defendants Moro and Islim to “guide the
ship.” In response, Defendant Islim stated: “I am working closely with him [Matt Ballensweig] .
.. He wants to ensure the [Genesis Global Capital loan] book is in good liquidity stand[ing] at this
point.” Defendant Silbert further stated that he wanted “to make sure you’re leading this process
with support and guidance from DCG,” to which Defendant Moro responded “Derar [Islim] and I
are involved in every step of what has been happening.” Defendant Silbert concluded with a
request that Defendants Moro, Islim, Matt Ballensweig and Arianna Pretto-Sakmann provide an
update to the DCG board.

557. According to a Genesis’ filing in In re: Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, et al., Case
No. 23-10063 (SHL) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.), sworn to under oath and penalty of perjury by Defendant

DCG Islim as Interim CEO of Genesis, during the Class Period Islim controlled Genesis:

23-10063-shl Doc 143 Filed 03/21/23 Entered 03/21/23 01:05:04 Main Document
Debtor Name: Genesis Global Capital, LLC Pg 81 of 82 Case Number. 23-10064

Statement of Financial Affairs for Non-Individuals Filing for Bankruptcy

SOFA Question 28: List the debtor’s officers, directors, managing members, general partners, members in control, controlling shareholders, or other people in
control of the debtor at the time of the filing of this case.

Name Address Position % Interest
A.DERAR ISLIM ADDRESS ON FILE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER, N/A
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER
ALICE CHAN ADDRESS ON FILE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER N/A
ANDREW SULLIVAN ADDRESS ON FILE GENERAL COUNSEL, LENDING N/A
ARIANNA PRETTO-SAKMANN ADDRESS ON FILE CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER NIA
BARRY SILBERT ADDRESS ON FILE CEO OF DIGITAL CURRENCY N/A
GROUP
GENESIS GLOBAL HOLDCO, LLC 250 PARK AVE S SOLE MEMBER 100
5TH FLOOR
NEW YORK, NY 10003
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5. Defendant Murphy Controlled Genesis

558. Defendant Murphy was DCG’s Chief Operating Officer during the period January
2020 through November 2022, and since October 2022 has served as President of DCG.
According to his LinkedIn profile, Murphy led DCG’s legal, communications, marketing, brand,
and public policy efforts and supported DCG’s CEO (Defendant Silbert) on day-to-day
management of DCG.

559. Defendant Murphy served as a director of GGH, a wholly owned subsidiary of
DCQG, and as a director of GGH, which was the sole managing member of Genesis, through which
he controlled and managed Genesis Global Capital, and through his acts alleged herein exercised
his power and influence over Genesis Global Capital. According to his LinkedIn profile,
Defendant Murphy worked closely with DCG’s wholly owned subsidiaries, which include
Genesis, on strategy, execution, and all management matters.

560. On or around August 17, 2022, Defendant Murphy hand-picked Defendant Islim to
serve as interim COO of the Company and GGT and to serve as a member of the board of GGH,
he further and hand-picked Tom Conheeney to serve as a special advisor to the Company and GGT
and to serve as a member of the board of GGH.

561. In July 2022, Defendant Murphy edited and helped draft tweets that Defendant
Moro made on behalf of the Company concerning its financial condition.'*’

562. On June 15, 2022, during a Microsoft Team teams chat that involved Defendants
Islim, Silbert, Murphy, Moro and Kraines, Defendant Murphy directed that Genesis from its twitter

account retweet Defendant Silbert’s tweet.

4TNYAG Compl., 152.
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563. Defendant Murphy formulated and disseminated information on behalf of the
Company to Genesis Global Capital investors concerning its solvency, as alleged above in
Paragraphs 414-418.

564. According to a Genesis’ filing in In re: Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, et al., Case
No. 23-10063 (SHL) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.), sworn to under oath and penalty of perjury by Defendant
DCQG Islim as Interim CEO of Genesis, during the Class Period Murphy controlled Genesis through

his position with GGH:

Debtor Name: Genesis Global Holdco, LLC

Pg 41 of 42

Case Number; 23-10063

Statement of Financial Affairs for Non-Individuals Filing for Bankruptcy

SOFA Question 28: List the debtor's offl g 5. g pariners. in control, g or other people in
control of the debtor at the time of the filing of this case.
Name Address Position % Interast
A. DERAR ISLIM ADDRESS ON FILE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER, N/A
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER / DIRECTOR
ALICE CHAN ADDRESS ON FILE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER NIA
'ANDREW SULLIVAN “ADDRESS ON FILE GENERAL COUNSEL, LENDING: NIA
CORFORATE SECRETARY
ARIANNA PRETTO-SAKMANN ADDRESS ON FILE CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER NIA
DIANA KIM ADDRESS ON FILE CORPORATE SECRETARY NIA
DIGITAL CURRENCY GROUP, INC. 262 HARBOR DRIVE SOLE MEMBER 100
3RD FLOOR
STAMFORD, CT 06092
MARK MURPHY ADDRESS ON FILE DIRECTOR NIA
| MICHAEL KRAINES ADDRESS ON FILE DIRECTOR NIA
PAUL ARONZON ADDRESS ON FILE DIRECTOR NIA
TOM CONHEENEY ADDRESS ON FILE DIRECTOR NiA
6. Defendant Kraines Controlled Genesis

565. Defendant Kraines is the CFO of DCG. In that role he oversaw all of DCG’s
financial operations, M&A activity, and corporate development efforts. Defendant Kraines also
supported the continued growth of DCG’s operating subsidiaries which included Genesis.

566. Kraines further exercised his control over Genesis as a member of the board of
GGH, which was the sole managing member of Genesis.

567. For example, on June 15, 2022, during a Microsoft Team teams chat that involved
Defendants Islim, Silbert, Murphy, Moro and Kraines, Defendant Kraines directly participated in

the management of Genesis Global Capital, providing input regarding the status of Genesis Global
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Capital’s collateral and whether it should be preserved for investor redemptions or hedged to
mitigate downside risk.

568. Defendant Kraines formulated and disseminated on behalf of the Company
information to Genesis Global Capital investors concerning its solvency, as alleged above in

paragraphs 367-68.

569. By virtue of his position as CFO of DCG, which wholly owns GGH, and as a
member of the board of GGH, Kraines possessed the power and influence to cause the direction
and management of Genesis Global Capital, and through his acts alleged herein exercised his
power and influence over Genesis Global Capital.

570. According to a Genesis’ filing in In re: Genesis Global Holdco, LLC, et al., Case
No. 23-10063 (SHL) (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.), sworn to under oath and penalty of perjury by Defendant
DCQG Islim as Interim CEO of Genesis Global Capital, during the Class Period Kraines controlled
Genesis through his position with GGH:

Debtor Name: Genesis Giobal Holdeo, LLC Pg 41 of 42 Case Number: 23-10063

Statement of Financial Affairs for Non-Individuals Filing for Bankruptcy

SOFA Question 28: List the debtor's offi ging -1 1 partn In control, g or other people in
control of the deblor at the time of the filing of this case.
Name Address Position i % Interest
‘A DERAR ISLIM ADDRESS ON FILE CHIEF OPERATING OFFICER, NIA
INTERIM CHIEF EXECUTIVE ‘
OFFICER / DIRECTOR
ALICE CHAN ADDRESS ON FILE CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER MNiA
ANDREW SULLIVAN ADDRESS ON FILE GENERAL COUNSEL, LENDING: MIA
CORPORATE SECRETARY
ARIANNA PRETTO-SAKMANN ADDRESS ON FILE CHIEF LEGAL OFFICER | MIA
DIANA KIM ADDRESS ON FILE CORPORATE SECRETARY NI
DIGITAL CURRENCY GROUP, INC. 262 HARBOR DRIVE SOLE MEMBER | 100
3RD FLOOR
STAMFORD, CT 06092
MARK MURPHY ADDRESS ON FILE DIRECTOR | A
MICHAEL KRAINES ADDRESS ON FILE DIRECTOR | MA
PAUL ARONZON ADDRESS ON FILE DIRECTOR | MIA
TOM CONHEENEY ADDRESS ON FILE DIRECTOR ]' M
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571.  Defendants Moro, Islim, Kraines and Murphy had reasonable grounds to believe in
the existence of the facts alleged herein, which form the basis for Genesis Global Capital’s liability
under Section 12(a)(1) of the Securities Act.

572.  Accordingly, pursuant to Section 15 of the Securities Act, Defendants Moro, Islim,
Kraines and Murphy are jointly and severally liable for the violations of the Securities Act by
Genesis Global Capital complained of herein and are liable to Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and
the Class for damages relating to the Genesis Yield securities. See id. § 771(a)(1).

SECOND CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FOR VIOLATION OF SECTION 10(B) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
AND RULE 10B-5
(Against All Defendants)

573. Lead Plaintiffs and Plaintiff Ameli reallege the allegations above.

574. During the Class Period, Genesis Global Capital and Defendants violated Section
10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5(b), and (a) and (c).

575. But for Genesis Global Capital’s bankruptcy, the Company would have been named
a defendant and violations of Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5(b) would have been asserted against it
on behalf of Plaintiffs and the Class.

576.  Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act Section 10(b) declares it unlawful for any person
to “use or employ, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security” a “manipulative or
deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of such rules and regulations as the [SEC] may
prescribe.” 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b).

577. SEC Rule 10b-5 promulgated pursuant to Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act makes
it unlawful for “any person, directly or indirectly, by the use of any means or instrumentality of
interstate commerce, or of the mails or of any facility of any national securities exchange . . . [t]o

employ any device, scheme, or artifice to defraud . . . [t]o make any untrue statement of a material
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fact or to omit to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading, or . . . [tJo engage in any act,
practice, or course of business which operates or would operate as a fraud or deceit upon any
person, in connection with the purchase or sale of any security. 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.

578. Defendants DCG, Silbert, Murphy, Islim and Moro caused Genesis Global Capital,
by the use by use of the instrumentalities of interstate commerce, to intentionally, or at least
recklessly:

a) employ a device, scheme, or artifice to defraud Plaintiffs and members of
the Class and their agents into investing digital assets with Genesis Global Capital in connection
with the sale of Genesis Yield securities under the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements;

b) make untrue statements of material fact and omit to state material facts
necessary in order to make the statements made not misleading in connection with the sale of
Genesis Yield securities under the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements, and/or

c) engage in acts, practices, or courses of business which operated as a fraud
and deceit upon Plaintiffs and members of the Class in connection with Plaintiffs’ purchases of
Genesis Yield securities under the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements, which constitute
securities pursuant to 15 U.S.C.§ 77b(a)(1), in violation of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and
Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder.

1. Violations of Rule 10b-5(b) of the Exchange Act by Genesis Global
Capital

579.  Genesis Global Capital knowingly and intentionally, or at least recklessly, failed to
disclose its insolvency to investors.
580. Genesis Global Capital failed to disclose the material facts with the intention of

deceiving the investing public, including Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class
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and their agents, and inducing Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class to
continue to invest digital assets with Genesis Global Capital.

581. In connection with the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements, Genesis Global
Capital made the Solvency Warranty and Adverse Proceedings Warranty.

582.  After the 3AC default rendered Genesis Global Capital insolvent, it had a duty to
disclose or update investors of the material fact that it was insolvent and faced an adverse
proceeding.

583.  Genesis Global Capital knew of the material omissions alleged herein and intended
thereby to deceive Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and the other members of the Class, or, in the
alternative, Genesis Global Capital acted with at least reckless disregard for the truth in that it
failed or refused to ascertain and disclose such facts as would reveal the insolvency of Genesis
Global Capital, although such facts were readily available to Genesis Global Capital.

584. The state of mind of Genesis Global Capital executives, officers, directors, agents
acting and individuals that controlled the Company in the ordinary course of business, including
Defendants, are imputed to the Company.

585. Asaresult of the aforementioned or omissions, Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and
the other members of the Class purchased securities from the Company and were damaged thereby.

586. Had Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class known the truth,
they would not have purchased securities from Genesis Global Capital.

2. Violations of Rule 10b-5(a) and (c) of the Exchange Act by Genesis
Global Capital and Defendants

587. Genesis Global Capital and Defendants engaged in the fraudulent and deceitful acts
or practices alleged in Section XII that are distinct from the alleged material omissions alleged

above, including the following:
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a. Defendants DCG and Silbert forced Genesis Global Capital to execute the
loan in the amount of approximately $500 million to Defendant DCG for
Defendant DCG to use in its own profit seeking endeavors and to artificially
prop up the value of GBTC shares;

b. Defendant DCG and Silbert caused Genesis Global Capital to execute the
transaction whereby DCG assumed the 3AC bankruptcy claim in exchange
for the DCG Promissory Note due to Genesis Global Capital.

C. Defendants Moro and Murphy, and Ballensweig caused Genesis Global
Capital, at the direction of and/or subject to the control of Defendant DCG,
Silbert, Kraines and Murphy to disseminate misleading and false financial
statements to prospective investors either directly or through Gemini as
their designated agent.

d. Defendants Moro and Islim caused Genesis Global Capital to misleadingly
include the $1.1 billion amount of the DCG Promissory Note on its balance
sheet as a “current asset and/or receivable.”

e. Defendant Moro caused Genesis Global Capital and Ballensweig to
disseminate its balance sheets and other documents containing
misrepresentations (including Ballensweig’s July 6, 2022 “Three Arrows
Post-Mortem” email) as to its solvency to members of the Class, and/or their
agent in order to induce the parties to continue to invest digital assets and/or
to prevent them from requesting redemptions of their securities.

f. Defendant Moro publicly announced on Twitter that DCG had assumed

certain liability to ensure that Genesis had the capital to operate, when it
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had not, tweets that were edited, reviewed and draft by DCG employees and
Defendant Silbert.

588. By reason of the conduct alleged herein, Gensis Global Capital and Defendants
knowingly, or at least recklessly, violated Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5(a)
and (c) promulgated thereunder.

589. Asadirect and proximate result omissions and fraudulent scheme of Gensis Global
Capital and Defendants, Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and members of the Class have suffered
damages in connection with their purchases of Genesis Yield securities from Genesis Global
Capital in an amount to be determined at trial.

THIRD CLAIM FOR RELIEF

CONTROL PERSON LIABILITY UNDER SECTION 20(a) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
FOR VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 10(b) OF THE EXCHANGE ACT
(Against All Defendants)

590. Lead Plaintiffs and Plaintiff Ameli reallege the allegations above.

591. This claim is asserted against Defendants pursuant to Section 20 of the Exchange
Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).

592. Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act provides: “Every person who, directly or
indirectly, controls any person liable under any provision of [the Exchange Act] or of any rule or
regulation thereunder shall also be liable jointly and severally with and to the same extent as such
controlled person to any person to whom such controlled person is liable ... unless the controlling
person acted in good faith and did not directly or indirectly induce the act or acts constituting the
violation or cause of action.” 15 U.S.C. § 78t(a).

593. At the time of the violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
alleged herein, Defendant DCG controlled Genesis Global Capital. Defendant DCG, by virtue of

its stock ownership, agency, agreements or understandings, specific acts, and otherwise, had the
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power and authority to direct the management and activities of Genesis Global Capital and its
employees, and to cause Genesis Global Capital to engage in the wrongful conduct complained of
herein. Defendant DCG, at the time of the wrongs alleged herein, had the power to direct or cause
the direction of the management and policies of Genesis Global Capital.

594. Defendant DCG purposefully exercised its power and influence to cause Genesis
Global Capital to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated
thereunder as described herein, including by making material misstatements and/or omissions
regarding the financial health of Genesis Global Capital.

595. At the time of the violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
alleged herein, Defendant DCG had sufficient influence to cause Genesis Global Capital to comply
with the Exchange Act and/or to refrain from acts that are prohibited by the Exchange Act.

596. Defendant DCG culpably participated in Genesis Global Capital’s violations of the
Exchange Act alleged herein.

597. Accordingly, Defendant DCG is jointly and severally liable for the violations of the
Exchange Act by Genesis Global Capital complained of herein and is liable to Lead Plaintiffs,
Plaintiff Ameli and the Class for rescission and/or damages as to all transactions in which Plaintiffs
Plaintiff Ameli and Class members relied on statement made by Genesis Global Capital in
connection with the purchase or sale of securities pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.

598. At the time of the violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
alleged herein:

599. Defendant Silbert had the power and authority to direct the management and
activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees, including Defendants Moro and Islim, and

to cause Genesis Global Capital to engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein due to
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his status as founder and CEO of both DCG and Genesis Global Capital and controlling
shareholder of DCG.

600. Defendant Moro had the power and authority to direct the management and
activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees and to cause Genesis Global Capital to
engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein due to his status as the CEO of Genesis
Global Capital and GGT since the start of the Class Period through August 17, 2022 and through
his conduct alleged herein.

601. Defendant Islim had the power and authority to direct the management and
activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees and to cause Genesis Global Capital to
engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein due to his status as the COO of Genesis
Global Capital and GGT since the start of the Class Period, and interim CEO of Genesis Global
Capital and GTT, and member of the board of GGH, and through his conduct alleged herein.

602. Defendant Kraines had the power and authority to direct the management and
activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees and to cause Genesis Global Capital to
engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein due to his status as the CFO of Defendant
DCG from in or around September 2021 through April 2023 and member of the board of directors
of GGH, and through his conduct alleged herein.

603. Defendant Murphy had the power and authority to direct the management and
activities of Genesis Global Capital and its employees and to cause Genesis Global Capital to
engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein due to his status as the COO of Defendant
DCG during the period January 2020 through November 2022, President of Defendant DCG since
October 2022, and member of the board of directors of GGH and through his conduct alleged

herein.
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604. Defendants Silbert, Moro, Islim, Kraines, and Murphy purposefully exercised their
power and influence to cause Genesis Global Capital to violate Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act
and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder as described herein, including by making material
misstatements and/or omissions regarding the financial health of Genesis Global Capital.

605. At the time of the wrongs alleged herein, Defendants Silbert, Moro, Islim, Kraines,
and Murphy had sufficient influence to cause Genesis Global to comply with the Exchange Act
and/or to refrain from acts that are prohibited by the Exchange Act, but purposefully decided not
to do so.

606. Defendants Silbert, Moro, Islim, Kraines, and Murphy culpably participated in
Genesis Global Capital’s violations of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5
promulgated thereunder as alleged herein.

607. Defendants’ culpable participation is illustrated by the acts and omissions alleged
above, including that:

608. DCG and Silbert: engaged in insider trading (§347), and suspicious related-party
transactions (99410-14); engaged in scheme to convince investors that Genesis Global Capital was
solvent and entered into DCG Promissory Note to cover up insolvency (Section XII); lied to Earn
Investors’ Agent, Gemini, to prevent Gemini from terminating the Gemini Earn Program (99441-
50).

609. Murphy and Kraines: engaged in scheme to convince investors that Genesis
Global Capital was solvent (Section XII); both had control over the formulation and dissemination
of misleading information concerning Genesis’ financial condition to investors (§]369-72, 415,

417-22).

157



Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 164 of 183

610. Moro: as CEO he was aware that Genesis Global Capital was insolvent and
engaged in scheme to convince investors that Genesis Global Capital was solvent and entered into
DCG Promissory Note to cover up insolvency (Section XII); responsible as CEO for material
omissions in connection with every transaction after the 3AC default rendered Genesis Global
Capital insolvent.

611. Islim: as CEO he was aware that Genesis Global Capital was disseminating false
financial information to investors (9440); responsible as CEO for material omissions in connection
with every transaction after the 3AC default rendered Genesis Global Capital insolvent.

612. Accordingly, Defendants are jointly and severally liable for the violations of
Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder by Genesis Global
Capital complained of herein and are liable to Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and the Class for
rescission and/or damages as to all transactions in which Lead Plaintiffs, Plaintiff Ameli and Class
members relied on statements or made by Genesis Global Capital or material omissions, or relied
upon Defendants’ deceptive acts and scheme in connection with the purchase or sale of securities
pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.

FOURTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

VIOLATION OF THE CALIFORNIA UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW Cal. Bus. & Prof.
Code §8 17200, et seq., (On behalf of Plaintiff Larry Wiener and the California Subclass
Against All Defendants)

613. Plaintiff Larry Wiener individually and on behalf of the California subclass, repeats
and realleges all preceding allegations as if fully set forth herein.

614. Plaintiff Wiener and California subclass members are residents of California.

615. Defendants are each “person” as defined by Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17201.

616. Defendants violated Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §§ 17200, et seq., (“UCL”) by

engaging in unlawful, unfair, and deceptive business acts and practices, including:
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a) Systematically misrepresenting the solvency of Genesis Global Capital and
the benefits of Genesis Yield;

b) Using fraudulent, deceptive, unfair, and misleading tactics to induce
consumers to enter into the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements;

C) Making misleading statements and misrepresentations to induce consumers
to continue to invest their digital assets with Genesis Global Capital,

d) Providing false promises and using deceptive tactics to prevent Plaintiff
Wiener and California subclass members from requesting redemptions of their investments;

e) Ignoring consumer requests for redemptions of their investments; and

f) Failing to return consumers’ digital assets and/or pay interest owed thereon
as promised.

617. Defendants’ representations and omissions were material because they were likely
to deceive reasonable consumers.

618. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unfair, unlawful, and fraudulent
acts and practices Plaintiff Wiener and California subclass members were injured and suffered
monetary as described herein related to the investment of their digital assets.

619. Defendants acted intentionally, knowingly, and maliciously to violate California’s
Unfair Competition Law, and recklessly disregarded Plaintiff Wiener and California subclass
members’ rights.

620. Plaintiff Wiener and the California subclass members seek all monetary relief
allowed by law, including restitution of all profits stemming from Defendants’ unfair, unlawful,
and fraudulent business practices, reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs under California Code of

Civil Procedure § 1021.5; and other any appropriate equitable relief this Court deems fit.
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FIFTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FLORIDA DECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR TRADE PRACTICES ACT Fla. Stat. 8§88 501.201,
et seq., (On behalf of Plaintiff Daniel Ameli and the Florida Subclass Against All

Defendants)

621. Plaintiff Ameli, individually and on behalf of the Florida Subclass, repeats and

realleges the allegations above as if fully set forth herein.
622. Ameli and Florida Subclass Members are “consumers” as defined by Fla. Stat. §
501.203.
623. Defendants advertised, offered, or sold goods or services in Florida and engaged in
trade or commerce directly or indirectly affecting the people of Florida.
624. Defendants engaged in unconscionable, unfair, and deceptive acts and practices in
the conduct of trade and commerce, in violation of Fla. Stat. § 501.204(1), including:
a) Systematically misrepresenting the solvency of Genesis Global Capital and
the benefits of Genesis Yield;
b) Using fraudulent, deceptive, unfair, and misleading tactics to induce
consumers to enter into the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements;
C) Making misleading statements and misrepresentations to induce consumers
to continue to invest their digital assets with Genesis Global Capital;
d) Providing false promises and using deceptive tactics to prevent Plaintifts
and Class Members from requesting redemptions of their investments;
e) Ignoring consumer requests for redemptions of their investments; and
f) Failing to return consumers’ digital assets and/or pay interest owed thereon
as promised.
625. Defendants’ representations and omissions were material because they were likely

to deceive reasonable consumers.
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626. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unconscionable, unfair, and
deceptive acts and practices, Plaintiff and Florida subclass members have suffered injury,
ascertainable losses of money or property, and monetary damages, as described herein.

627. Plaintiff Ameli and Florida subclass members seek all monetary relief allowed by
law, including actual damages under Fla. Stat. § 501.211; reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs,
under Fla. Stat. § 501.2105(1); and any other relief that is just and proper.

SIXTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

ILLINOIS UNIFORM DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. 8§
510/2, et seq., (On behalf of Plaintiffs Derek Wilson and Lee Jacobson, and the Illinois
Subclass Against All Defendants)

628. Plaintiff Wilson, individually and on behalf of the Illinois subclass, repeats and
realleges all preceding allegations as if fully set forth herein
629. Defendants are each a “person” as defined by 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. §§ 510/1(5).
630. Defendants engaged in deceptive acts and trade practices in the conduct of its
business, in violation of 815 Ill. Comp. Stat. §§ 510/2(a), including:
a) Systematically misrepresenting the solvency of Genesis Global Capital and
the benefits of the Genesis Yield product;
b) Using fraudulent, deceptive, unfair, and misleading tactics to induce
consumers to invest in the Genesis Yield product;
C) Making misleading statements and misrepresentations to induce consumers
to continue to invest in Genesis Yield product;
d) Providing false promises and using deceptive tactics to prevent Plaintifts
and Class Members from redeeming their investments in the Genesis Yield product;
e) Failing to return consumer funds after they had requested redemption of

their investments in the Genesis Yield product; and
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f) Failing to return consumers’ digital assets and/or pay interest owed thereon
as promised.

631. Defendants’ representations and omissions were material because they were likely
to deceive reasonable consumers.

632. The above unfair and deceptive practices and acts by Defendants were immoral,
unethical, oppressive, and unscrupulous. These acts caused substantial injury to Plaintiff Wilson
and Illinois subclass members that they could not reasonably avoid; this substantial injury
outweighed any benefits to consumers or to competition.

633. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unfair, unlawful, and deceptive
trade practices, Plaintiff Wilsom and Illinois subclass members have suffered ascertainable losses
of money or property, and monetary damages, as described herein.

634. Plaintiff Wilson and Illinois subclass members seek all monetary and relief allowed
by law.

SEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FOR DECEPTIVE AND UNFAIR PRACTICES IN VIOLATION OF THE NEW YORK
UNIFORM DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT, N.Y. GEN. BUS. LAW. § 349, et
seq., (On behalf of Plaintiff Macri and the New York Subclass Against All Defendants)

635. Plaintiff Macri repeats and realleges all allegations if fully set forth herein.

636. This claim is asserted against Defendants DCG, Silbert, Kraines, Murphy, Moro,
and Islim pursuant to New York’s Uniform Deceptive Trade Practice Act (“GBL § 349”") which
prohibits “deceptive acts or practices in the conduct of any business, trade or commerce or in the
furnishing of any service in this state.” GBL § 349(a).

637. Defendants conducted business, trade, or commerce in New York State.

638.  Plaintiff Macri is authorized to bring a private action under New York’s Uniform

Deceptive Trade Practices Act, Gen. Bus. Law § 349(h).
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639. Plaintiff Macri and the New York subclass members executed transactions with
Genesis Global Capital concerning the Genesis Yield product in connection with transactions in

29 ¢c

“business” “trade” or “commerce” within the meaning of GBL § 349.

640. This Count is brought for Defendants’ deceptive conduct, including their unlawful
and deceptive acts concerning the Genesis Yield product, as alleged herein.

641. Defendants DCG, Silbert, Kraines, Murphy, Moro, and Islim through their conduct
as described above, engaged in unfair methods of competition and unfair or deceptive acts or
practices in the conduct of their trade and commerce.

642. Defendants each engaged in unfair and deceptive acts or practices relating to the
Genesis Yield product, including but not limited to:

a) Systematically misrepresenting the solvency of Genesis Global Capital and the
benefits of the Genesis Yield product;

b) Using fraudulent, deceptive, unfair, and misleading tactics to induce consumers to
invest in the Genesis Yield product;

C) Making misleading statements and misrepresentations to induce consumers to
continue to invest in Genesis Yield product;

d) Providing false promises and using deceptive tactics to prevent Plaintiffs and Class
Members from redeeming their investments in the Genesis Yield product;

e) Failing to return consumer funds after they had requested redemption of their
investments in the Genesis Yield product; and

f) Failing to return consumers’ digital assets and/or pay interest owed thereon as

promised.

163



Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 170 of 183

643. Defendants systematically engaged in these deceptive, misleading, and unlawful
acts and practices to the detriment of Plaintiff Macri and the New York subclass members.

644. Defendants willfully engaged in such acts and practices and knew or acted in
reckless disregard for whether they violated GBL § 349.

645. Defendants’ representations and omissions were material because they were likely
to deceive reasonable consumers regarding the Genesis Yield product, including its true risks and
characteristics.

646. Plaintiff Macri and the New York subclass members relied on Defendants’
deceptive representations and omissions when they paid money or other consideration in exchange
for yield via the Genesis Yield product.

647. Plaintiff Macri and the New York subclass members had no way of knowing
Defendants’ misrepresentations were false, as Defendants had exclusive knowledge of their own
business practices.

648. Plaintiff Macri and the New York subclass members have been injured as a direct
and proximate result of Defendants’ violations as they would not invested in, or would have
invested significantly less in, the Genesis Yield product had they known these statements were
false and of Defendants’ omissions.

649. The above unfair and deceptive acts and practices by Defendants were immoral,
unethical, oppressive, and unscrupulous. These acts caused substantial injury to consumers that
the consumers could not reasonably avoid. This substantial injury outweighed any benefits to

consumers or to competition.
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650. Plaintiff Macri and the New York subclass members seek all monetary and non-
monetary relief allowed by law, including actual damages or statutory damages of $50 per class
member, whichever is greater, treble damages, injunctive relief, and attorneys’ fees and costs.

EIGHTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

FOR TEXAS DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES—CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT
Texas Bus. & Com. Code 88 17.41, ef seq., (On behalf of Plaintiffs Ashwin Gowda and
Translunar and the Texas Subclass Against All Defendants)

651. Plaintiffs Gowda and Translunar individually, and on behalf of the Texas subclass,
repeats and realleges all allegations if fully set forth herein.

652. Defendants are each a “person,” as defined by Tex. Bus. & Com. Code § 17.45(3).
648. Plaintiff Gowda and Translunar and Texas subclass members are “consumers,” as defined by
Tex. Bus. & Com. Code § 17.45(4).

653. Defendants advertised, offered, or sold goods or services in Texas and engaged in
trade or commerce directly or indirectly affecting the people of Texas, as defined by Tex. Bus. &
Com. Code § 17.45(6).

654. Defendants engaged in false, misleading, or deceptive acts and practices, in
violation of Tex. Bus. & Com. Code § 17.46(b), including:

a) Representing that goods or services have approval, characteristics, uses, or
benefits that they do not have;

b) Representing that goods or services are of a particular standard, quality or
grade, if they are of another;

C) Advertising goods or services with intent not to sell them as advertised;

d) Failing to disclose information concerning goods or services which was

known at the time of the transaction if such failure to disclose such information was intended to
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induce the consumer into a transact into which the consumer would not have entered had the
information been disclosed.

655. Defendants’ false, misleading and deceptive acts and practices include:

a) Systematically misrepresenting the solvency of Genesis Global Capital and the
benefits of Genesis Yield;

b) Using fraudulent, deceptive, unfair, and misleading tactics to induce consumers to
enter into the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements;

c) Making misleading statements and misrepresentations to induce consumers to
continue to invest their digital assets with Genesis Global Capital;

d) Providing false promises and using deceptive tactics to prevent Plaintiffs and Class

Members from requesting redemptions of their investments;

e) Ignoring consumer requests for redemptions of their investments; and
f) Failing to return consumers’ digital assets and/or pay interest owed thereon as
promised

656. Defendants intended to mislead Plaintiffs Gowda and Translunar and the Texas
Subclass Members and induce them to rely on its misrepresentations and omissions.

657. Defendants’ representations and omissions were material because they were likely
to deceive reasonable consumers about their investments.

658. Had Defendants disclosed to Plaintiffs Gowda and Translunar and Texas subclass
members that they would not earn the interest promised or be able to redeem their digital assets,
Defendants would have been unable to continue in business and it would have been forced to
comply with their obligations. Defendants were trusted with the Texas Subclass investments and

accepted the responsibility. Accordingly, Plaintiffs Gowda and Translunar and the Texas subclass
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members acted reasonably in relying on Defendants’ misrepresentations and omissions, the truth
of which they could not have discovered.

659. Defendants had a duty to disclose the above facts due to the circumstances of this
case and the generally accepted professional standards. Such a duty is implied by law due to the
nature of the relationship between consumers, including Plaintiffs Gowda and Translunar and the
Texas subclass members, and Defendants because consumers are unable to fully protect their
interests regarding their digital assets, and placed trust and confidence in Defendants.

660. Defendants engaged in unconscionable actions or courses of conduct, in violation
of Tex. Bus. & Com. Code Ann. § 17.50(a)(3). Defendants engaged in acts or practices which, to
consumers’ detriment, took advantage of consumers’ lack of knowledge, ability, experience, or
capacity to a grossly unfair degree.

661. Defendants acted intentionally, knowingly, and maliciously to violate Texas’s
Deceptive Trade Practices-Consumer Protection Act.

662. As adirect and proximate result of Defendants’ unconscionable and deceptive acts
or practices, Plaintiffs Gowda and Translunar and the Texas subclass members have suffered
ascertainable losses of money or property as described herein.

663. Plaintiffs Gowda and Translunar and the Texas subclass members seek all monetary
relief allowed by law, including economic damages; treble damages for each act committed
intentionally or knowingly; court costs; reasonably and necessary attorneys’ fees; and any other

relief which the court deems proper.
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NINTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

VIOLATIONS OF THE KANSAS CONSUMER PROTECTION ACT,
KAN. STAT. ANN. § 50-623, et seqg., (On behalf of McGreevy and the Kansas Subclass
Against All Defendants)

664. Plaintiff McGreevy reallege and incorporate by reference all paragraphs as though
fully set forth herein.

665. Defendants are “suppliers” under the Kansas Consumer Protection Act (“Kansas
CPA”), KAN. STAT. ANN. § 50-624(1).

666.  Plaintiff McGreevy and Kansas subclass members are “consumers,” within the
meaning of KAN. STAT. ANN. § 50-624(b)

667. The transactions described herein were “consumer transactions” within the
meaning of KAN. STAT. ANN. § 50-624(c).

668. The Kansas CPA states “[n]o supplier shall engage in any deceptive act or practice
in connection with a consumer transaction,” KAN. STAT. ANN. § 50-626(a), and that deceptive
acts or practices include: (1) knowingly making representations or with reason to know that “(A)
Property or services have sponsorship, approval, accessories, characteristics, ingredients, uses,
benefits or quantities that they do not have;” and “(D) property or services are of particular
standard, quality, grade, style or model, if they are of another which differs materially from the

29 9

representation;” ”(2) the willful use, in any oral or written representation, of exaggeration,
falsehood, innuendo or ambiguity as to a material fact;” and “(3) the willful failure to state a
material fact, or the willful concealment, suppression or omission of a material fact.” The Kansas
CPA also provides that “[n]o supplier shall engage in any unconscionable act or practice in
connection with a consumer transaction.” KAN. STAT. ANN. § 50-627(a).

669. Defendants participated in misleading, false, or deceptive acts that violated the

Kansas CPA by, amongst other things:
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a) Systematically misrepresenting the solvency of Genesis Global Capital and the
benefits of Genesis Yield;

b) Using fraudulent, deceptive, unfair, and misleading tactics to induce consumers to
enter into the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements;

C) Making misleading statements and misrepresentations to induce consumers to
continue to invest their digital assets with Genesis Global Capital;

d) Providing false promises and using deceptive tactics to prevent Plaintiffs and Class

Members from requesting redemptions of their investments;

e) Ignoring consumer requests for redemptions of their investments; and
f) Failing to return consumers’ digital assets and/or pay interest owed thereon as
promised

670. Defendants’ actions, as set forth above, occurred in the conduct of trade or
commerce.

671. By failing to disclose and the truth related to Plaintiff McGreevy and the Kansas
subclass members’ investments, Defendants engaged in unfair and deceptive business practices in
violation of the Kansas CPA.

672. Defendants’ unfair or deceptive acts or practices were likely to and did in fact
deceive reasonable consumers.

673. Defendants intentionally and knowingly misrepresented material facts regarding
Plaintiff McGreevy and Kansas subclass members’ investments with the intent to mislead

Plaintiffs.
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674. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of the Kansas CPA,
Plaintiff McGreevy and Kansas subclass members have suffered injury-in-fact and/or actual
damage as alleged above.

675. Pursuant to KAN. STAT. ANN. § 50-634, Plaintiff McGreevy and the Kansas
subclass members seek monetary relief against Defendants measured as the greater of (a) actual
damages in an amount to be determined at trial and (b) statutory damages in the amount of $10,000
for each Plaintiff.

TENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

VIOLATION OF THE NEVADA DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES ACT,
NEV.REV. STAT. § 598.0903, ef seq., (On Behalf of Plaintiff Buttenham and Nevada
Subclass Against All Defendants)

676.  Plaintiff Buttenham realleges and incorporates by reference all paragraphs as
though fully set forth herein.

677. The Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act (“Nevada DTPA”), NEV. REV. STAT. §
598.0903, et seq., prohibits deceptive trade practices. NEV. REV. STAT. § 598.0915 provides that
a person engages in a “deceptive trade practice” if, in the course of business or occupation, the
person: “Knowingly makes a false representation as to the characteristics, ingredients, uses,
benefits, alterations or quantities of goods or services for sale or lease or a false representation as
to the sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation or connection of a person therewith”; “Represents
that goods or services for sale or lease are of a particular standard, quality or grade, or that such
goods are of a particular style or model, if he or she knows or should know that they are of another
standard, quality, grade, style or model”; “Advertises goods or services with intent not to sell or
lease them as advertised”; or “Knowingly makes any other false representation in a transaction.”

678. Defendants engaged in deceptive trade practices that violated the Nevada DTPA,

including:

170



Case 3:23-cv-00082-SRU Document 171 Filed 08/12/24 Page 177 of 183

a. Systematically misrepresenting the solvency of Genesis Global Capital and
the benefits of Genesis Yield;

b. Using fraudulent, deceptive, unfair, and misleading tactics to induce
consumers to enter into the Genesis Yield Investment Agreements;

c. Making misleading statements and misrepresentations to induce consumers
to continue to invest their digital assets with Genesis Global Capital,

d. Providing false promises and using deceptive tactics to prevent Plaintiffs
and Class Members from requesting redemptions of their investments;

e. Ignoring consumer requests for redemptions of their investments; and

f. Failing to return consumers’ digital assets and/or pay interest owed thereon
as promised

679. Defendants’ actions, as set forth above, occurred in the conduct of trade or
commerce or the course of their business, and Defendants willfully failed to disclose and actively
concealed the truth.

680. Defendants’ unfair or deceptive acts or practices were likely to and did in fact
deceive reasonable consumers, including Plaintiff Buttenham and members of the Nevada
subclass.

681. Defendants knew or should have known that its conduct violated the Nevada
Deceptive Trade Practices Act.

682. Asadirect and proximate result of Defendants’ violations of the Nevada Deceptive
Trade Practices Act, Plaintiff Buttenham and members of the Nevada subclass have suffered

injury-in-fact and/or actual damage, as alleged above.
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683. Accordingly, Plaintiff Buttenham and the Nevada subclass members seek their
actual damages, punitive damages, costs of Court, attorney’s fees, and all other appropriate and
available remedies under the Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act. NEV. REV. STAT. § 41.600.

ELEVENTH CLAIM FOR RELIEF

COMMON LAW FRAUD
(Against All Defendants)

684. Plaintiffs incorporate by reference the allegations contained in the preceding
paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

685. As described above, Defendants made false representations to Plaintiffs and to
Gemini, the appointed agent of Gemini Earn investors, including Plaintiffs Buttenham, Gowda,
Macri, McGreevy, Wilson, and Wiener, regarding Genesis’s financial condition and the support it
had received from DCG, and Defendants concealed material facts regarding Genesis’s financial
condition and the support it had received from DCG under circumstances in which Defendants
were under a legal obligation to state the truth.

686. Defendants knew that their representations were false and that their material
omissions would convey false and misleading information to Plaintiffs and to Gemini, the
appointed agent of Gemini Earn investors, including Plaintiffs Buttenham, Gowda, Macri,
McGreevy, Wilson, and Wiener, Defendants intended that their representations and omissions
would induce Plaintiffs to keep their funds with Genesis, invest funds with Genesis, and to induce
Gemini, the agent of Gemini Earn Plaintiffs to keep the Gemini Earn Program in place and to
refrain from terminating the Gemini Earn Program.

687. Plaintiffs and Gemini, appointed agent of Gemini Earn investors, including
Plaintiffs Buttenham, Gowda, Macri, McGreevy, Wilson, and Wiener, Gemini reasonably relied

on Defendants’ misrepresentations and omissions because Defendants would be in the best
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position to understand and speak accurately about the support that Genesis had received from DCG
and the resulting effect on Genesis Global Capital’s financial condition.

688. As aresult of Plaintiffs’ and Gemini’s reliance on Defendants’ misrepresentations,
Plaintiffs have been harmed and suffered damages. In particular, because Plaintiffs were induced
to invest with Genesis, to keep their funds invested with Genesis, and because Gemini was induced
to keep the Gemini Earn Program in place and to refrain from terminating the Gemini Earn
Program, Plaintiffs and class members were unable to withdraw their digital assets from Genesis
Global Capital.

689.  As aresult of their conspiracy and scheme to defraud, Defendants are jointly liable
for one another’s tortious conduct directed towards Plaintiffs and Gemini Earn investors’
appointed agent Gemini.

690. Defendants’ fraudulent conduct was willful, egregious, and wanton such that
punitive damages are warranted and appropriate.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves and the proposed Class respectfully
requests relief as follows:

A. An order certifying this dispute and the Class and subclasses (if necessary)
requested herein as a class action, designating Plaintiffs as the representatives of the Class or
subclasses (if necessary), and appointing Plaintiffs’ counsel as counsel to the Class;

B. A judgment awarding Plaintiffs and the Class appropriate damages based on the
claims for relief outlined herein, or a rescissionary form of relief, including the return of all digital
assets invested with Genesis Global Capital with interest;

C. A judgment awarding Plaintiffs and the Class prejudgment and post-judgment

interest, as permitted by law;
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D. A judgment awarding Plaintiffs and the Class costs and fees, including attorneys’
fees and costs as permitted by law; and
E. Granting such other legal, equitable/injunctive or further relief as the Court may
deem just and proper.
Dated: August 12,2024 Respectfully submitted,
SILVER GOLUB & TEITELL LLP

/s/ lan W. Sloss

lan W. Sloss ct31244

Steven L. Bloch ct31246
Johnathan Seredynski ct30412
Krystyna Gancoss ct31660
One Landmark Square, Floor 15
Stamford, Connecticut 06901
Telephone: (203) 325-4491
Facsimile: (203) 325-3769
isloss@sgtlaw.com
sbloch@sgtlaw.com
jseredynski@sgtlaw.com
kgancoss@sgtlaw.com

KAPLAN FOX & KILSHEIMER LLP

/s/ Jeffrey P. Campisi

Donald R. Hall (CT Bar No. 416065)
Jeffrey P. Campisi (admitted pro hac vice)
Jason A. Uris (pro hac vice forthcoming)
800 Third Avenue, 38th Floor

New York, NY 10022

Telephone: (212) 687-1980

Facsimile: (212) 687-7714
dhall@kaplanfox.com
jeampisi@kaplanfox.com
juris@kaplanfox.com

Lead Counsel for Lead Plaintiffs and the Proposed
Class, and counsel for the Additional Named
Plaintiffs
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CERTIFICATE OF ELECTRONIC FILING

I hereby certify that on August 12, 2024 a copy of the foregoing was filed electronically
and served by mail on anyone unable to accept electronic filing. Notice of this filing will be sent
by e-mail to all parties by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system or by mail to anyone
unable to accept electronic filing as indicated on the Notice of Electronic Filing. Parties may access
this filing through the Court’s CM/ECF System.

/s/ Jeffrey P. Campisi
Jeffrey P. Campisi
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CERTIFICATION
I, Daniel Ameli, hereby certify as follows:

1. I have reviewed a complaint prepared by lead plaintiffs against Digital Currency
Group, Inc. and others in McGreevy, et al. v. Digital Currency Group, Inc., et al., 23-cv-82 (D.
Conn.) alleging violations of the federal securities laws and state laws, and authorize the filing of
a complaint on my behalf.

2. I did not purchase the securities that are the subject of this action at the direction of
plaintiff’s counsel or in order to participate in any private action arising under the federal securities
laws.

3. I am willing to serve as a representative party on behalf of a class, including

providing testimony at deposition and trial if necessary. I fully understand the duties and
responsibilities of the Lead Plaintiff under the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
specifically concerning my selection and retention of counsel and overseeing and directing the
prosecution of the action on behalf of the class.

4. My transactions in connection with in Genesis Global Capital’s Institutional Lending
and Borrowing Business during the period February 2, 2021 through November 16, 2022 are set
forth in the Schedule A attached hereto.

5. I have not sought to serve as a representative party on behalf of a class in any action
under the federal securities laws filed during the three-year period preceding the date of this
Certification.

6. I will not accept any payment for serving as a representative party on behalf of a
class beyond my pro-rata share of any recovery, except as ordered or approved by the court,
including any award to a representative plaintiff of reasonable costs and expense directly related
to the representation of the class.

Under 28 U.S.C. § 1746, I certify under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United
States of America that the foregoing is true and correct.

7/22/2024
Executed on

oLAFcTE 7oUUD45S

DANIEL AMELI
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SCHEDULE A
Transaction Type Digital Asset | Amount | Interest Rate Term
Date
October 5, 2020 Loan BTC 50 7% annual Fixed Term
Maturity date
October 5, 2021
October 11, Loan BTC 50.001 2% annual Open Term
2021
July 19, 2022 Loan BTC 50.001 4.25% annual Fixed Term
Maturity date
January 19, 2023




